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  Introduction


  This book came out of a desire to revisit events which have marked significant landmarks in Australian aviation, primarily since the Second World War. Some of these events, seen in isolation, might have been well recognised at the time, but the recollections of them have faded over the years. Others provide a sometimes surprising insight into Australia’s involvement in aviation, both domestic and international. Others still have remained largely unknown.


  In some instances gathering them together has produced unusual results. For instance, not many these days would be aware that Australia has experienced no fewer than five aircraft hijackings, the first of which occurred years before hijacking itself was to become established as the weapon of choice by terrorists in the Middle East and elsewhere. Two of these crimes resulted in the deaths of the hijackers.


  The use of the Second World War as a starting point is deliberate, and for several reasons. First, hundreds of thousands of words have been written, many of them in quite recent years, of the achievements of aviators like Sir Charles Kingsford Smith, Charles Ulm and Bert Hinkler, who have become household names. Through such men, Australia punched well above its weight in the international aviation-pioneering sphere, a fact easily demonstrated by one simple statistic.


  All of the major oceans of the world, with the exception of the Atlantic, were first crossed by Australians: Kingsford Smith and Ulm tamed the Pacific in 1928, then crossed the Tasman the same year. Three years later, in October 1931, Hinkler crossed the South Atlantic Ocean west to east from New York via Jamaica, Africa and Europe to London. P.G. Taylor crossed the Indian Ocean from Port Hedland to Africa in 1939 and followed that up postwar by crossing the South Pacific from Sydney to Chile in 1951. And the last remaining ocean, the Atlantic, did not go unchallenged by Australians. In May 1919, long before the exploits of his fellow pioneers, Harry Hawker set out on the first attempt to cross the Atlantic nonstop, only to crash-land at sea when his engine overheated.


  All of these larger-than-life characters left a legacy of achievements for other Australians to build upon, but the legends they created often left large shadows, shadows which occasionally tended to obscure the feats of those who followed as the aeroplane became a more familiar part of our lives.


  The use of the Second World War as a starting point is important for another reason. In the six years of war the advances in aircraft design and engine development were little short of remarkable. What had been largely a biplane era of wood, wire and fabric up to 1939 had morphed by 1945 into high-performance fighters, like the Mustang, and bombers, like the Lancaster and the B-29 Superfortress, while military transports, such as the Douglas DC-4, were destined to launch a postwar civil role as airliners. Meanwhile, in the background was the hissing sound of the jet engine, soon to sweep all before it in terms of speed and efficiency.


  Whichever way it’s looked at, change has been the one constant in aviation since 1945, not simply in the aircraft themselves but in the people who have been part of the industry and the way they have gone about their business—although much of the industry today is unrecognisable from that which existed even in the 1950s, 1960s and 1970s.


  The war also represented a changing of the guard in aviation leadership, with a war-torn United Kingdom struggling to regain its prewar eminence alongside a United States which had ended the war with unassailable advantages in aircraft production and manpower. It was therefore the United States which convened the Chicago conference of 1944 resulting in the creation of the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO), which would go on to establish the guidelines for the operation of post-war aviation.


  Fortunately, in keeping with the original contributions of our early pioneers, Australia had a seat at the table as a member of the governing council of the ICAO when it gathered in Chicago in 1947—in itself a credible achievement for a country with such a small population.


  But while Australia’s international contribution would be important, its own industry at the far end of the earth from engine and air-frame manufacturers (such as Boeing, Douglas and Lockheed), not to mention those producing smaller aircraft, had to ensure it had the expertise on its own continent to keep aircraft flying. That essential requirement bred a talent pool the equal, and in some cases superior, to anywhere else in the world. There was little alternative. Taking an aircraft all the way back to the United States even for an essential ‘factory fix’ was not an economic option. Added to a self-reliance would be an innovative streak which would lead to breakthroughs not only in engineering techniques but across other parts of the industry, from important roles in the development of aspects of air-traffic control, navigation and landing aids in worldwide use, to adaptions such as the combination escape–slide raft subsequently to be fitted as standard equipment on aircraft like the Boeing 747.


  Terrain also played a part, particularly when it came to the training of aircrew. Finding your way across a featureless outback without recourse to navigational aids of any sort called for astute observations and attention to detail. Connellan Airways pilots flying out of such places as Alice Springs, in part earned their wings by creating ‘mud maps’ of ground features, such as dry creek junctions and water bores, which they used to plot their course to isolated stations. Today any such course would be a brief input into a GPS.


  When it came to learning the hard way, most postwar pilots will tell you nothing approached the advantage of having Papua New Guinea on our doorstep. Picking their way through treacherous gaps between 3650-metre mountains, or landing on short airstrips with uphill gradients ending in a cliff face at the top, left little margin for error. As one pilot who would later become a senior check captain on Boeing 747s explains: ‘You learned to operate an aeroplane on the mainland. You learned to fly an aeroplane in Papua New Guinea.’ Much of what they learned translated into an enviable safety record in the years to follow.


  In training, too, technology has taken over because such hands-on training grounds have receded. Where once airlines like Qantas had several Boeing 707s operating full-time on training duties at Avalon, near Geelong, now most of the teaching is carried out on state-of-the-art flight simulators at the Qantas Jet Base, where aircrew proficiency can be assessed against every possible in-flight emergency and any major airport on the airline’s world routes can be called up in a matter of seconds.


  Woven through these changes has been the story of those who have built on the legacy of the early pioneers, the often unsung heroes who have contributed to what is Australian aviation today. The term ‘heroes’ is not one I use lightly, at least certainly not to be confused with the ill-conceived use of the same word today to describe some individual sporting achievements. Such usage hardly compares with the accomplishments of the crews who flew the secret Qantas Double Sunrise service between Perth and Ceylon to maintain the link between Australia and the United Kingdom during the war, airborne for upwards of 30 hours, most of it through enemy territory. Operating mostly at night and navigating by plotting their position via the stars, the pilots’ chances of survival had they been detected by the Japanese were virtually nil, as were their likelihood of rescue had their Catalina flying boats failed them. Not only are these deeds virtually unknown today but the pilots were denied any recognition by the Australian government at the time.


  The exploits of the Royal Australian Air Force’s 200 Flight are also not widely known, largely due to the secrecy of their mission. Flying from Leyburn, near Toowoomba in southern Queensland, their operations ranged as far afield as North Borneo to drop Z Special Unit commandos at dangerously low levels behind Japanese lines. Not only did these pilots lose half their aircraft and crews on such missions, but there are no references to them in the comprehensive RAAF history of the war, hidden as they were behind secrecy requirements until the 1980s.


  Also sparsely recorded are the efforts of their latter-day RAAF colleagues, who took part in the uplift of the population of Darwin after the devastation of Cyclone Tracy on Christmas Day 1974. Overshadowed by the scale of death and destruction wreaked by the cyclone, RAAF and civilian aircrews often flew themselves to a standstill evacuating medical cases and traumatised survivors to hospitals and safety to the south, creating aviation records as they did so.


  And there were those on the ground. Engineer George Roberts and his team, whose engineering expertise kept those Qantas Double Sunrise crews alive by keeping their Catalinas in the air, and people like Hartley Shannon, who was handed the formidable task of reopening a shattered Darwin to air services after the war. Shannon’s story is significant because intentionally or otherwise, when it has come to history being written about the introduction of a new service, most attention has been focused on the much-heralded arrival of the first aircraft to land there, with little account of the hardships and obstacles which had to be overcome to make that first flight happen.


  There is, of course, another, albeit less savoury, thread to the story of Australian aviation. That is the history of hijackings and aviation extortions in Australia, the tragic murder–suicide flight which left four Connellan employees and the suicide pilot dead at Alice Springs in 1977, and the intricately planned attempted heist of $800 000 in-flight from several carefully chosen Trans-Australia Airlines flights in the 1980s. They are worthy of the telling if only to highlight the exceptional courage demonstrated by some of those involved.


  Mixed in with all this come examples of that rare brand of humour, at times as a response to adversity, at other times fatalistic, but more often simply a uniquely Australian way of looking at things.


  Measurements in Australian books are usually metric. You’ll find here that we use metric for most measurements but imperial measures for altitude as that’s still the worldwide convention in aviation.


  Finally, perhaps, I should acknowledge that if much of what follows contains something of a bias towards Qantas stories and people then I make no excuse for that. It has not only played a prominent part in Australian aviation history but in my own working life as well.


  


  1


  Through two dawns to war


  The Qantas Double Sunrise Service—Perth to Colombo


  Soon after 2 a.m. on 4 February 1942 Qantas Captain Bill Crowther began to thread his big four-engine Empire Class flying boat through the melange of junks, workboats and other small craft scurrying across Singapore’s crowded harbour. There had been a two-day lull in the Japanese air raids, but the panic and fear that gripped the population of this crossroads of Asia was now plain to see and, for Crowther, there was now no doubt what the imminent result would be.


  The Japanese had smashed the series of fruitless rearguard actions that had taken place along the length of the Malay Peninsula, critical British military installations like Tengah airfield were already within range of Japanese artillery and the combination of British, Australian and Indian forces were only days away from the largest surrender in British military history.


  Due to the danger presented by the advancing Japanese there could be no flares to guide him, but fortunately for Crowther and the 40—mainly British men, women and children—refugees on board, the local Singapore director of civil aviation personally supervised the clearance of a path through the crisscross of traffic. Eventually the Empire flying boat climbed away into a darkened sky, leaving Singapore to its inevitable fate.


  As he set course for Batavia, Crowther listened in on Japanese radio reports about his own departure, further confirmation that had he been delayed much longer things might have turned out quite differently for the last civil aircraft to depart Singapore. What Crowther and his Qantas colleagues also realised was that the Japanese advance had now severed the vital air link operated by British Overseas Airways Corporation and Qantas between England and Australia. For the next eighteen months the only alternative would be the long, circuitous route across the Pacific to the United States and then across the Atlantic. With a war in Europe already two years old even that was not an attractive option.


  The entry of the Japanese into the war and the loss of Malaya, Singapore and the Netherlands East Indies also had further important implications for Qantas itself. Formed in 1920 by two First World War aviators, Hudson Fysh and P.J. McGinness, Queensland and Northern Territory Aerial Services Ltd (Qantas) had pioneered air routes in outback Queensland before linking with Britain’s Imperial Airways in 1934 to jointly operate the London to Australia route. At first the two airlines had met at Singapore with Qantas flying DH.86 biplanes through Darwin.


  When both airlines introduced Short Empire flying boats in 1937–38, Qantas’ route responsibility had been extended to Karachi. Now, however, with the loss of Singapore and the Netherlands East Indies, and the Japanese advance on Papua New Guinea threatening Australia, Qantas would find itself in a full wartime role, its aircraft and crews flying troop-support missions and evacuating the wounded. It would be a costly involvement for the airline. Indeed, by the end of hostilities, most of its Empire flying boats would be casualties of the war.


  However, for Fysh, Crowther and their colleagues, all this was in the future. The immediate problem was to convince the Australian government that their airline had the experience to re-establish the shortest, most practical link with the old country. Fysh was aware that his British aviation counterparts were also thinking this way, but Qantas was soon to find out not everyone agreed.


  The first plan put forward by Fysh, within weeks of Crowther’s last Singapore flight, was for a nonstop operation to Ceylon using B-24 Liberator bombers, but it soon became obvious that the availability of B-24s for bombing missions outweighed any other priorities. The alternative might be Consolidated Catalina flying boats, which although also designed for a wartime patrol role, might fit the requirement. But when Fysh approached the Department of Civil Aviation’s (DCA) director general, A.B. Corbett, he would have none of it. Nor did he mince words in his written response. Not only did he consider the possibility of obtaining Catalinas remote, he felt ‘such a proposal would be little short of murder of pilots and I would strongly oppose risking crews’ lives’.


  While Corbett’s sentiments might appear well-intentioned, the fact that Qantas crews were already risking their lives in war zones to the north of Australia didn’t appear to factor into his reasoning. Corbett’s attitude would represent a continuing pattern of lack of cooperation by his department in the coming Qantas struggle to establish the service—even after the Australian government’s approval. Fysh, however, believed he was a player in a higher stakes game—in effect the very future of his airline. War or no war, he considered it essential that Qantas retain its position as an international airline and that it should also benefit from the experience his crews had already gained on long-range, over-water operations that, ironically, involved Catalinas.


  Between January and October 1941 Qantas had formed a special Long Range Operations Division, under the leadership of Captain Russell Tapp. Like Crowther and Captain Lester Brain, Tapp was one of Qantas’ ‘originals’, a small, select group who had joined the airline in its formative years in the twenties and thirties. The Long Range Division had been formed for the specific purpose of ferrying eighteen Catalinas from the United States for delivery to the Royal Australian Air Force. Under normal circumstances the RAAF could have been expected to transport the aircraft themselves, but with the United States still not at war and President Roosevelt testing the boundaries of American isolationist policies with support for Britain and its allies with Lend Lease, it was deemed necessary for civil crews to collect the aircraft from US territory at Honolulu.


  The flights involved would cover 3091 kilometres from Honolulu to Canton Island, 3057 kilometres from Canton Island to Nouméa and 1989 kilometres from Nouméa to Sydney. For Tapp’s crews, who until now had never flown a sector longer than 1448 kilometres, it was an ideal opportunity to gain experience in long-distance flying, experience which would have far-reaching effects on the company’s future.


  Even though the distances the aircraft were to cover on the Honolulu to Sydney flights were already exceptionally long, the Qantas crews began to test the nonstop capabilities of the Catalinas by adopting their own fuel-saving techniques, with one delivery flight out of Canton Island under Tapp’s command overflying Nouméa and Fiji to log a flight time of 26 hours to Sydney. Such efforts were to become the operational pillars upon which the future Double Sunrise service between Perth and Colombo would be built.


  Finally, in March 1943, a little over a year after Crowther had slipped out of Singapore and with pressure coming from the British end, the two governments agreed to the re-establishment of ‘reliable air services’ between England and Australia. Two months later Qantas formed the Western Operations Division, with Crowther in charge.


  This division faced daunting challenges, not the least because the Australian government forbade the use of Cocos Island as a refuelling point due to it being within range of Japanese airfields. This would mean the flight from Perth to Ceylon would cover a distance of 5653 kilometres, with no refuelling facility and without the use of Cocos as a navigational aid. The various components of the group, along with the five twin-engine Catalinas allocated to the service, began to converge on Perth in June 1943. The aircraft would be separate from those delivered to the RAAF and would come from the Royal Air Force in the United Kingdom under its own arrangement with the US Lend Lease Program. Appropriately, since the flying they would be doing would involve operating by the stars at night, each aircraft was to be named after a star—Altair Star, Vega Star, Rigel Star, Antares Star and Spica Star.


  To suggest that Crowther’s crew had to start from scratch is something of an understatement. The responsibility for establishing the chosen base site, on the Swan River at Nedlands near Fremantle, fell to Engineering Officer Norm Roberts, whose crew would be tasked with keeping the Catalinas flying. Roberts, like Crowther, had also seen the sharp end of the war. Based in Darwin in 1942 he’d dodged bombs on Darwin harbour in the first Japanese attacks on 19 February that year. When Roberts arrived in Perth to set up the Catalina engineering facility at Nedlands in June 1943 it was not so much a question of what he had as of what he didn’t have. His total parts inventory amounted to 50 spark plugs that he’d managed to scrounge in Adelaide on his way to Perth. He didn’t even have a spanner with which to fit them. He had no servicing equipment, no launching ramp, no hangar as cover for servicing, no fuelling facilities and, as it transpired, no outside help from the DCA. It seemed Corbett’s initial attitude to the establishment of the service may have filtered down to his Perth staff.


  In what turned out to be of massive advantage to the Qantas service, Roberts gradually managed to develop a relationship with the US Navy’s Patrol Wing 10, a Catalina unit at nearby Crawley Bay that was engaged in flying shipping protection in the Indian Ocean. One of his earliest requirements was to borrow a plug spanner from the American crew chief—provided the Americans weren’t using it at the time. After months of borrowing, Roberts was able to present the crew chief with several ivory elephants he’d brought back from Ceylon, which so delighted the crew chief he presented Roberts with permanent use of the spanner.


  To overcome his initial lack of servicing facilities for a procedure like an engine change, Roberts also arranged with the Americans to have his aircraft towed to their hangar where the engine could be removed using their facilities and returned to his own primitive workshop for service, while the Catalina was towed back to the Qantas base. When the engine was ready to be reinstalled the cumbersome process would be repeated.


  There would be actually two Qantas ‘inaugural’ services on the route. The first was on 28 June, three days after the delivery of the first Catalina, taking the RAF crew which had delivered it back to Ceylon. This flight—with Tapp as pilot, First Officer Rex Senior, Radio Officer Glen Mumford and Second Officer Frank Furniss—went into the records as ‘Indian Ocean Air Mail’, the first officially recognised service in the airline’s books, making its return flight from Koggala Lake, Ceylon, to Perth on 10 July 1943, again with Tapp and Senior at the controls and now with Bill Crowther acting as navigation officer.


  Only diplomatic and military mail was carried, but this first flight would be remembered for other reasons. Some hours out of Koggala all members of the crew, with the exception of Tapp and Crowther, were gradually struck down with severe food poisoning. Even though later company legend would have it that Tapp and Crowther were forced to operate all the positions between them, Rex Senior would later dispute this:


  Despite our severe diarrhoea each of us continued to perform our duties to the best of our limited abilities. As well as some hours on duty as pilot my log book shows that I spent seven hours and fifteen minutes as navigator on the trip.


  With one small toilet at the back of the aircraft, it must have been a long journey for those suffering from the complaint. Senior recalled once appealing to Glen Mumford: ‘Get off that thing or I’ll sit on your lap.’


  With the passage of so many years it is sometimes difficult to grasp what a ground-breaking operation the Double Sunrise service was to be. The flight to Koggala covered a distance of 5653 kilometres. Due to the prevailing westerly winds the westbound service needed to be operated at a relatively low level—around 1500 to 2000 feet—as a higher altitude would have encountered stronger headwinds and any attempt to climb above these would have had drastic effects on the amount of fuel burned.


  Operating at such a low altitude, however, presented crews with considerable navigational challenges as it meant cloud cover often obscured the star shots critical for accurate navigation. Therefore every cloud break opportunity had to be utilised. By contrast, availability of the westerly airstream on the return journey to Perth meant the flights could be operated at much higher altitudes, often around ten thousand feet, thus improving star-shot opportunities.


  Since Cocos Island had been ruled out as a navigational or refuelling point the Catalinas were forced to take off from Nedlands with around seven tonnes of fuel, an overload of more than four tonnes, thanks largely to additional tanks which had been installed inside the fuselage of the aircraft. While these extra tanks certainly provided the additional range necessary for the Catalinas, the aircraft were so heavily loaded it was estimated they would need to fly for eleven hours before sufficient fuel was burned to enable them to operate on one engine, a situation that must have been constantly on the minds of the crew. The simple fact was when they were first delivered the aircraft had not been fitted with fuel-dump valves, considered an absolute necessity if the aircraft was to be able to return to its safe landing weight should an engine fail early in the flight. The prospect of successfully landing an aircraft with such a fuel overload still on board hardly bore thinking about. Never one prone to overstatement, even Russell Tapp would later describe such an eventuality as ‘hazardous in the extreme’.


  It is a tribute to the work of Norm Roberts and his engineers, and the reliability of the Catalinas, that no such situation occurred before dump valves became available late in 1943 and their progressive installation began. It was just as well. As luck would have it, six such emergency landings requiring the use of the valves would occur before the Catalinas were finally replaced by B-24 Liberators.


  The second problem for the Catalinas related to the placement of the inboard tanks, initially installed so far back in the fuselage that they presented a centre-of-gravity problem, causing the aircraft to ride in a tail-down fashion. Thus pilots were forced to maintain forward pressure on the controls to keep the aircraft level enough to reduce drag and achieve its most efficient fuel-burning profile.


  With the addition of heavy fuel loads, taking off could be a protracted and, for some, an extremely uncomfortable experience. For a flying boat to become airborne it must reach sufficient speed over the surface of the water to allow the hull of the aircraft to rise onto what is termed ‘the step’, or the point at which the hull has lifted enough to overcome the drag created by the water. With such a fuel overload the Catalinas required an excessively long take-off run, during which water would cascade over the front of the aircraft, obliterating the pilot’s vision and forcing him to maintain his heading by concentrating on his gyro compass.


  Early in the service it was worse for any passenger since centre-of-gravity requirements meant they had to sit or crouch in the normal bomb-aimer’s position, low down and forward of the aircraft cockpit. They were therefore issued with a canvas sheet to cover themselves, which at least saved them from a complete drenching. With VIPs being the only passengers on the flights, rank obviously carried limited privileges on take-off.


  Later, after the tanks had been moved further forward, passengers had a much more comfortable take-off experience further back in the aircraft. Three seats were provided for passengers, with the second officer responsible for all feeding arrangements. Catering was functional, with salads, chicken and cheese, biscuits, cake and chocolate; a two-element electric stove allowed tea or coffee to be brewed and soup to be heated. Passengers were also issued with a flying suit and fur-lined flying boots. Draughts and chess, along with magazines, helped while away the hours.


  As for the crews themselves, with flights of more than 28, and occasionally exceeding 30, hours over a vast ocean, mostly at night through enemy territory, precise navigation meant the difference between success and failure. Due to a lack of radio aids, navigation was carried out via dead reckoning and the stars, using two sextants and a watch chronometer. Accurate positional ‘fixes’ had to be achieved just after dark and before dawn, and flares would be used to calculate wind drift. Radio silence was maintained and the only time the radio was turned on was midway through the flight when a scheduled weather report would be broadcast from the destination point—either Perth or Ceylon.


  Despite the long hours in the air, for the crews there was little boredom as they constantly monitored engine performance and fuel burn, made navigational checks and relieved each other of their various roles to allow breaks to be taken.


  Whereas they might outwardly have appeared calm, they were well aware of the dangers the flights presented. Even the taciturn Bill Crowther would later record his feelings before his first flight:


  I must say, the first time I took off for a nonstop, which I knew had to take me 24 hours, I was fairly careful to make sure all my bills were paid and most of my friends had been given a farewell handshake!


  All crews would pay tribute to the Catalinas and their two Pratt & Whitney Wasp engines, which, despite the demands made on them, rarely let them down. There were, however, some close calls, including one courtesy of the Japanese. In February 1944 a Catalina commanded by Tapp was required to pick up a naval officer who had been deposited on Cocos Island by warship. After a fourteen-hour flight from Perth, Tapp and his crew arrived at the island shortly after eight in the morning, planning to depart for Ceylon at dusk and to operate in darkness.


  Even though Cocos had been earlier shelled by a Japanese warship, the enemy generally showed little interest in the islands and only conducted the occasional reconnaissance flight. Although Tapp was naturally nervous to have his aircraft so exposed for so long, the locals assured him that these Japanese patrols occurred at predictable times—roughly every ten days—and since the latest had been two days previously, they were confident the next ‘visit’ was some days away. Much to Tapp’s horror the Japanese hadn’t kept to schedule this time.


  Tapp had finished breakfast ashore and was walking back towards the jetty to check on the refuelling process when a Japanese Betty bomber came around the corner of the island at a height of around fifteen hundred feet. Along with the rest of the surprised locals around him, he dived for cover.


  Stripped off on the wing of the Catalina supervising the fuelling, Rex Senior was a little more exposed, surrounded by fifteen-litre drums of fuel stretching from wing tip to wing tip. Realising that the only other aircraft out here would have to be Japanese, Senior and his team dived for the tiny tender boat moored alongside to get as far away from the Catalina as they could. Next came the sound of bombs dropping and Senior, thinking they would be safer in the water, tipped the dinghy over, much to the chagrin of his second officer.


  But the bombs missed and to the surprise of all the Betty continued on its course and disappeared. There followed a tense period when everyone felt the Japanese pilot might be calling up some of his friends, but no further attacks occurred and Tapp took off on schedule late in the afternoon. Rex Senior later reasoned that perhaps the Japanese pilot was as surprised to see the Catalina there as they were to see him.


  As it turned out, the pairing of Tapp and Senior would have another interesting experience, fortunately for them after the fuel-dump valves had been fitted to their Catalina. Only minutes after take-off from Nedlands, one engine started to overheat and at the same time fuel began leaking into the cabin, giving Tapp no option but to dump and attempt to return the aircraft to a weight that was safe enough to land. Immediately turning off the electrics to reduce the risk of a spark blowing the aircraft apart, Tapp began to fly in wide, flat circles, a manoeuvre designed to take the exiting fuel as far away from the aircraft as possible. Straight and level flight would court disaster with the possibility of a spark from an engine igniting the dumping-fuel stream. During the tense 30 minutes the procedure took, Senior stood poised in the aircraft’s blister with a small extinguisher at the ready.


  It was a terrifying experience while I watched hundreds of gallons of aviation fuel pour from beneath the wings, expecting any moment to be engulfed in a fireball as the engine exhaust ignited the fuel.


  Meanwhile, back at Nedlands, Norm Roberts continued his struggle with bureaucracy. Still without a slipway and being forced to use American facilities for engine changes, Roberts was finally relieved one day when several trucks arrived and deposited loads of blue metal on his crude ramp. At last, he thought. Unfortunately it would be another four or five weeks of pleading phone calls before DCA and the Department of Works finally came to the party and completed the sealing of a respectable slipway.


  Such obstacles, however, could not diminish the continuing success of the service which had now increased from once weekly to three per fortnight. As time progressed and the war moved further north, Cocos Island became available for use as a navigational point on the route, a welcome supplement to the astro-navigation requirement. Thankfully, too, it had begun to play an important role in providing additional weather-forecasting information for the crews.


  Although they would receive little acknowledgement from the authorities, the small band of meteorological experts would be among the unsung heroes of the Indian Ocean service. Since the launch of the service experienced forecasters had been positioned at both ends of the route to provide terminal forecasts during that one short radio transmission to the aircraft during flight. Because there had been no aviation activity in that part of the world before the war, Indian Ocean en route weather was little more than a ‘dead zone’ for the Qantas crews. However, as soon as the Japanese retreat allowed for Cocos to be factored in, plans were put in hand for two meteorological forecasters to be based on the island to fill the mid-flight gap. Due to the lack of navigation aids to assist, the forecasters’ delivery to the island would turn out to be a traumatic experience for both men.


  Since none of the Qantas Catalinas was radar-equipped it was decided that a US Navy Catalina from Perth had the best chance of ‘finding’ the tiny dot that Cocos represented in the middle of the Indian Ocean. Unfortunately the venture turned out to be something of a shambles when the US Catalina crew not only failed to locate Cocos after a long search, and thus had to abort their mission, but committed the cardinal sin of breaking radio silence, which succeeded in bringing down Japanese aircraft on Cocos. Worse was to come.


  Lacking the long-range tanks of the Qantas aircraft, the US Navy Catalina began to run out of fuel as it headed for Learmonth, the nearest landfall on the north-west coast of Western Australia. In a desperate attempt to make it, all guns, ammunition and anything moveable—including, as it turned out, the luggage of the two meteorological officers—was jettisoned into the sea. Even then they barely made it, running out of fuel within sight of land and crash-landing on the sea where they were picked up by a small coastal steamer and delivered to Learmonth.


  It now fell to Qantas to do the job and Lew Ambrose volunteered, provided he could do it his way. Ambrose knew he would have to locate his target by dead reckoning. He also knew he dare not risk breaking radio silence a second time as this could place the whole Qantas operation in jeopardy.


  Ambrose faced two other challenges. If he used the outbound service from Perth for delivery of the two officers, his time of arrival would risk the possibility of coinciding with a daylight visit by Japanese aircraft over the islands. He decided, therefore, to fly his precious cargo with him all the way to Koggala and deliver them on the returning eastbound leg. He would plan to leave Koggala towards sunset, putting him in a position to take an accurate star fix just before dawn and execute what was known as ‘flying down the sunline’ to his tiny objective. Ambrose remembers:


  Although on the occasion I was worried about using the extra fuel to climb up too quickly to an operating level to make sure we were out of the clouds for star usage, the night was quite a good one and just before dawn I was able to get a very good fix on a prominent star and thus establish my position on the Indian Ocean.


  From that point I handed over the navigation to my first officer and I took over control so that I could take quick sights of the rising sun and thus hand them back to him so that he could calculate them and work out whether we were using the correct line of approach to the Cocos-Keeling Group.


  At first, however, his sightings indicated he might be as much as 32 to 48 kilometres too far to the west of his planned track. Although Ambrose had allowed for time to carry out a square search if he missed the islands on the first attempt, it was not a prospect he relished, as the ultimate failure to locate them would mean he had insufficient fuel to turn back to Ceylon or make it to the Australian coast. His only option, therefore, would be to turn west again and head for the island of Diego Garcia, where he knew the Royal Air Force used a lagoon for their reconnaissance flights.


  Since even under the best flying conditions he could not be expected to reach Diego Garcia until an hour after dark, the prospect of landing on a lagoon he had never seen wasn’t something he was looking forward to. At this point it would not be difficult to gauge the apprehension being felt by the two meteorological officers aboard, once again out in the middle of this vast expanse of water looking for a dot on its surface.


  To everyone’s relief, almost dead on time, Cocos was sighted out of the port window. Ambrose remembers:


  It was merely a matter of doing a hand-flown circuit and alighting on the lagoon and tieing up to go ashore with the two Met officers who, over the last hour or so had been watching the first officer and myself very carefully in case we made any mistakes and put them into all the problems they had been faced with on their earlier attempt to find the place.


  Since the nature of the operation remained a closely guarded secret, few in Perth assumed the Catalinas taking off from Nedlands were involved in anything other than shipping patrols or flights to northern Australia or Papua New Guinea. Although crews were officially on the RAAF Reserve, for security purposes they wore civilian clothes while off duty, a requirement Rex Senior found carried several unpleasant consequences. Once while walking from his guest house near Kings Park into the Qantas Perth office, he stopped to buy a packet of cigarettes at the kiosk, only to be told by the woman behind the counter: ‘Go and join up. There are no cigarettes for bludgers.’ On another occasion he received a white feather neatly enclosed in an envelope.


  By mid-1944 converted four-engine B-24 Liberator bombers were introduced on the route using Ratmalana aerodrome in Ceylon and changing the route pattern to a triangular operation via Learmonth as the Australian departure and arrival point. In one stroke the B-24s reduced the length of the trans-ocean crossing from 5653 kilometres to 4952, while at the same time slashing the flight time to between sixteen and eighteen hours and allowing for much greater passenger and freight payloads.


  Within twelve months Qantas was operating four services per fortnight as the Liberators gradually took over the role of the Catalinas. Significantly, too, the Liberators would also bring with them the introduction of what became the airline’s first in-flight use of its famous Kangaroo Route insignia, with each Liberator carrying the iconic kangaroo symbol on its nose.


  By July 1945, when the Catalinas made their last flights, the aircraft had crossed the Indian Ocean 271 times, covered 2 092 147 kilometres and carried more than 58 059 kilos of cargo and mail. Each of the 683 passengers had joined a unique club to experience the sunrise twice during their 24-hour flight, an achievement which Qantas marked by the presentation of the Secret Order of the Double Sunrise, noting the date of his or her journey and signed by the aircraft’s commander. With Singapore once again opening for civil aviation, Lancastrians—converted Lancaster bombers—took over the England-to-Australia services.


  Though the Catalinas of the Double Sunrise service would be casualty-free, Qantas’ other flying boat arm, the Empire Class, would pay a high price in men and equipment during the war years. Three crew and ten passengers would be lost when one was shot down by the Japanese near Kupang in January 1942, and two were lost the following month: one in a landing accident at Townsville while under charter to the RAAF; and another which disappeared with twenty passengers and crew during a flight between Tjilatjap and Broome. Early in March two more were destroyed when Japanese fighters caught them on the water during an attack on Broome. Five others were lost in landing accidents: one during an emergency landing in poor weather at night off Port Moresby; another at Darwin; and three at Qantas’ main base at Rose Bay in Sydney.


  Sadly, however, while other Catalinas would continue in Qantas service after the war, those which had performed so magnificently on the Indian Ocean service would suffer a fate which would sit oddly with their achievements. Because of their procurement under the Lend Lease agreement between the United Kingdom and the United States, the aircraft could not be sold or used for civil purposes and the four remaining at Nedlands were handed over to the Royal Air Force Command in Perth. In November 1945 they were taken off the coast of Perth and sunk. The fifth met the same fate off Sydney four months later.


  Neither, too, would the men who flew and serviced them receive any official recognition by the Australian government for their service, despite efforts by Hudson Fysh to achieve it. Given that they had flown through enemy territory, often similar to missions by RAAF Catalina squadrons, carried military personnel and cargo and would have suffered the same fate of any other aircraft crew had they been captured by the Japanese, the government’s failure to acknowledge their contribution is hard to understand.


  Of those who flew the Catalinas and continued to fly after the war, most would go on to stellar careers in Qantas. Men like Tapp, Crowther, Ambrose, Norm Roberts and others would guide Qantas’ operational accomplishments in the post-war years. One of the Double Sunrise pilots, Captain R.J. ‘Bert’ Ritchie, would eventually become the airline’s general manager. In one of his final acts as general manager before his retirement in 1976, Ritchie called the Double Sunrise veterans together for what Norm Roberts sardonically described as the ‘Last Supper’. Among those who attended was Rex Senior, who had abandoned a flying career at the end of the war to study medicine and eventually open a practice in Robe, South Australia.


  Even when viewed against the tremendous development in post-war aviation and the coming of the jet age, the Double Sunrise service stands as an incredible accomplishment. Very strict guidelines have always surrounded the operation of twin-engine aircraft over water, with the essential requirement for the aircraft to be within range of the nearest adequate airfield should one engine fail in flight.


  Even with the introduction of Qantas’ Bird of Paradise service with DC-3 aircraft between Sydney and Port Moresby in the fifties, the sector from Townsville to Port Moresby could not be flown direct but was ‘bent’, so that the aircraft was always within 60 minutes at single-engine cruise speed, first of Cairns, then Cooktown, then Lockhart River Mission and finally Thursday Island, all of which had to be ‘open for business’.


  With the advent of jet airliners, four-engine aircraft (such as the Boeing 707, DC-8 and later the Boeing 747) took over the long over-water sectors until, eventually, in the 1980s, as the fan-jet engine proved its extreme reliability, twin-engine aircraft like the Boeing 767 were permitted to operate within 90 minutes of the nearest suitable airfield.


  In something of an ironic echo of the Double Sunrise, when Qantas first looked at the possibility of operating a Boeing 767 service between Perth and Colombo, calculations showed the 767 would not have been permitted to operate the service direct across the Indian Ocean. One could assume the men of the Double Sunrise service would have agreed with that approach. But as the war moved into 1945 and Qantas’ B-24 Liberators began to replace the faithful Catalinas on the Indian Ocean route, over 3000 kilometres away to the northeast from Perth, another small group of Australian airmen was gathering for a mission which would, at least in long-range aviation terms, have striking similarities to the Double Sunrise service.


  


  2


  RAAF 200 Flight


  Secret missions behind enemy lines


  Australian airmen and ground staff began arriving at an airfield on the outskirts of the small town of Leyburn, near Toowoomba, in southern Queensland in February 1945. Like their Indian Ocean counterparts, they, too, were being equipped with B-24 Liberator bombers, and like the Indian Ocean service, their task would be shrouded in secrecy and would also represent one of the longest military operations of the war, probing well into enemy territory.


  Ironically, one of those who would play a leading part in the success of RAAF 200 Flight’s clandestine operations would, like Captain Bert Ritchie, go on to lead a major Australian airline, joining an exceptional breed of airmen who would rise to the top of Australia’s post-war aviation industry.


  RAAF 200 Flight had its origins in the cloak-and-dagger war carried out by the Australian Intelligence Bureau’s Z Special Unit, elite commandos inserted as small intelligence-gathering parties behind enemy lines. By the time 200 Flight became associated with it, Z Special Unit had been operating for several years, its most notable success being the spectacular Operation Jaywick during September 1943 in which a small group of commandos sailed thousands of kilometres through enemy-held islands to attack Japanese shipping in Singapore harbour.


  While Jaywick was to become the best known of Z Special Unit’s exploits, scores of other parties were parachuted or landed by submarine to spend months behind enemy lines reporting on enemy troop, shipping and air movements, along with maintaining contact with locals under Japanese occupation.


  Originally modelled on Britain’s Special Operations Executive (SOE), formed at the insistence of Winston Churchill to play havoc with the German occupation forces in Europe, the Australian Intelligence Bureau’s (AIB) version of its northern-hemisphere counterpart had at times faced its own struggle to survive. Conflicts between General Douglas MacArthur’s headquarters and the Australian High Command, in addition to a degree of animosity from within the Australian military itself, often didn’t help. Some of those at senior levels in the armed forces, schooled in the more traditional army roles, made no secret of the fact that they regarded ‘special forces’ type operations such as Z Special Unit as little more than attention-gathering military pinpricks.


  But those with a slightly broader view of the wartime requirements could see the value in accurate information gained from behind the lines, not only to assist MacArthur’s drive towards Japan but also to determine the degree of resistance which remained after his island-hopping campaign had moved on. Unfortunately, the very shift in the war further to the north often left organisations like Z Special Unit struggling to gain adequate air support for their planned operations, their priority slipping away behind the demand for aircraft and personnel at the battlefront.


  By late 1944 it had become apparent that the American 5th Air Force Liberators based in Darwin could not adequately match the demand to accommodate AIB-approved projects for places like Borneo and Timor. One-off deployment of single B-24s for such operations didn’t sit well with the major bombing role of the US squadrons, along with the fact that the inexperienced American crews were often unable to locate the drop zones and were not skilled at handling such big aircraft at low speed and low altitudes.


  Such haphazard allocation of aircraft along with the loss of crews with limited experience in the special low-flying parachute-insertion techniques required by Z Special Unit, finally succeeded in AIB winning its argument for a dedicated flight of aircraft and crews specially trained to undertake parachute insertion and supply.


  The orders which went out from RAAF Command’s Air Vice Marshal, W.D. Bostock, called for ‘specially selected aircrews and carefully screened personnel for security reasons’. It was so secret that most of those to be posted to 200 Flight had no idea what they were getting into. Phil Dynes, a cryptographer in signals intelligence who would later gather what is believed to be the only detailed historical record of the existence of 200 Flight, found himself one morning directed to report to a building in Melbourne’s South Yarra. When he finally made it into the office of the officer he was required to meet he was asked: ‘How would you like a job in the Queensland climate?’ Dynes later figured he must have nodded his head as he was then issued with a rail warrant to Clifton in Queensland and told to report to the commanding officer of 200 Flight.


  One of the pilots who arrived at Leyburn with other aircrew after a conversion course on Liberators at Tocumwal in New South Wales recalls being greeted with: ‘You are all volunteers for special service.’ Which led to the response by one of the group: ‘Are we?’


  Many of the aircrew assigned to 200 Flight had been specially chosen for their experience. The CO squadron leader, Graham Pockley, had distinguished himself flying Sunderland flying boats with the RAAF’s No 10 Squadron with the Royal Air Force Coastal Command in England. No 10 Squadron had in fact been in England when war broke out and became the first RAAF squadron to see service in the Second World War. By the time he had returned to Australia Pockley had earned a DFC and Bar for inflicting heavy damage on enemy naval and merchant shipping, including destroying two German U-boats and damaging three others.


  Experience-wise, though, Pockley was in good company. The 200’s captains were all experienced pilots who had seen service in various theatres of the war. Arch Clark had been awarded the Distinguished Flying Medal (DFM) while flying twin-engine Wellington bombers in the Tunisian campaign. Two of his crew members had also won DFMs—Col Manning during a night raid over Kassel in Germany in a Lancaster, while Herbie Clark, his tail gunner, had shot down one enemy aircraft and possibly another returning from the Dam Buster raid. Another skipper, Bob Carson, had a similar decoration for missions over Germany in Wellingtons.


  Les Anderson had flown B-24s in the Burma campaign. John Hopkins, his nose gunner, radar operator, Doug Bullock, tail gunner, Tich Burness, and mid-upper gunner, Jackson Neilson, served with Royal Air Force Bomber Command. Indeed, Neilson had the rare distinction of not only being forced to bail out to save his life but endure a remarkably brief stint as a prisoner of war when his B-25 Mitchell was shot down near Calais in September 1944. Captured by the Germans on landing and held in the attic of a chalet with other prisoners, Neilson had only been there fourteen hours when allied soldiers, unaware there were prisoners inside, assaulted the chalet with grenades and rifles. Many of the prisoners were killed, but Neilson managed to survive and later returned to Britain and Australia.


  Flying Officer Col Walker and three of his crew had served together with 459 Squadron RAAF in Britain and the Middle East. Flight Lieutenants Frank Ball and Tom Bridges both flew C-47s with transport squadrons in New Guinea before being posted to Leyburn. Despite their accumulated experience, however, as crews on B-24s they were to have a steep learning curve.


  The B-24 Liberator proved to be the workhorse of the USAAF bomber strategy in the Second World War, serving on every war front. Although its role, at least in the public’s mind, would be somewhat overshadowed in subsequent years by its sister frontline bomber, the B-17 Flying Fortress—in a similar way to the fate of the Hurricane alongside the more iconic Spitfire in the Battle of Britain—more than 18 000 Liberators were built, as against 12 000 B-17s. Heavier than its counterpart, the B-24 also outperformed the B-17 in both range and payload, but many crews reported it was a more difficult aircraft to fly, a factor which would doubtless have added to the challenges faced by 200 Flight crews in the low-level operations they were asked to perform.


  Presumably designated as a ‘flight’ because it fell well below the number of aircraft and personnel required to qualify as a squadron, during its relatively short career 200 Flight would consist of a maximum of six Liberators. Each Liberator would carry a crew of eleven comprising a captain, a copilot, a navigator, a bomb aimer, a flight engineer, a wireless operator, two radar/ waist gunners and a nose, mid-upper and tail gunner.


  Beyond a standard crew compliment, however, 200 Flight’s Liberators were anything but normal. All armour plate and anything else on the aircraft deemed unnecessary had been stripped out and each had been fitted with a specially developed slide/escape hatch below and at the rear of the aircraft fuselage through which personnel and supplies could be delivered. The introduction of the ‘slippery dip’, as it was to be known, had been the result of a series of trials carried out at Fenton in the Northern Territory in 1943 and 1944, utilising a B-24 named ‘Beautiful Betsy’ from the USAAF 380th Bomb Group. The idea was to match the B-24s exceedingly long-range and payload capability with the ability to drop small parties of paratroopers well behind enemy lines, a mission in stark contrast to dropping bombs from 20 000 feet. Thus it would provide AIB and Z Special Unit with the best of both worlds: long-range penetration of enemy territory by a well-armed four-engine aircraft capable of spending time seeking out the required drop zone before delivering its cargo with pinpoint accuracy.


  But it would also mean overcoming several other physical challenges. The insertion points required operating over jungle clearings sometimes only a few hundred yards long, often surrounded by mountains of unknown height, shrouded in cloud. Like much of that part of the world before the war, maps and altitude information of Central Borneo were nonexistent apart from the coastal areas where exploration had been undertaken by some oil companies. Crews like Ball’s were to report that even the rivers they needed to use as navigation points didn’t match the names they had on their charts and their estuaries took totally different forms.


  And since the drops were to be carried out at low level, the margin between success and fiery failure was extremely narrow. The altitudes and speeds required to deliver up to six or seven paratroopers and their supplies in a jungle clearing tell the story in their own way. The stalling speed of a Liberator is around 217 kilometres per hour, or a ground speed of 60 metres per second. On the basis that it would take around ten seconds to exit four parachutists over a distance of around 600 metres, Z Special Unit aimed to reduce that to an exit time of a maximum of eight seconds over the drop zone. Any longer risked an aircraft stalling at its level of 500 to 1000 feet above the treetops. Thus the development of the rapid-fire-exits technique through the ‘slippery dip’.


  In order to achieve the delicate balance between preventing the aircraft from stalling and maintaining a suitable drop speed, the technique adopted was for first a ‘dummy’ run to judge wind speed and direction from flares or smoke provided by fires by those on the ground. This would be followed by the delivery run, which would start at around seven or eight hundred feet with the inboard engines shut down and the outboard engines at full power, with full flaps, the run finishing often as low as 100 feet. It certainly wasn’t for the faint-hearted.


  The normal radar set in each aircraft had been replaced by what was known as Rebecca/Eureka, a short-range radio-navigation system which consisted of a Rebecca airborne transceiver and antenna designed to calculate the range to its Eureka counterpart, a ground-based transponder used by the commandos in the jungle or mountains below. The timing of the return signals from the Eureka transponder would assist the crew in determining the most suitable dropping point.


  As the crews gathered and honed their techniques early in 1945, their base-station arrangements at Leyburn were anything but satisfactory.


  Early CO reports describe ‘extremely difficult conditions owing to lack of accommodation and essential equipment’ and the absence of sealed, hard standing areas, making it unsafe even to jack up the aircraft for inspection. Living conditions were primitive with most of the personnel staying in tents while they waited for two other squadrons already based at Leyburn to move out. Added to that, Leyburn was over 64 kilometres from the nearest major centre and the unit lacked even reasonable vehicle transport to pick up supplies. As the weeks passed and demands for low-flying and parachute training increased, along with the long-range missions, maintenance crews would eventually work double shifts to keep the Liberators flying.


  There were positives, however, with the development of a close relationship with the men of AIB’s 3 Para Wing, which had been permanently based at Leyburn to provide training and parachute packing for the Z Special Unit personnel. As for the latter, 3 Para Wing, under the command of a former member of the British SOE, Major H. Everard Ellis, had arrived at Leyburn after training at their secret Fraser Island base on what could be termed a ‘one-way ticket’. Billeted at an isolated farmhouse 8 kilometres from the airfield, they travelled to 3 Para Wing each day to familiarise themselves with various parachute techniques as well as practising on a crude wooden structure designed to simulate exiting through the B-24’s ‘slippery dip’.


  Despite difficulties associated with aircraft maintenance, living conditions and supplies, 200 Flight crews were ready for their first mission, codenamed SEMUT 1, to take place on 15 March 1945.


  SEMUT 1 called for the insertion of two groups of four Z Special Unit commandos into a dropping zone in Central Borneo. Beyond the latitude–longitude coordinates for the site, 200 Flight knew only that it comprised a cleared area of paddy fields roughly 2000 feet above sea level. Pockley would lead the mission, with Frank Ball commanding the second aircraft and Cox’s B-24 providing backup support. The flight plan called for the aircraft to fly via Darwin to Morotai in the Halmaheras, where Z Special Unit had its advanced headquarters, then to the American air base at Mindoro, off Luzon in the Philippines. From Mindoro they would fly back south-west towards Bareo in Borneo, using Palawan Island as their right-hand landmark. At an overall distance of more than 4828 kilometres, it was believed to be the longest operational flight ever undertaken.


  Pockley’s aircraft would carry British Army Major Tom Harrisson, the leader of the ground party, whose role would be to encourage the local native population to deny food and any other assistance to the enemy, and to gather information on Japanese troop movements which might aid the assault by Australian 7th Division planned for June 1945, along with harassing patrols. Ellis, 3 Para’s leader, would also be on board to help with the drop.


  As it turned out, 200 Flight’s first mission was to have unforseen and tragic consequences which would result in the loss of their commanding officer and his crew. Harold Graham Pockley would become something of an enigma in the annals of 200 (Special Duties) Flight, not least because of his tragic early departure from the scene, coupled with the high degree of secrecy involved in the unit’s work. In fact, despite the relatively high public profile he had gained in the war in Europe, some of those who came after him to work with the unit would not even be aware that he had been with the group. While doubtless he had courage and tenacity, several of those who had flown with him in the lead-up to the unit’s operation had reservations about the suitability of his appointment, believing he had shown signs of what one of them referred to as ‘post-operational crisis’.


  During their training at Tocumwal, Pockley had chosen Flight Lieutenant John Thompson as his navigator. While Thompson had tremendous admiration for Pockley’s valour, he noted that his commanding officer tended to drink heavily at night, a habit Thompson regarded as a direct result of operational stress. Thompson would later recall:


  I admired Pockley a great deal because he had a very good strength of command, but he should never have been sent on missions after his overseas trip to Europe. He should have been given a desk job.


  Thompson believed that resultant hangovers from the night before contributed to his frequent outbursts of anger over a sometimes minor mistake, often delivered over an open intercom in the aircraft for everyone to hear, to the obvious embarrassment not only of the unfortunate target of the tirade but the rest of the crew as well. Thompson would later comment:


  Many’s the time I had to intervene on the intercom when he got churned up and abused the crew when they didn’t do this right or that right and I took him to task on this on several occasions.


  As it turned out, Frank Ball was to be an early recipient of one of Pockley’s verbal tirades. Take-off from Leyburn on their first operational mission would be at night, with Pockley’s aircraft to be the first away. All three aircraft were heavily laden and, due to the fact that only the main runway was lit by oil flares, Leyburn’s gravel taxiways could not be used so the Liberators had to use the runway to taxi to the northern end, execute a 180-degree turn and take off into a slight southeasterly breeze.


  Pockley’s aircraft was already airborne when, as Ball turned to line up his aircraft on the runway, the port wheel of his B-24 ran off the hardstand into soft earth on the runway’s edge and stuck fast. At first Ball tried to move the Liberator under its own power, but when that failed the nearby ground crew leapt aboard a one-tonne truck and hooked it onto the aircraft. The weight of the ground crew on the truck, combined with the truck power and the B-24 at full throttle soon had the aircraft back on the hard runway surface, quite an achievement in the dark of night with the lights of only two nearby jeeps.


  None of that effort, however, was to resonate with Pockley who, as the three aircraft formed up and set course for Darwin, delivered a scathing verbal assault on Ball and his crew for all to hear. With classic understatement, one of the recipients would later describe the incident as, ‘hardly conforming to text book R/T procedures’. What the eight Z Special Unit operatives on board, on their way into the depths of enemy territory in the care of these airmen, must have thought of it is not recorded.


  Arriving at Mindoro on 18 March, Pockley set out on the first reconnaissance flight to Borneo the following morning. On board were two of the Z personnel, party leader Harrisson and Lieutenant Rick Emeades, leader of the four to be dropped from Ball’s aircraft, and Ball himself. They spent two hours over North-Central Borneo but could not locate the drop zone. Poor weather conditions over Central Borneo led to another abortive attempt several days later.


  Finally, early on the morning of 25 March Pockley’s and Ball’s aircraft left McGuire Field, Mindoro Island, flew down the east coast of Palawan Island to North Borneo then along Borneo’s west coast before turning inland to the target area. It was about 8 a.m. when they arrived over the drop zone. Cloud was already closing in, leaving little time for the drop. Pockley did a quick low-level sweep across the zone then was seen to successfully drop his four troops. Frank Ball then lined up his aircraft, trying to drop as near as possible on the same clearing. Pockley came in again to drop the commando’s stores then fired a Very cartridge over the site and instructed Ball to ‘drop over my signal’. Ball was forced to make two attempts when the bomb bay doors of his B-24 failed to open on the first run.


  One of those who parachuted from Pockley’s aircraft, Sergeant Fred Sanderson, later remembered looking up and seeing the two Liberators circle the drop zone before ‘waggling their wings in salute’ and flying off. What followed would lead to numerous theories and conjecture about the fate of Graham Pockley and his crew after Pockley called Ball on the radio as they left the area and asked, ‘Where to?’ to which Ball replied, ‘Follow you.’ Not long after that the two aircraft parted in cloud, with Ball landing back at McGuire Field at around 1.30 p.m. When Pockley had not reported in by 5.30 p.m. the US Navy at Mindoro immediately began to organise a search-and-rescue mission.


  Both US Navy aircraft and 200 Flight’s B-24s searched for two days, covering a wide area across Pockley’s assumed route. The most promising report had come from a US Catalina flying boat crew who sighted a B-24 which might have been Pockley’s at 5000 feet north of Jesselton just after 10 o’clock that morning. Both aircraft waggled their wings at each other and flew on. Nothing was heard of Pockley again. In one of those ironic twists of war, Flight Lieutenant John Thompson, whom Pockley had chosen as his navigator, was not on the fateful flight. He’d been stricken down with a sinus attack and had nominated the next most senior navigator, Flight Lieutenant Len Day, to take his place.


  The speculation which has followed the incident appears to have much to do with Pockley’s reputation as a ‘man of action’. According to one of the Z Special Unit men who had jumped from his aircraft, Pockley had to be constrained by the commando leader from carrying out an attack on a train they had sighted as they approached the dropping area, brusquely telling Pockley over the intercom that he could, ‘Do what you like after you have dropped our chaps, but not before.’ A member of Ball’s crew claimed the same train was sighted after the drop on their return to the coast and was strafed by Pockley’s aircraft until it entered a tunnel. Although there is no record of Frank Ball ever confirming this, his report mentions he last saw Pockley ‘flying low’.


  At the end of the war, Tom Harrisson, who jumped from Pockley’s aircraft that morning, returned to London for a short time before taking a job as curator of the Sarawak Museum in 1946. In a book on his SEMUT memoirs, World Within: A Borneo Story, Harrisson believed that Pockley had decided to attack what looked to be a harmless vessel but proved to be well-armed with anti-aircraft guns, although where his theory originated was never explained.


  Whatever the fate of Graham Pockley and his crew, the loss of its leader on the unit’s very first mission was a severe setback for the men of 200 Flight. Inevitably, thanks to the very nature of their operations, more losses were to come.


  With Pockley missing, Frank Ball would undertake SEMUT 2, again a paratroop drop with stores similar to SEMUT 1, into Central Borneo with three aircraft, one as a backup, in early April. Again it was an early-morning take-off, the three B-24s—each grossly overloaded with men, stores and equipment—lumbering down Leyburn’s 2133-metre runway and into the air under the watchful eyes of their ground crews. Indeed, waiting for interminable seconds for a heavily laden B-24 to get airborne always carried some degree of anxiety for those involved. While Phil Dynes, in his unit history, acknowledges the attributes of the B-24, he recollects one wag suggesting a heavy Liberator, ‘needed help from the curvature of the earth to take off!’


  During their transit of Darwin the flight received word that Harrisson’s SEMUT 1 party on the ground in Borneo had sent an urgent message for additional supplies so Ball asked permission for the third aircraft in his flight to also take part in the drop itself. By the time the three aircraft arrived at McGuire Field, Mindoro on 14 April, Z Special Unit headquarters had received a further message from Harrisson, regrettably garbled and almost indecipherable. Three words, however—‘NOT COME IN’—were easily readable.


  This suggested to Major Toby Carter, leader of the commandos, that Harrisson might be either on the run or had already been captured by the Japanese. With the element of danger in the current mission now raised alarmingly, Carter gave each of his men the option of withdrawing. None took up his offer.


  Cloud obscured the drop zone on the morning of 16 April but they managed the drop with some difficulty. Flying Officer Arch Clark, piloting the support aircraft, even made a fourth run to drop a ‘special package’ prepared by the crews for the ground parties, but they watched in dismay as the package partly separated from its parachute and landed hard. Intended to celebrate the arrival of the SEMUT 2 newcomers, it contained a dozen bottles of beer stacked around two bottles of whisky. The hard landing shattered the beer bottles, but to the delight of those below the whisky arrived intact.


  For several of the descending parachutists, a few smashed beer bottles were the least of their worries. Warrant Officer Don Horsnell found himself chasing his Bren gun, on a separate parachute, over the sky and it was some time before he rejoined the rest of the party. Major Bill Sochon, who jumped from the second aircraft, had an even more sobering experience. His first feeling after leaving the aircraft was one of relief as he felt the tug of the parachute opening, but when he looked up he was horrified to see seven of his chute’s panels had been ripped from top to bottom. By the time he reached the ground, fourteen panels—or half the entire canopy—were flapping in the breeze.


  There’s little doubt that had the jump been anything other than low level, Sochon’s luck would have well and truly run out. As he gathered what was left of his chute and his supplies, Sochon vowed to make someone pay for his narrow escape. To his disgust he learned that higher authority in AIB had decreed that, since the Z Special Unit’s operations were something of a one-way street as far as new parachutes were concerned, only chutes which had been used at least a dozen times in training would be utilised. Fortunately someone on board Ball’s aircraft had photographic evidence of Sochon’s flailing panels so the practice of using second-hand chutes stopped abruptly.


  The completion of the SEMUT 2 drops marked a significant change for 200 Flight when AIB decided that future missions would be operated out of Morotai, where AIB and the Services Reconnaissance Department (SRD), which had direct control of Z Special Unit, both had their advance headquarters.


  In comparison to the earlier missions, where Pockley and Ball had flown virtually blind into the terrain to find their drop zones, by now Ball and most of the crews had added to their knowledge of the region and were familiar with several of the mountain peaks, which included Kinabalu at 13 000 feet and a peak they named ‘Mt 200’ for want of any knowledge of its identity. This peak, around 7000 feet, was only a short distance from Bareo and became a useful navigational aid since its highest point was most often clear of cloud. It would later be identified as a mountain known by locals as Batu Lawi.


  While SEMUT 2 was underway, other 200 Flight crews and their SRD colleagues were undergoing intensive training for the next project, codenamed AGAS, which would involve the insertion of Z Unit people into North Borneo. Flying Officer Colin Walker and his crew carried out the first AGAS on 20 April and although Walker missed the drop zone in the dark he then spotted signal fires on the ground and the drops were deemed successful.


  Eight days later Walker was called on to resupply Harrisson’s SEMUT 1 party and his later report contains probably the most memorable account of the dangers inherent in such low-level operations. The drop was to take place in a narrow valley surrounded by mountains, but when they arrived overhead cumulus clouds covered the mountain and the valley itself was shrouded in fog. The following day, 29 April, they set out again and after circling for some minutes one of the aircraft’s gunners sighted a smoke flare in a break in the cloud. With mountains all around Walker decided the only way in was to descend in a series of tight spirals inside the tiny cloud break. His own words best describe the scene:


  On reaching the floor of the valley there was much waving from the ground and a few rather hairy moments while we lined everything up for Jack Durant (Z Special Unit) to execute the drop. After one quick circuit to check where things landed we were back in the cloud climbing furiously in tight circles.


  They eventually broke through the cloud at 11 000 feet. Lieutenant Ray Irish from the Para Wing at Leyburn, who was acting as an observer on the trip, later commented: ‘Those blokes all deserve a VC. My blood ran cold.’ Harrisson, when he later met Walker, told him he would recommend him for a DFC for his effort that morning but nothing ever came of it.


  By now 200 Flight had a new CO to replace Pockley. Likewise, 3 Para Wing also had a new CO, Canadian Major J.R. ‘Shorteye’ Wooler, to replace Ellis, who had been lost with Pockley. Wooler’s earlier experience would help him refine 200 Flight’s parachute techniques and the preparation of materials for drops. Both COs would not only work closely together but would begin a friendship which would last well beyond the war.


  Wing Commander Eric Read was a permanent RAAF officer who had joined the air force in 1935. Posted to RAF College Cranwell in the United Kingdom in 1939 to undergo signals training, Read returned to Australia to fly Wirraways and Hudsons with No 23 Squadron. Until he took up his appointment with 200 Flight in mid-April 1945, he had served on various air-force stations on Australia’s east coast.


  Read, regarded by his men as a hard but fair taskmaster, would turn out to be a popular commander of 200 Flight, although he, too, would have to meet the challenges presented by a newly established unit still struggling with inadequate facilities. Even such basic necessities as aircraft tow bars for the unit’s tractors were in short supply, although on at least one occasion opportunistic quick thinking by one ground crew member paid dividends. After Read’s aircraft had completed a 300 hourly check at Tocumwal, Read told his flight engineer, Tommy Shand, to run up the engines prior to departure back to Leyburn. When Shand noticed the tractor tow bar used to park the aircraft had been left on the hardstand directly in front of the B-24 he released the brakes and rolled the Liberator forward until the tow bar was under the open doors of the bomb bay where it was quickly latched to the bomb racks.


  Read’s initial monthly reports remained critical of the lack of accommodation for ground staff and the problems caused by the isolation of the Leyburn unit, pointing out once again that even rations had to be drawn from Toowoomba, 69 kilometres away. Added to that he was still awaiting the arrival of the two C-47 transport aircraft the unit had requested, which would be used to bring in supplies and essential equipment to keep the Flight operating efficiently.


  Not all Read’s problems were homegrown, however. Right from the initial Pockley and Ball mission in March, communications failures between RAAF and American commands had caused difficulties for 200 Flight. The problems lay at the feet of the RAAF’s 1st Tactical Air Force (1TAF) on Morotai and its failure to pass on signals outlining the accommodation and maintenance requirements 200 Flight would need when operating out of the US base at McGuire Field, Mindoro.


  Crews on 200 Flight Z Unit missions, often up to 50 in number, would arrive at McGuire Field to find no prior notification had been given to the Americans, with the result that some ground crew members would struggle to even find a meal. Usually, flight crews managed to locate meals and accommodation in an officer’s mess, but ground crews occasionally missed out.


  In one instance a ground crew member was even refused a meal at a sergeants’ mess and another had to be content with a bag of onions he found outside one mess, several of which he ate raw that night while he watched the base’s outdoor movies. He later managed to scrounge up a cup of coffee and a biscuit at a Salvation Army hut. Even the basic 200 Flight requirement for the provision of a single jeep for transport seemed difficult to arrange.


  Read set out early to solve the problem, but it is doubtful he would have known the reasons which may have been behind 1TAF’s failures. In the early months of 1945 1TAF was in fact in the middle of a crisis which would shake the very foundations of the highest echelons of the RAAF. The 1TAF had been formed in late 1944 as a large, mobile force of fighter and ground-attack squadrons in support of allied army and naval units moving towards Japan. At one stage numbering more than 20 000 personnel, by early 1945 it was under the command of Air Commodore Harry Cobby and was in the grip of serious morale and leadership problems, the origin of which had much to do with General MacArthur’s decision to relegate Australian units to that of a minor player in the advance towards Japan.


  Frustrated at being left behind while the real action continued to their north, bitterness had begun to set in among the more senior officers in 1TAF, as highly decorated fighter pilots like Australia’s top-scoring ace, Group Captain Clive ‘Killer’ Caldwell reacted to being relegated to mopping-up operations against the dangerous, largely unnecessary missions they were forced to fly, often attacking now bypassed but well-entrenched Japanese gun positions which could have no further impact on the outcome of the war. Within weeks of Pockley and Ball’s first transit through Morotai to Mindoro, a series of events would take place on Morotai which would become known as the ‘Morotai Mutiny’ in which Caldwell and several of his colleagues resigned their commissions, a decision which would lead to the dismissal of Cobby.


  Back at Leyburn the most pressing requirement related to the continuing delay in providing hard standing for the servicing of aircraft which were now fully committed to the demanding long-range missions required by Z Special Unit. Despite these difficulties and the early loss of his predecessor, Read reported that the missions being undertaken were successful. He had no way of knowing that that was about to change dramatically.


  May 1945 was set to be a busy month for 200 Flight. In addition to continuing supply drops to the SEMUT ground parties and the insertion of further AGAS parties into North Borneo, orders had come through for Operation SUNFISH, which required the insertion of two ground parties into Timor. While Read was engaged on the AGAS supply mission, Liberators of Flying Officer Arch Clark and Flight Lieutenant Keith Emmett left Leyburn together for Darwin early on the morning of 15 May. Neither was to return.


  Emmett’s mission, out of Morotai, was to drop 1587.5 kilograms of stores and two reinforcement personnel in to the Kudat area of North Borneo. Emmett, who had flown Atlantic convoy escort missions with RAF Coastal Command, had joined 200 Flight from Tocumwal only five weeks before. This would be his crew’s first operational sortie.


  Emmett’s B-24 arrived over the drop zone shortly before 6 o’clock on the morning of 21 May. The weather was fine and there was no wind. What happened next was later recorded by a British army major, a member of the party waiting on the ground who watched as the Liberator made five circuits of the drop zone and successfully dropped ten storpedoes. According to the British major’s estimate, the aircraft was extremely low, never more than 300 feet above the clearing. On the fifth circuit the port wing struck a tree a little over 200 feet above the drop zone, tearing off the wing and causing the aircraft to crash into a nearby clearing and burst into flames.


  All on board died instantly, including two Z Special Unit operatives who were to be dropped as reinforcements and another Z Unit officer who had hitched a ride as an observer. For the teams at Leyburn it was to be a crushing blow. They were already awaiting news from Darwin of the results of a search for Arch Clark’s aircraft, which had gone missing over Timor.


  Because SUNFISH operatives had limited knowledge of Timor, it was decided that Clark first would do a reconnaissance flight over the area to check out the layout of the region. In an attempt to hide the actual reason for the mission from the Japanese, they would drop propaganda leaflets over villages in the area while taking a look at any proposed drop zones from the air.


  Clark’s Liberator, with a RAAF crew of ten and four Z Special Unit men, left Darwin at 10.30 a.m. on 17 May, with a plan to carry out the recce mission and leaflet drop over Timor and return to Darwin via the Flores group of islands. The aircraft was not heard from again, and despite a wide-ranging search by air-sea rescue Catalina flying boats out of Darwin and numerous shipping alerts, no trace of it was ever found.


  Arch Clark’s crew was 200 Flight’s most decorated group, with three Distinguished Flying Medals between them. Its disappearance meant that 200 Flight had lost three aircraft in the space of three months and the aircrew to fly them reduced from seven to four. While in crude numbers terms this would hardly compare to the massive daily aircraft losses in other theatres of the war, for a small, operationally stretched unit it was a heavy blow, especially for Read, hundreds of kilometres away to the north on his own mission and being kept informed via brief signals.


  Fortunately, Emmett’s and Clark’s aircraft were to be the last lost on operations by 200 Flight, although, even as the following months passed and the Pacific war headed towards its conclusion, their operational activities hardly eased. Through June, July and early August ground parties in Borneo were supported, sometimes in terrain which left little margin for error. Typical was a mission by two aircraft flown by Flight Lieutenant Don Winch and Flight Lieutenant Jock Wallace to drop supplies to a Z Special Unit on the banks of the Tungud River. Insufficient smoke from the signal fires below prevented both pilots from reading the wind direction on their first dummy runs into the drop zone. The difficulty of manoeuvring their aircraft at low level in tight terrain forced Winch to make nine runs over the target before all his storpedoes could be dropped. Wallace made five.


  By mid-August 200 Flight’s crews had been split between Leyburn and Morotai when they heard of the atomic attacks and the subsequent Japanese surrender, but there was still much to be done and many moments of high drama. Several days after Flying Officer Tom Bridges and his crew heard about the ceasefire while at Morotai they set off to make a supply drop at the junction of the Rajang and Kanowit rivers in Borneo but were forced to abort the mission when heavy cloud prevented identification of the target. Because of poor weather and concerned about adequate fuel reserves, Bridges decided that rather than return to Morotai he would overnight at Palawan. But as he neared Palawan he was advised the airfield was closed for repair so he called another possibility, Tarakan, but was told only 914 metres of runway was available there. With the fuel situation now becoming critical and his options running out, Bridges called Labuan where, although his charts told him only 1219 metres was available, it was preferable to landing in the sea.


  Labuan had more bad news. Their strip was not yet fully open, even to fighter aircraft, which required far less runway than a B-24. When Bridges told them he was coming anyway, Labuan’s reply was terse: ‘Negative.’ Bridges’ own response was equally short and to the point: ‘On approach now—stand by.’ Bridges gave his crew the option of bailing out, but all decided to stick with the aircraft and he put the big Liberator down in a perfect landing on a strip strewn with potholes, one of which caused a tyre on the B-24 to blow out.


  With the aircraft refuelled and its nose wheel replaced overnight by the Americans, Bridges announced he was taking off again and heading back to Morotai. Bridges’ bomb aimer, Jim Banks, later recalled:


  He put all the crew aft and with the brakes full on and the motors on full power, gave her the gun. We got away on this unserviceable airfield amid an audience of amazed Yanks and landed safely at Morotai.


  There were, however, some lighter moments. The arrival at Leyburn of 3 Para CO Wooler to replace Ellis had led to an increase in the tempo of parachute training at the base. Wooler believed those responsible for the despatch of Z Special unit operatives and supplies from the aircraft should themselves experience parachute training, a decision which didn’t go down well with 200 Flight people, many of whom believed the only reason you would jump from an aeroplane was when there was little other alternative.


  Wooler’s popularity plunged even further when he extended the requirement to the aircrews, including Read, who did his first jump accompanied by Wooler. Singularly unimpressed, Read got his revenge during one of their return trips from Morotai.


  For the long flights they had installed a toilet can on the aircraft by strapping it onto a catwalk forward of the Liberator’s bomb bay bulkhead. When Read’s engineer told him Wooler was using the toilet Read ordered the engineer to take some readings on the fuel tanks so as not to arouse suspicion and, while there, reach over and open the bomb bay doors.


  Read would later gleefully describe how Wooler suddenly had a marvellous view of the Arafura Sea, 14 000 feet below, while hanging on to the guide chains, with his shirt and pants flapping in the gale. Read waved to him from the cockpit while the crew were ‘laughing their heads off’.


  Through September 200 Flight operated a series of missions which illustrated the change in emphasis as the war receded into the past. Medical supplies and food were transported to forward bases as well as into drop zones, but were interspersed with repatriation flights for released allied prisoners of war. On one such flight Read flew to Batavia to collect British POWs and then on to Cocos Island as part of their journey home, returning to Batavia with urgently needed medical supplies and food. The following month he flew twenty Australian POWs home from Morotai to Eagle Farm, Brisbane, where they were admitted to Greenslopes Military Hospital. Read was not to know that within two weeks he would join them in the same hospital.


  Playing host at Leyburn to some visiting army personnel, Read challenged one of his crew to an arm-wrestling contest, during which Read’s leg somehow twisted and snapped. Strapped in a splint he was flown to Brisbane’s Greenslopes the next day and Flight Lieutenant Frank Ball was appointed acting CO in Read’s absence. As fate would have it, 200 Flight was disbanded before Read could return.


  Others, like Les Anderson and his crew, also experienced something of a bizarre twist of war. Shortly after an airdrop in Semporna, one engine cut out and, rather than return to Morotai, Anderson decided to make for the nearest available runway at Zamboanga in the southern Philippines. Under normal circumstances procuring a replacement engine from the Americans would have been a simple matter, but the crew soon found out one would have to be flown up from Amberley in Queensland. Since the war was over, it was explained that the Lend Lease arrangement between the United States and Britain and its dominions was also over. So the crew sat there for two weeks while the replacement engine was flown in and fitted, partly mollified by a steady supply of beer and cigarettes sent over from their comrades at Morotai.


  Frank Ball’s last trip was to Bougainville in November 1945. By now parachute-training facilities at Leyburn had been shut down and personnel were being discharged and they were heading home from the war. Those who still remained were at last able to avail themselves of the facilities of Leyburn’s Royal Hotel, which had been off limits for the duration of their stay. The camp was finally closed in February 1946 but not before Frank Ball, still in temporary command, at a dinner at nearby Clifton, was able to announce the awards which had been promulgated for 200 Flight. Read, Ball and Flying Officers Tom Bridges, Bob Carson and Forbes Weir were each awarded the Air Force Cross and eight others were mentioned in despatches.


  As it was to turn out, many of those involved in 200 Flight were not to return immediately to civilian life. Some volunteered for service with the British Commonwealth Occupation Forces in Japan, others remained in the RAAF. Wing Commander Eric Read went on to command No 82 Heavy Bomber Wing at Amberley in Queensland until he joined the Department of Civil Aviation as an examiner of airmen in 1947. He later transferred to the department’s Flying Unit as an airways surveyor, flying F.27 Fokker Friendship aircraft, testing navigation and landing aids at Australia’s major airports.


  Frank Ball, with more than 2000 hours in his log book, joined Trans-Australia Airlines as a pilot and became a training captain in 1949. With pilot retirement age then set at 45, Ball could see a future in management for people with operational experience so he decided to complete an accountancy course he had started before the war.


  Before he entered the airline’s senior management ranks, he was to experience a final dice with the dangers of low flying, this time while in command of a twin-engine Convair 240 airliner out of Brisbane in 1952. It was the first officer’s turn to handle the take-off and just as the aircraft lifted off, the most critical part of any take-off, the propeller on the starboard engine automatically feathered, robbing the Convair of any power on that side. Ball immediately took the controls and the aircraft managed the barest of climb rate, thanks mainly to the influence of what is known as ‘ground effect’, the invisible cushion of air which can exist between an aircraft and the runway surface.


  They scarcely cleared houses on a low hill at Hamilton Heights, to the south-west of the airport, and Ball later vividly recalled catching a fleeting glimpse of a man having a morning shave, only to see the Convair’s wingtip pass so close to his house he fell backwards over his verandah.


  But Ball had more than that on his mind as the Convair gradually began to lose height towards the loading cranes on the wharf on the Brisbane River at Hamilton. Just as he began to contemplate ditching the aircraft on the river their efforts to restart the right engine bore fruit and the Convair began to slowly gain height to allow Ball to circle the airfield and land.


  It had been a narrow escape from disaster, later attributed to the formation of lead deposits on the engine’s spark plugs causing the engine to backfire and prompting an inbuilt safety mechanism to automatically feather the propeller. Much of the problem of the Convair’s poor rate of climb after an engine failure would be remedied by the introduction of revised take-off procedures, to ensure Convairs had sufficient speed and height to climb away should an engine fail. Ball would take a leading role in introducing the revised operations into TAA’s Convair flight manuals.


  Moving to Melbourne as the airline’s operations manager in 1957 he began to rise through the airline’s management ranks until his appointment as general manager of TAA in 1979. Through the 1970s and 1980s, he oversaw the introduction of a range of new aircraft into airline service, including the A300 Airbus, along with a dogged fight to convince the federal government of the need for further capital injection into the airline.


  Renowned for his integrity and his warm personality, Ball won universal respect among the airline’s staff and in the aviation industry generally. He retired in 1985 and passed away in 2009 after suffering dementia for four years. As for his time with 200 Flight, most of his airline colleagues knew nothing of it, nor, for that matter, did his wife, Rae.


  ‘He never discussed it with me. Neither did he ever talk about the Convair incident,’ she says, although some years later she found a personal account he had written of the Brisbane engine failure.


  Frank Ball wasn’t alone in his reticence to talk about the wartime experiences of 200 Flight. Shortly before Eric Read died in 2004, a family friend, Graham Stephenson, convinced Read to put down on paper an account of his flying career. The result was a detailed, and at times poignant, record starting from his earliest days in the RAAF in 1935, his life during his various postings, through to his work with the Department of Civil Aviation’s Flying Unit towards the end of his flying career.


  Stephenson set about drawing together Read’s notes in narrative form, but when it came to his time at Leyburn there was simply the notation:


  RAAF 200 Flight. This page deliberately left blank.


  Some of the story did come alive for Rae Ball when they attended a ‘back-to-Leyburn’ reunion in the late 1980s. The Royal Hotel, and Leyburn itself, was much like it had been those many years before, but the airfield was overgrown; though this didn’t seem to dampen the enthusiasm of the returning 200 Flight and Z Special Unit men. One of the attendees captured the moment in a later circular:


  The strip was located and most ran around like excited schoolboys, some just strode around recapturing our feelings of 40 years ago—it wasn’t hard! The old campsite was now overgrown, but the concrete slab of the cookhouse could be identified. Some memorabilia was recovered.


  Rae Ball well remembers the ‘memorabilia’:


  It was hysterical. It was a little gold container and they all claimed it was theirs. For an instant they were back as young men again.


  Hidden behind a veil of secrecy during the war, to be continued post-war under legislative secrecy provisions, 200 Flight’s existence didn’t become public knowledge until the passing of the Archives Act of 1983. The Australian War Memorial’s comprehensive official war history volume, Air War Against Japan 1943–45, contains no references to it.


  Fortunately, after that 1980s reunion, Phil Dynes took on the task of gathering what he could of the unit’s history, resulting in a detailed account titled Leyburn’s Liberators and Those Lonely Special Duties Air Operations, which was distributed to those whom fate had brought together at Leyburn. Complete with photographs taken during the war, not only of many of those involved but also of the crude training apparatus used by those who dropped into the unknown through the Liberator’s ‘slippery dip’, it remains the only known account of their work.


  There is, however, a memorial in a neat little park at Leyburn, listing the names of the 32 airmen from 200 Flight and the fourteen Z Special Unit men who paid the ultimate price. The losses of 200 Flight are understood to be among the highest per capita for any RAAF Liberator unit in the Second World War.


  Leyburn’s Royal Hotel remains the oldest continually licensed hotel in Queensland, although it was certainly out of bounds for the personnel of the secret 200 Flight in early 1945. Not that the sound of aircraft engines is totally absent. The sky above is now part of RAAF Amberley’s training area and the roar of FA-18 Super Hornets is an almost daily occurrence.


  There’s also a memorial plaque atop the peak of Bukit Batu Lawi in Central Borneo. It was placed there in 1987 by an Australian Army Project Team to honour a promise Major Tom Harrisson made to the memory of Graham Pockley and 200 Flight over 40 years before. It reads:


  . . . of 200 Flight . . . They successfully dropped us at Bareo 25/3/45 but they never got back to Morotai. By Batu Lawi we steered on this and four previous attempts. The RAAF called it Mount 200. I pledged my word to climb it for them in their memory.


  Tom Harrisson, after a successful guerrilla-warfare campaign, returned to his wartime land as curator of the Sarawak Museum in Kuching for more than 25 years. He died in a bus accident in Thailand in 1976.
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  Reopening war-torn Darwin to the world


  By late 1945, the Darwin that RAAF 200 Flight crews transited on their epic, long-range journeys north was starting to come to terms with what would happen at the end of the war. Plans were already in hand for a gradual rundown of military infrastructure and personnel when the atomic bombs were dropped on Hiroshima and Nagasaki in August; it was time to pack up and go home.


  For those who occupied senior positions in Australia’s Qantas, however, the opposite was the case. Darwin’s township and harbour were not simply bomb-ravaged wartime relics which needed to be cleaned up and returned to normality. Their very location held much of the airline’s future in their hands.


  Qantas had come through the war in relatively good shape. Its aircraft and crews had played an important role in wartime support operations through its Indian Ocean Double Sunrise service and troop supply and evacuation in war zones to the north of Australia, and a number of its people were now drifting back to the airline after service in the RAAF both in Europe and the south-west Pacific.


  In other respects, however, the war had been costly. Not only had its sole major air route—to London in concert with British Overseas Airways Corporation over Singapore—been cut by the Japanese in February 1942, but its international flying boat fleet had been reduced from eleven to one. Since these and the four-engine, land-based DH.86s had formed the mainstay of the Qantas sector of the route to Singapore via Darwin and the Dutch East Indies, what was left would have to be put in place as soon as possible. Otherwise, as Qantas founder Hudson Fysh was only too aware, his airline would be in danger of losing its international franchise, the very key to its future.


  With international services across the Pacific yet to come, Darwin, sitting strategically on the exit and entry point for all international services to and from Australia, was a vital part of the equation from the Qantas viewpoint. Neither was its significance lost on the British at the other end of the route. Although just beginning to stagger back from years at war, the British, too, were anxious to restamp their aviation footprint around the globe, not least because they recognised that other factors were in play.


  The Second World War had brought a spectacular surge in the development of aircraft design and engine performance. This, along with the wartime construction of thousands of aerodromes around the world, had provided the United States with an overwhelming superiority when it came to postwar aviation. Companies like Pan American Airways were already looking to spread their wings as instruments of US foreign policy. By contrast, Britain, its own aviation industry battered by the war, was struggling to regain its prewar prominence. Darwin, therefore, had to be up and running as soon as possible and it was Qantas’ responsibility to achieve it. Hartley Shannon got the job.


  Born in Adelaide in 1916, Hartley Ellis Shannon would prove typical of a small group of men and women who would be asked to make considerable sacrifices in strange, often dangerous locations in order to re-launch airlines like Qantas into the post-war era. Leaving school at sixteen, Shannon spent a short time in the wine and food industry in Adelaide before moving to Darwin, first with the Department of Treasury in 1938 and later in defence supply with the Department of Defence. By the time he had been seconded to Qantas in a similar role in 1943 he had survived the bombing of Darwin and earned a reputation as resourceful, determined and, when necessary, uncompromising.


  He spent six months in Townsville, a key transit port during Qantas’ involvement in the New Guinea campaign, then moved back to Darwin in 1944, by which time he had acquired a comprehensive knowledge of how Darwin worked, along with a formidable range of contacts, both military and civilian. In late February 1945 Qantas general manager George Harman called Shannon to Sydney. The war, Harman said, would soon be over and he had a proposition for him. First, would he like a job in Qantas after the war?


  ‘I certainly would, but I’m on a five-year contract with Defence and I presume I’ll have to go back there,’ Shannon replied.


  ‘We’ve been in touch with Defence and they’ve agreed if and when we get a signed peace agreement with the Japanese they would agree to release you,’ was Harman’s counter. In addition, Harman said, a position would be created for him in executive management, and, since he knew the place backwards, his first assignment would be the reopening of Darwin.


  ‘We’ll let you go unfettered as we know you’ll be starting from nothing. Your main task will be to get us established, and keep the aircraft operating.’


  For Shannon it appeared an offer too good to refuse, but he was determined to keep his wits about him. If he’d learned anything during his Qantas secondment it was the Qantas management’s reputation for forensic oversight of expenditure, with every penny spent requiring detailed justification. And since George Harman, the man promising him an ‘unfettered’ assignment in Darwin, had risen to general manager via the position of company secretary, Shannon needed to ensure he had the flexibility to do the job Darwin would demand.


  He also knew Harman’s own authorisation to spend was limited to only 500 pounds without seeking the specific approval of the Qantas board. Even double that wouldn’t go far in Darwin. He did his best to be diplomatic.


  ‘I’d be happy to do it, Mr Harman, but I would need a free hand. I’ll need a letter signed by yourself, the chairman (Sir Fergus McMaster) and Mr Fysh because from the moment I get back to Darwin I’m going to have to break all the rules!’


  By the time he boarded the DC-3 to Darwin the following day he had the letter in his pocket. It was as well he did. A few months after his Darwin assignment was completed one of Harman’s deputies charged Shannon with exceeding his authority on expenditure levels, threatening to report him to Fysh. Shannon produced the letter and the problem dissolved.


  The Darwin Shannon was returning to in 1945 was little more than a shambles. The impact of the 60 bombing attacks by the Japanese between 19 February 1942 and November 1943 both on the town itself and the surrounding military installations had left little of its prewar structure recognisable. Not only was Darwin’s harbour strewn with the wreckage of sunken vessels but 130 of the town’s original 400 buildings had been destroyed; although some of the latter damage could be blamed on the occupying troops who seemed to have gone out of their way to unnecessarily bulldoze much of the town’s remaining commercial and housing area into rubble.


  With more than 100 000 troops of all services based there during the war it was inevitable that hundreds of ugly, army-issue black-iron huts would be necessary, but much of the destruction to achieve them would later be described as extreme vandalism.


  The situation would, in fact, have both short- and long-term consequences for Darwin. Many former residents, anxiously awaiting their return immediately after the war, would arrive back to find their homes had disappeared, forcing them to live in those ugly left-over army huts for years, all the while watching with increasing frustration as government indecision and red tape led nowhere. While all land within 19 kilometres of the town was compulsorily acquired to accommodate the planned construction of new Darwin, nothing happened. Eventually the ‘all new Darwin’ concept would be abandoned and authorities would be forced to revert to the town’s original layout.


  But for Hartley Shannon and Qantas, waiting was not an option. Aircraft maintenance and refuelling facilities had to be restored; crew accommodation created; and a catering centre, along with all the other administrative requirements needed to keep an airline operating, established. And, at least as far as Qantas was concerned, prewar Darwin had not been just another stopover point on its network. With as yet no regular services across the Pacific or Indian oceans, it was still to be the biggest Qantas base outside Sydney.


  Within weeks of his arrival in Darwin, Shannon had started his recruiting campaign for staff, insisting on attracting people from Sydney and Melbourne. This was a deliberate ploy as he needed reliability and was not prepared to take a risk on some of the itinerants who had started drifting back north. In the meantime the Department of Civil Aviation was arranging for the airport site to be moved from Parap, near Fannie Bay, which had existed since Sir Ross and Sir Keith Smith’s first flight from England to Australia in 1919, to a joint military-civil facility to the north-east of the town.


  Accommodation, however, was the most urgent priority, a problem Shannon initially solved by taking over a section of the Darwin Hotel along with the Burns Philp management quarters for aircrew stopovers and several large houses still standing at Miley Point. But much more was required if the deadline for service start-up of April 1946 was to be achieved. So, armed with Harman’s letter of approval, Shannon went on a spending spree. To house staff and any emergency passenger accommodation he acquired the old timber-framed army hospital at Berrimah and although it was 16 kilometres out of town it would have to do.


  Even with the original long, open hospital wards carved into rooms, it would hardly be a home away from home. Privacy was at a minimum: the partitions separating the rooms stopping short of the ceiling and the floor, ostensibly to help airflow. There were few creature comforts, with the passenger end of the building the only one with hot running water. That would remain the case for some time due to a parsimonious Qantas head office belief that staff in the tropics could survive without it. Indeed, Shannon would find the same policy extended to a later posting to Lae in Papua New Guinea where one of his engineers was almost fired when head office found out he’d fitted his own hot water system.


  Establishing a flight kitchen at the RAAF airport was also a priority as aircraft transiting between Sydney and Singapore would need catering. The days of aircraft carrying more than one hot meal on a flight sector were still some years away. When he heard that a 500-strong unit of Canadian army construction engineers out at 16 Mile camp were sitting around waiting to sail home, Shannon called their commanding officer.


  ‘Have you got anything we might use?’ he asked.


  ‘Come and have a look,’ replied the Canadian. ‘It’ll probably all be thrown into the sea when we leave.’


  The end result was a cache of building materials, along with tractors and spares which Shannon estimated to be worth around 50 000 pounds, all added to the Qantas manifest for next to nothing.


  It didn’t stop there. With another Department of Works and Housing colleague, Bruce Litchfield, Shannon roamed Darwin looking for ‘bargains’. Their modus operandi went something like this: Litchfield would say, ‘That’s a fairly good building. What about a hundred quid?’


  ‘I’ll have it,’ Shannon would reply. Others were as low as 30 pounds. The more he looked the more bargains Shannon found, at one point paying just over 8000 pounds for 8 hectares of freehold land with 72 buildings on it!


  ‘We thought that was a pretty good property deal,’ Shannon recalls.


  On 7 April 1946 Qantas reopened services through Darwin to Singapore with converted wartime Liberators, and three days later a thrice-weekly service by Lancastrians began, with Qantas crews taking the aircraft through to Karachi to be then flown to England by BOAC crews.


  The following month Hythe flying boats replaced the Liberators, which meant that the Sydney–London service had parallel options—a 67-hour Lancastrian flight alongside the more comfortable and leisurely five-day flying-boat operation. The Hythes, however, would be destined to have a short career as an intense struggle was taking place behind the scenes between the British and the Americans for aviation supremacy in the postwar world.


  The British government and BOAC were anxious to have Qantas continue to operate Lancastrians and Hythes until they could be replaced by a British-built land plane, the Tudor II, which was as yet untested. BOAC was intent on making sure the Hythes were here to stay, at least in the medium term while they forecast daily flying-boat services to London, predictions Shannon often got firsthand as BOAC executives passed through Darwin on their way to talks with Qantas in Sydney. Indeed, on one occasion with Shannon present, BOAC Chairman Lord Knollys told Melbourne Herald journalist, Douglas Lockwood, that not only daily services were to come but also an ‘around the world service by way of Australia, controlled exclusively by the British Empire’.


  Qantas, however, had harboured serious reservations about the suitability of British aircraft like the Tudor for its purposes, intent on looking towards the Lockheed Constellation, which promised longer range with more payload capability. Inevitably, despite intense pressure on Australia by the British government, victory would go to the Americans and it would be the Constellation which would become the mainstay of the Qantas fleet.


  Such high-level machinations were well beyond Hartley Shannon’s responsibility as he continued to oversee the return of Darwin to international operations against a background of makeshift facilities, businesses being carried on in still damaged buildings along with inflated living costs. When it came to the latter, Shannon and his wife, Joan, at least had some advantages over most of the locals. Douglas Lockwood would tell the Herald’s Melbourne readers that vegetables, with the exception of potatoes and onions, came out of tins and were double the southern prices. Fruit also came out of tins and was well beyond what southern housewives were paying. Egg prices were exorbitant, beef the only meat available and a tropical essential like a block of ice was roughly similar in price to down south but only a third of the size.


  Along with the daily battle with makeshift resources, Shannon had to deal with a passing parade of VIP visitors. Tending to the needs of BOAC’s Knollys and his own managing director, Hudson Fysh, were occasional interruptions.


  After passing through late in 1946 Fysh wrote back to tell Shannon how pleased he was at the progress in Darwin, adding a few suggestions of his own:


  ‘The keynote of success in Darwin is going to be a retention of smartness, tidiness and efficiency . . .’ Acknowledging ‘the blighting atmosphere and surroundings of Darwin’, Fysh went on to emphasise the ‘maintenance of real trim tidiness in all Qantas camps, houses, cars, general equipment, hangar space, everybody’s personal dress, the way everybody leaves his bed each day . . .’


  As for the impression of passengers Fysh opined:


  This will be conditioned a lot by the dress and general smartness of your traffic staff, and the same for your Darwin Hotel staff, when they meet and look after passengers and you will need to be very strict in your control . . . In other words you have got to feel positively hurt whenever you see any untidiness of whatever sort and not rest until it is mended.


  Shannon’s comment on receipt of the letter is not recorded but given his daily struggles with the Darwin environment, little imagination is needed.


  Some head office correspondence was easier to handle. Fysh’s secretary, Ida Isaacs, wrote in mid-1946 telling Shannon that a friend of hers was interested in opening a hairdressing salon in Darwin. Shannon found the time for a detailed reply, explaining that there were already two hairdressers in Darwin, ‘. . . one of whom is a Miss Richards who has the “Barbara” Beauty Salon and the other a Miss James who has the “Pamela” Beauty Salon.’ Politely and diplomatically he went on to explain the limited opportunities available in war-ravaged Darwin:


  Owing to many of the hardships which have to be contended with, it is not considered that there will be a large influx of women for some time to come. It is therefore thought that the existing hairdressers should be able to cope with the clientele offering in Darwin for quite some time. Furthermore, it is most difficult to commence a business of any nature whatever in Darwin at present owing to lack of premises.


  He obviously didn’t consider it necessary to point out that even such a critical amenity as the Darwin Post Office had only opened a month or two previously in a tin shed.


  Occasionally the interruptions were welcome, helping to demonstrate to Shannon’s head office some of the challenges he was facing. One, unexpectedly, came from an author and old friend of Shannon’s, Frank Clune, gathering material on his way through to Rome for an audience with the Pope. Clune, both at the time and later in his book, All Roads Lead to Rome, left little doubt about what those in Darwin were battling. Describing Darwin airport’s poorly equipped rest room for passengers as a ‘disgrace’, Clune accused the Department of Civil Aviation of ‘being too mean to spend the money to put on a good show at Australia’s Front Door’, but at least had some kind words to say about the Qantas Guest House:


  Considering the notorious isolation and bad climate in Darwin, the providoring of this excellent hotel in the jungle is a creditable achievement in civil aviation.


  Even Shannon’s gardening prowess received a mention, with Clune waxing lyrically about Shannon’s ‘horticultural zeal transforming the barren-looking army camp of yore into a floral paradise, tropic style, where crotons, poinciana, frangipani and bougainvillea display their exotic beauties against well-kept green lawns’.


  By the end of 1947 and into 1948, as Darwin operations gathered pace, the introduction of the Lockheed Constellation had seen off the last of the Empire flying boats and all the support requirements for the through-services were well established. Passenger handling, engineering and catering might not have had the outward appearance of their Sydney counterparts, but they were keeping the Qantas and other operators’ aircraft operating on time and efficiently. On one day alone Qantas catering created more than 3000 meals out of its Berrimah kitchens.


  But the very success of the operation was tending to lead to problems of another kind. Darwin had had a less-than-honourable record of union activism even during the war years and Shannon would find himself in something of a life-and-death struggle with union actions which would threaten all the gains so far achieved. And for him and Joan it would have extremely personal overtones.


  Shannon had had experience with the North Australian Workers Union while working with Defence in Darwin during the war when the union had tried to stop all aircraft and shipping handling in 1942 and 1943. With the Japanese knocking on Australia’s door, it appears to have taken a threat from Prime Minister John Curtin to throw all the union members into the army at five shillings a day to avert a potential disaster. Late in 1947 they began agitating again, this time with the aim of pulling out all of the Qantas staff. Never one to back away from an argument, Shannon gathered his staff together in the hangar and bluntly threatened to sack the lot of them if they went on strike.


  ‘You can’t do that,’ came a shout from the floor.


  ‘Just watch me,’ replied Shannon.


  ‘They went out anyway, so I fired them all,’ Shannon recalled years later.


  The worst, however, was to come. Despite limited staff, Shannon and his management team, with some additional assistance flown in from Sydney, succeeded in keeping the aircraft operating, a situation which led to one of the leaders of the union movement ratcheting up the pressure on Shannon by spreading word around Darwin that Joan would be the target of several acquaintances he described as ‘muscle men’.


  ‘I couldn’t cope with that,’ Shannon recalled, so he rang his friend the police chief to check out the threat. The policeman didn’t mince his words: ‘There are some bad buggers here, Shan. I suggest you get your wife out of town.’


  Joan was on that night’s flight back to Sydney.


  Two weeks later Shannon was walking down Darwin’s Bennett Street when the union official, a grin all over his face, confronted him.


  ‘Ha ha, we got your wife out of Darwin. We’ll get you out in a week or two as well.’


  That was too much for Shannon, who in his Defence Department years had been trained in unarmed combat. Toe to toe the pair went in the middle of the street and by the time the police arrived and dragged him off, Shannon was sitting on the unionist’s chest and repeatedly banging his head on the ground.


  For years later Shannon could delight in explaining that no police charges ever made it to court, largely because the police were well aware of the perpetrator’s reputation. In fact, the police report described the incident as ‘the worst case of self-inflicted wounds’ they had witnessed up to that time.


  Shannon and others closely associated with the union dispute were convinced the issue was largely one between the union movement and the federal government, with Qantas merely the meat in the sandwich and it was eventually resolved on those lines. In his eventual 32 years with the airline Shannon would face a number of serious strikes in Qantas ports around the world but could always boast he never had an aircraft stopped.


  By 1950, when it became time for Shannon to leave, Darwin would once again be a prominent part of Qantas’ network with Constellations and Douglas DC-4s linking Australia with Indonesia, Singapore, Colombo, India, Pakistan, Egypt, Cairo, Rome and London, along with flights to Japan and Hong Kong. Before leaving, he had made a recommendation that would have a significant bearing on his future Qantas career. Qantas headquarters were looking for someone to move quickly to Jakarta to handle Qantas traffic through the Indonesian capital. Shannon replied that he had just the man for the job, a young traffic officer named Keith Hamilton, who he described as having ‘great potential’.


  Not only would Hamilton succeed in Jakarta, he would go on to play a major role as part of a Qantas team charged with the formation of Malaysia-Singapore Airlines, the template for the future emergence of the separate entities of Singapore Airlines and Malaysia Airlines. Hamilton’s work in Jakarta and in Malaysia would launch his rise through Qantas’ management ranks, finally to be appointed the airline’s general manager in the 1970s.


  But if Shannon thought his work in Darwin would lead to a softer posting at some other Qantas port, he and Joan would be disappointed and they were soon on their way to Lae, New Guinea where, over a two-year period, and out of a vacant paddock, he oversaw the building of a Qantas mini-township, which would include a kitchen, a staff mess and accommodation for crews and other staff for what was becoming a substantial Qantas base.


  Postings to Jakarta and other Qantas ports around the world followed until one afternoon in June 1971, Keith Hamilton called Shannon in to tell him he had a problem in San Francisco he needed him to fix.


  Hamilton was concerned that some Qantas Australian staff in San Francisco had been ‘rorting the system’ and needed to be pulled into line. Apparently interminably long lunches and dodgy expense accounts were the norm, along with the occasional issuance of free tickets to ‘clients’ of questionable value to the airline. Hamilton told him they were generally excellent staff, they just needed a Mr Fixit of Shannon’s experience to knock them into shape.


  Hartley Shannon arrived in San Francisco as regional director, The Americas, and on 21 July 1971 called his staff from all over the United States to a meeting at the Holiday Inn, Fisherman’s Wharf, where he was to announce his new organisation. His address that afternoon, which runs for twenty-two pages, has entered Qantas folklore. It outlined new staff appointments and responsibilities across the country, revenue targets to be met and expenditure limitations. It reads, in part:


  The days of excessive drinking, especially during normal business hours, are over. Those culpable will know to whom I am referring. Unfortunately there are far too many among our ranks. If at fault, cut it out. If you do not I will start some cutting and pruning, which will be very permanent.


  . . . the days of selfish individualism are over. The days of pinpricked feathers, unwarranted personal clashes which become costly to Qantas and prancing prima donna acts, are over.


  The days of two to three hour, non-productive lunch hours, are over. Lunch hours will be restricted to one hour, unless sales staff are with clients, planning increased revenue.


  The days of dishonest entertainment and travelling expense claims . . . an attitude of anything goes, are over.


  The RORT at Ginos [a well-known local restaurant] . . . main offenders several members of the Australian contingent . . . a great buddy-buddy togetherness . . . then back to the office . . . hustle through a pile of business cards . . . then transcribe to the swindle sheet. Result . . . Qantas robbed . . . revenue down . . .


  And on it went. They got the message. Qantas revenue was up the following year.


  While Shannon’s efforts—starting from nothing—in Darwin at the end of the war would be one of his proudest achievements, his part in the introduction of the Boeing 707 into Qantas service and later the first Boeing 747 services to the United States would remain high points in his 32 years with the company.


  No one present that afternoon of his address has ever forgotten his speech and, in the 1990s, long after Shannon’s retirement in 1975, in an ironic twist, a small group of the ex-San Francisco staff formed a luncheon group in Sydney. They called it the Qantas ‘Rorters’ Club’ and within weeks of its foundation they’d tracked down Shannon and invited him to be the club’s patron and later to be appointed chairman of ‘RortAir’, as a further reminder of their ‘rorting’ reputation.


  RortAir still meets today and has its own letterhead and a regular newsletter, which lauds the advantages of flying on its ‘digitally remastered DC-4s’. ‘Shan’, as he was affectionately known, never missed a meeting, and only months before his death at 93 in 2009, surprised them all by tabling his original Fishermen’s Wharf, San Francisco speech from 1971.
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  Papua New Guinea and clouds with hard centres


  Training grounds don’t come any harder


  In contrast to the vast open spaces and long distances of Australia, the island immediately to our north presents a whole different dimension when it comes to the challenges and opportunities for the development of aviation.


  Papua New Guinea represents a flying experience of a totally different kind and for that reason alone has cast a continuous spell over Australian aviation, not only in the respect afforded to its early air pioneers, but as a training ground for whole generations of Australian airmen.


  Thousands of kilometres and at the end of the earth from the popularly regarded world centres of air transport in the northern hemisphere, in the early years of the twentieth century Papua New Guinea created records of its own in freight uplift under flying conditions which would have turned the hair of the average aviator in most other parts of the globe.


  The discovery of gold deposits in the Bulolo Valley in the mountains west of Lae in the 1920s started it all. There was no doubting the phenomenal richness of the finds. The problem was how to get the gold out. Papua New Guinea is a country made up of more than 600 islands, atolls and reefs with a cordillera of mountains, the Owen Stanley Ranges, bisecting the entire length of its mainland. There are numerous high peaks along the Owen Stanley Ranges, with the highest reaching almost 15 000 feet, matched on the country’s eastern side by peaks up to 13 500 feet on the Finisterre and Saruwaged ranges. Between these towering ridges are a series of rich highland valleys, themselves often four or five thousand feet above sea level. Bulolo was one such valley and Guinea Airways was the Guinea Gold company’s answer to its transport problem.


  Until early in 1927 the only means of communication with the coast was by the use of native carriers over a 56-kilometre journey into the mountains from Lae, which took ten days, through a combination of thick jungle, numerous treacherous stream crossings and over three different places where the ranges climbed to 4000 feet. As if the terrain wasn’t hardship enough, unfriendly tribes along the way often lay in ambush of those intruding into their territory.


  Then there were the poor economics. A carrier’s load was usually around 22.6 kilos, which would include his own food for the ten-day journey, so by the time he reached his destination half his load was consumed. Added to that were the recruiters’ fees and the native wages, making it an expensive exercise, perhaps best illustrated by the fact that the staple native diet purchased at Salamaua, the starting point on the coast, at ten pounds per tonne, translated to a hundred pounds per tonne at the goldfields.


  From the first Guinea Airways flight into a makeshift aerodrome at Wau in March 1927, the whole concept of transport in New Guinea changed to the aeroplane. For a time in the years that followed, into the 1930s, Guinea Airways would become the largest air transport operator in the world, carrying more freight by air than the rest of the world’s airlines put together.


  And human passengers and supplies were only something of a by-product as their tri-motor Junkers aircraft carried everything from cars, tractors, horses and even a piano. Their main achievement, from the mining point of view, was the transport, piece by piece, of the giant steel dredges, as well as a hydroelectric plant of several thousand horsepower into the goldfields.


  Manoeuvring heavy, cumbersome dredge components into the restricted confines of any normal aeroplane’s fuselage appeared to be an insurmountable problem until the design engineers at the Junkers came up with the solution. They offered to adapt their G-31, three-engine machine used by the national airline, Lufthansa, to carry passengers, into a pure freighter aircraft with the ability to load the largest and heaviest items via crane through a massive hatch in its roof. What was to follow made aviation history as the Junkers carried 2500 tonnes of dredging machinery into Wau in the twelve months between April 1931 and March 1932. In all, eight dredges were carried into the fields by air.


  Their destination, Wau aerodrome, would create something of a template for airfields which were to open Papua New Guinea to future commerce and industry. The aerodrome was a grass strip with a slope of one foot in twelve at the foot of a mountain, so all landings had to be made uphill and take-offs downhill. Wind indicators were therefore unnecessary as there were no other runway directional options for a pilot to choose from. Despite the steep incline some pilots regarded it as easier to land on than a normal, level aerodrome. They simply flew straight at the lower end and the slope did the rest.


  However, in those days before radio communications, as more and more aircraft began to operate into Wau, it became apparent that some form of traffic control was necessary, if only to prevent arriving aircraft from clashing with another aircraft taxiing up the slope to take off. Thus a large venetian shutter was established as a signalling device at the top end of the airfield, allowing a lever to be operated which showed either a green or a white surface when viewed from the lower end of the aerodrome. When an aircraft was on approach the surface would be thrown to white, signifying no aircraft on the ground was to taxi up the slope or attempt to take off until the landing aircraft had touched down and the board display thrown to green.


  Papua New Guinea’s earlier pioneering pilots, like Pard Mustar and Ian Grabowski, took all this in their stride. They would be followed by others who would also test their skill and judgement on a daily basis because, in the case of New Guinea, the lack of either attribute offered no second chance.


  There were certain rules that had to be followed because flying through valleys with steep-sided mountains on either side required visual reference with the ground. It was not enough to be confident that you knew your way through a cloud-covered mountain pass into another valley. If you were in any doubt you turned back, because rising ground beyond the mist often outpaced the aircraft’s ability to climb over it. Either way, flying through cloud was a risk not worth taking as too many of them had what pilots cynically referred to as ‘hard centres’.


  Despite the dangers there were some who saw the value of the New Guinea experience and who ventured north from Australia to earn a living through establishing their own aviation organisations or simply to gain experience in a unique aviation environment. Laurie Crowley was one of them, perhaps typical of a brand of aviation pioneer who, despite the challenges of climate and terrain and a constant battle with bureaucracy, went on to establish a successful aviation business along with passing on his hard-won flying experience to others.


  Crowley had seen wartime service as a mechanic with the RAAF No 458 Squadron, working on Wellington bombers and US Air Force Liberators in England, North Africa, Suez, Malta, Italy and Gibraltar. He came back from the war looking for an opportunity to fly but had to contend with hundreds of already qualified wartime pilots with the same idea. So he gained his private pilot’s licence in Sydney in 1946 and went off to Coffs Harbour to work as a mechanic with New England Airways. While he was having lunch one day in 1948 an aviation entrepreneur named Sam Jamieson landed at Coffs airport. Jamieson’s Avro Anson had a mechanical problem and he asked Crowley to help him fix it.


  Jamieson was so impressed with Crowley he asked what he was earning.


  ‘Six pounds six shillings a week,’ said Crowley.


  ‘How would you like to come to New Guinea for double that, a free house and no tax?’


  ‘I’ll take it,’ was Crowley’s reply, and he went to work for Jamieson’s Guinea Air Traders in Sydney. At the time Jamieson’s company was involved in flying migrants from Europe to Australia, although as Crowley would describe with his own brand of humour years later, it was hardly a tourist trip.


  They’d put them on a plane in Rome or London and let ’em out at Mascot. They used to tell us if they’d let them out anywhere else they mightn’t have got ’em back!


  A few months later, in October 1948, Crowley left for Lae, Papua New Guinea only to find that Jamieson’s promised house didn’t exist, but after drowning his sorrows overnight at Lae’s Cecil Hotel he decided to stay on anyway. Crowley had an assortment of aircraft to work on—everything from Avro Ansons to de Havilland Dragons, Fox Moths and Austers—once tongue-in-cheek summing up their fleet as: ‘A total of 37 aircraft in all—three DC-3s and one of everything else!’


  It didn’t take Crowley long to deduce that aviation in Papua New Guinea was something of a ‘closed shop’. From the very early days he saw signs that, with government-owned Qantas already operating there, anyone else was not particularly welcome. He’d only been there a matter of weeks when he experienced some summary bureaucracy firsthand when a Department of Civil Aviation engineering surveyor arrived one morning to inspect the five Ansons in the fleet. The Ansons were wooden aircraft with a three-ply floor and Crowley looked on in dismay as the surveyor pushed his foot through the floor of the first one then continued to do the same to the other four.


  ‘Then he announced he wanted them all burnt. I said, “Okay, I’ll get around to that.”’


  ‘I want it done now.’


  ‘So we had to burn all five of them on the spot. There wasn’t much doubt DCA was running the country.’


  For Crowley it would be the opening round in a lifetime battle with aviation bureaucracy, and one he would have to use all his determination and guile to win.


  With restrictions on the number of times per month any other operator was permitted to fly into an airfield if Qantas was already flying there, and overwhelmed by a mountain of regulatory paperwork, Jamieson finally gave up and five months later flew his aircraft out, never to return. Crowley, by now with a commercial pilot’s licence, stayed on, bought a half-share in a two-seat Tiger Moth with another local, Ray Stockden, and established his own charter operation. Never one to let the normal carrying capacity of the Tiger Moth restrict his passenger load, Crowley was often seen cramming more than one passenger into the Moth’s single-front cockpit.


  The late 1940s were a time of a burgeoning aviation industry in Papua New Guinea. The war had opened and upgraded many of the airstrips in the country’s major centres and had proved beyond doubt the value of the aeroplane in a land where there were no roads and certainly none providing access to the agriculture-rich highlands. In fact, it would be almost another twenty years before an all-weather road would be carved through the Kassam Pass between coastal Lae and Goroka and the Highlands beyond.


  Administratively the country was divided into two parts, with northern New Guinea as a Trust Territory of the United Nations and the southern section, Papua, under Australian Trust. Both would later be joined and administered by Australia as the Territory of Papua New Guinea.


  In aviation terms, Australia’s Department of Civil Aviation held responsibility for operational and safety standards in the air and for the provision of facilities such as airports and air-traffic control. Night flying was banned due to the mountainous terrain and there was little doubt that in the daytime it was government-backed Qantas which was favoured. Smaller operators, like Crowley and Gibbes Sepik Airways—started by Second World War fighter ace Bobby Gibbes at Goroka and Wewak—were regarded as interlopers.


  ‘This was an Australian government show and if Qantas was king then DCA was God,’ recalls Crowley.


  There was plenty of business for all, however, provided you were quick enough. Scores of small village centres in the higher valleys, most under the administration of patrol officers, or kiaps as they were known in the local pidgin-English vernacular, not only needed trade goods, building materials and anything else required to make an ‘out station’ function, but were a vital source of vegetables and other produce to feed the increasing populations of coastal towns like Lae, Madang and Wewak. Highland coffee plantations also needed some way of getting their valuable commodity to the coast for shipment. It was all charter work and Crowley had no hesitation in exploiting his main opposition’s heavy government oversight.


  ‘By the time the Qantas fellows filled out all the paperwork I’d been in and out of Boana several times that morning,’ he says.


  When onerous government regulations forbade the transport of fuel by air, vital for outstations, Crowley flew it in anyway.


  The Boana he spoke of was a postage stamp of an airstrip nestled at 2800 feet on the edge of the Saruwaged Ranges to the north-west of Lae. Here Crowley had established his own coffee-storage facility and commanded the bulk of the produce for transport to Lae, in those days New Guinea’s aviation hub. Surrounded by high ground the Boana airstrip was short and had a steep gradient, but provided you took off in the uphill direction you could handle it in most weather. Years later, after the business had developed, Crowley would use Boana as a training ground for the pilots who would fly for him. He’d fly in with them first to check them out, then he’d give them as many trips into and out of Boana as they could handle in daylight hours before he allowed them to graduate to other more dangerous airstrips.


  By the 1950s, with his Canadian-born wife, Betty, handling the paperwork and keeping their Lae hangar functioning, Crowley had worn out two Tiger Moths and replaced them with others, but the operation was existing on the proverbial wing and a prayer. At times Crowley was even struggling to pay for his fuel, but luckily for him he had a friend called Pappy Duff who drove the refuelling tanker for Vacuum Oil in Lae.


  ‘Pappy would turn up at the end of the day and tell me he had some left in the tank and we’d drain it out.’


  To replace the tired Tiger Moths he purchased a Curtiss Robin in Sydney with Stockden and he remembers having one shilling and sixpence between them when they arrived in Cairns. After sleeping under the Robin’s wing at Cairns airport they slipped into Cairns’ Great Northern Hotel for a shower where they had the good fortune to bump into an old Qantas mate of Crowley’s who loaned them money to buy enough fuel to reach Lae.


  As the business developed Crowley bought Stockden out, selling him one of the Tiger Moths, which Stockden used to fly himself around the Territory. One morning not long afterwards word spread around Lae’s small aviation community that Stockden had failed to return from a flight in the Moth to an airstrip on the edge of the mountains, to the south-west. A search was quickly organised and for hours aircraft with spotters on board crisscrossed the area they thought Stockden might have traversed, with no luck. Late in the afternoon Stockden walked into the Cecil Hotel, surprised to find the bar deserted.


  ‘Where is everyone?’ he asked the barman.


  ‘They’re out looking for you, you silly bastard,’ was the reply.


  Stockden, it transpired, had crashed into trees while making a landing approach, walked out to the coast, borrowed a canoe and rowed back to Lae.


  Crashes were commonplace and Crowley, too, had his own close brushes with disaster. Taking off from Boana in the rain one day he was forced to poke his head outside the window of the Robin to see his way when a slab of mud hit him in the eye. Unable to see he felt the Robin lurch as its wheels struck mud and with a sheer cliff drop off at the end of the runway ahead he decided to jump.


  ‘Trouble is I’d forgotten I had the seat belt on so I ended up back in the cockpit!’


  He attempted to ground loop the Robin but it was all too late and over the cliff they went. Fortunately, however, the Robin’s engine snagged on a large tree 800 feet over the cliff edge and the aircraft stopped abruptly, although Crowley, still attached to his seat by his seat belt, finished up a little further down the cliff face.


  By the time he’d climbed back to the strip natives had a rope attached to the Robin and were hauling it by its tail back up onto the airfield. The only damage was a bent wheel strut so he stayed the night at the missionary’s house trying numerous times to reach DCA by radio to tell them what had happened, but such were communications it was to no avail. The only person who could hear him was his wife, Betty, in Lae. Relieved he was still alive, she rang DCA for him.


  Crowley was typical of such operators in Papua New Guinea in those days, as pushing the risk boundaries was often the only way the system worked. Once Crowley was asked to fly to an isolated strip inland from Wewak to bring out a pilot who had broken an undercarriage on landing. When he arrived Crowley discovered the pilot had a passenger so there were now two people to fly out. Since it was only a relatively short distance and Crowley only had two seats on his biplane he suggested the other pilot do the flying, with the passenger in the spare seat. Crowley came out sitting on the wing. Had the authorities been aware of it the consequences might have been dire, but Crowley would always claim that under the circumstances which then prevailed, nothing would be going anywhere if you stuck to the rules.


  Since the proper loading of an aircraft is essential for safe flight and because often no one had any equipment to weigh a load before take-off, even ‘human’ cargo needed to be evaluated by guesswork. To overcome this lack of accurate weighing equipment but still be sure his aircraft was not too far overloaded to take off, Crowley often had to improvise. Judging his loads out of places like Gusap, in the Markham Valley, was one such example.


  When the aircraft was ready to be loaded with local natives to be flown to Lae, Crowley would line them up in single file. He’d done his sums on average passenger weights so once the line stretched 25 metres he had his load. Those beyond that mark had to wait for the next trip. Under such circumstances an adequate number of seat belts might be something of a luxury so a cargo net would be strapped tightly over those who’d missed out.


  Because of his regular charters to fly his own coffee and the increasing need for fresh vegetables for coastal centres, a select number of airstrips saw Crowley aircraft operate almost nonstop service daily. Of these, Boana would remain the major hub of Crowley’s activities as his fleet of aircraft expanded into high-wing Cessna 170s, 172s and 205s along with a twin-engine Piper Aztec. Merely halfway through his time in New Guinea his logbook showed he had notched up more than 6000 return trips from Lae to Boana.


  At one point it was so busy the business people there decided a fare increase was required, a request aviation companies rarely see suggested by the public itself, although Boana’s telegram to Betty Crowley calling for the fare increase included a quaint example of Papua New Guinean vernacular:


  ‘Up here there are too many passengers. Please send too many planes.’


  In the mountains beyond Boana, however, other airstrips in the region had their own operational challenges to overcome. Those who flew with Crowley in later years were always only too well aware of the difficulties he needed to overcome in his early days of flying by the seat of his pants.


  Dave Wiltshire, who joined Crowley in 1963 after gaining his commercial licence in Australia and would go on to become the chief pilot at TAA (Trans Australian Airlines) and later hold senior operational positions after the airline merged with Qantas, still speaks in awe of Crowley’s valuable transfer of his flying knowledge to his pilots. By the time he left Crowley to join TAA, Wiltshire had what is known in New Guinea aviation parlance as an ‘all over endorsement’, which brought with it the ability to fly into many of the most challenging and potentially dangerous strips in the world. Ironically, Wiltshire would be subsequently posted back to New Guinea with TAA to fly DC-3s, Fokker Friendships and eventually de Havilland Twin Otters out of the strips Crowley had introduced him to years before.


  To achieve competence, pilots like Wiltshire operated under Australian Air Navigation Order (ANO) 28, which prescribed certain training must be carried out over a particular route or airfield. The amount of familiarisation necessary altered according to the degree of difficulty presented by the particular airstrip, but as a general rule of thumb, up to five landings and take-offs could be needed for a pilot to be checked out at a new airfield. On most occasions three ‘good ones’ out of the five were sufficient.


  Papua New Guinea’s mountainous terrain, inaccurate maps, variable weather conditions, including the build-up of clouds on the ranges as the day wore on, lack of radio navigation aids, and short, steep, high-altitude airstrips meant that having someone of Crowley’s experience as your tutor could not only be immensely valuable but keep a pilot alive as well. You also needed to know the gaps, the valley structures and, critically, to always have the opportunity to turn back if necessary.


  Gap flying—the ability to fly through depressions in the ranges and into the next valley—is vitally important to the New Guinea pilot. Just knowing which gap you were approaching and the height at which it was safe to fly through was not enough. Wiltshire learned that early on when he pulled out a map as he asked Crowley the height of the gap ahead.


  ‘Throw the bloody map away and look out the window. The map’s sure to be wrong,’ instructed Crowley.


  To ensure you had sufficient altitude to clear the gap you focused your attention on the terrain on the other side of the gap you were flying towards. If landmarks such as timber on the other side grew in height as you approached, you were okay. If they stayed at the same height then you were at the bottom of the gap, worse if they grew smaller, which meant you were below the gap. Other techniques included flying parallel with the ridgeline and across the face of the gap to provide a sneak look at weather conditions on the other side before attempting to cross.


  It didn’t matter whether you were flying a Cessna or an airline DC-3, valley flying also required terrain experience beyond map reading. To fly between Mount Hagen, the main centre in the Western Highlands, to Goroka, in the Eastern Highlands, you would fly first along the 1524-metre-high Wahgi Valley until you reached Chimbu. But if the cloud ahead was down low enough to close the gaps across into the Goroka Valley you would turn right down the Mai River valley and follow the Asaro and Bena Bena river valleys until it was clear enough to fly back into the Goroka Valley from the south.


  But it was the little strips like Kiantiba, south-west of Lae on the slopes of the Owen Stanley Ranges, where the real challenges lay. On the side of a mountain, it was short with a gradient of one in five, or 20 per cent, so steep that once the aircraft had finished its landing run it had to be turned sideways and have the wheels chocked to stop it sliding back down the airstrip. And if that wasn’t enough, up until the early 1960s one of its prominent features was a large 1.5-metre-high boulder halfway up the right-hand side of Kiantiba’s grass runway, perfectly placed to take the wing off any low-wing aircraft which attempted to land there.


  For some time Wiltshire and other Crowley pilots were therefore required to operate the high-wing Cessnas into the strip until something could be done about the rock. In late 1963 the Commonwealth Department of Works’ New Guinea arm agreed to allocate 9000 pounds to the task of removing the rock. Presumably an assortment of heavy equipment would somehow have to be flown in to achieve it. When he heard of the budget allocation, the patrol officer at Kiantiba immediately suggested to his boss, the district commissioner in Lae, that he’d do the job for 1900 pounds. It was well known at the time that the relationship between the district commissioner and the patrol officer at Kiantiba was somewhat strained, so it came as a surprise when approval came for the kiap to go ahead. Indeed, given the size of the rock in question and the limited tools available at Kiantiba, there were those in Lae who wondered whether the district commissioner was setting his man up for a fall.


  A short time later the district commissioner landed at Kiantiba on one of his scheduled visits to find the rock was no longer there. Given the delicate nature of their relationship, the district commissioner was at first reluctant to ask how the massive edifice had been removed, but it finally became too much for him and he asked the question. As it turned out, it hadn’t been all that difficult after all.


  Rounding up a team of Kukukuku tribesmen, the patrol officer had employed them for some days digging a large hole into the slope below the rock, while at the same time gradually shoring up the rock with timber. When the hole was deep enough they simply removed the timber, rolled the rock into it and covered it up.


  While Wiltshire was impressed with the patrol officer’s initiative in removing the rock there were times when he was less enamoured with his methodology in other pursuits. Asked to make a supply drop to one of the kiap’s patrols out in the bush, Wiltshire removed the side door of his Cessna 172, loaded the essential bags of rice and other vital provisions and set off with the kiap to locate the patrol. Wiltshire followed his passenger’s directions to an area midway between Kiantiba and Menyamya. Soon they were above the patrol and Wiltshire banked the Cessna into a turn to ensure the cargo was dropped right on the target clearing, only to look sideways to see the patrol officer, his seatbelt unfastened, standing outside the Cessna with one foot on the cabin floor and the other on the aircraft’s undercarriage, raking the bags of rice out over the side. Normally a chap of quiet disposition, Wiltshire launched into a range of expletives until his passenger was once again inside the Cessna.


  Crowley tells of a similar experience when an Australian army officer chartered him to drop food and water to an army unit on top of a mountain at Mambare, near Popondetta. Since any water container, no matter how it was packaged, would be expected to shatter on impact, everything had been packed in sandbags. When one of the sandbags snagged on the undercarriage leg Crowley said: ‘Hold on, I’ll circle a bit and we’ll think about what we do next.’


  In the middle of a climbing turn to gain height, he looked around to see the army man sitting out on the wheel of the Cessna trying to slit open the bag with a pocket knife.


  In addition to Kiantiba, airstrips at Kabwum and Pindiu in the Morobe District were also places which called for individual procedures. To handle Kabwum, just over 4000 feet at the far end of a valley on the northern slopes of the Finisterres, Crowley would instruct his trainee to fly past the entrance to the valley at around 3800 feet and once abeam the strip ask how high above the strip he thought they were. Invariably the trainee would estimate they were above the strip only to be given the news that they were actually 400 feet below the runway threshold.


  At Kabwum, as at Kiantiba, a chunk of rock would play a part, although this time in a more positive role. Operating out of Wasu, on the coast north of Lae, where much of the freight for places like Kabwum would be shipped by sea, the technique was to climb to an altitude of 4800 feet, the level of a large rock jutting from the mountainside on the northern side of the approach to the valley. Since trying to judge your height on approach above the sloping Kabwum Valley was extremely difficult, passing that rock with your wingtip exactly level with it meant you were 400 feet above Kabwum’s runway threshold.


  Even then care had to be exercised as strong headwinds could create perilous downdrafts near the end of the strip. Once on approach, however, you were committed to land as rising ground at the other end of the field meant a ‘go around’ was out of the question. The instant the wheels touched the grass full power was needed to reach the top of the airstrip. There, once again, the aircraft was turned sideways to prevent it from sliding back down the slope. Take-off was another character-building adventure for the uninitiated as when full power was applied you were committed to continue due to the steep downhill gradient.


  While a rock was important at Kabwum, at Pindiu, 56 kilometres east-north-east of Lae, it was banana trees. At over 3000 feet of altitude, Pindiu’s strip was short with a rise in the middle and, as usual, cut into the mountainside. Again, due to rising ground beyond, a missed approach was not an option. To ensure you were at the right height on approach you needed to pass level with a small banana plantation on the side of the valley’s ridgeline about 731 metres from the end of the strip.


  But at least later pilots like Wiltshire had the advantage of Crowley’s experience. In his very early days of flying to such places Crowley had to learn for himself. One method he adopted was, once he’d managed his first successful landing on the strip, to climb away and memorise any significant landmark and its height above the airstrip he had just left, thus providing him with a point-of-height reference he could use in the future. What that first landing must have felt like hardly bears thinking about.


  By the mid-1960s Crowley Airways had expanded beyond fixed-wing aircraft and had helicopters in its fleet, but problems were on the horizon. When TAA and Ansett took over from Qantas in the early 1960s and both launched their own small aircraft operations, Crowley was convinced that they, along with DCA, were trying to run him and other smaller charter operators out of business. Along with increasing demands for paperwork and still more rules and regulations, came other often bizarre, and costly, requirements. Since starting his venture, Crowley had operated out of an old Second World War hangar at one end of the Lae airfield. When a Royal Visit was due to pass through Lae, local authorities declared it too much of an eyesore for the Royal Flight to taxi past and forced him to pull it down—at his own expense.


  In 1961 Crowley branched out into a charter service in the Solomon Islands which would become Megapode Airways and, eventually, today’s government-owned Solomon Islands Airlines, but by the early 1970s he’d come to realise that his style of aviation was no longer worth the time involved in responding to the prodigious paperwork officialdom was demanding and he sold out and retired, first to the Gold Coast where he owned a flying school and became a Cessna distributor. In later years he moved to the family property near Junee.


  Until shortly before his death aged 93 in 2012, he still worked the tractor on the farm and kept a Cessna in the shed.


  ‘I’ve been too busy to renew my licence,’ he says, with a mischievous grin.


  Crowley himself would be the first to admit that he has been only part of the story of flying in New Guinea in those early days, although the Papua New Guinea government obviously considered his part significant enough to appoint him an Officer of the Order of the Logohu, the equivalent of the OBE, in the 2006 Queen’s Birthday honours.


  His contribution to aviation in the Solomon Islands was also recognised in 2012 when Solomon Airlines, the successor to Megapode Airways, invited Crowley and his family to the 50th anniversary of the founding of the original airline. Crowley took a break from his tractor and rounding up the sheep to attend.


  Turn the pages of a thousand pilot log books in Australia and behind the brevity of the Papua New Guinea entries you will find unique flying experiences often unmatched anywhere else in the world. Bobby Gibbes, who founded Gibbes Sepik Airways, found himself battling the same difficult flying conditions and bureaucratic roadblocks as Crowley, although the former highly decorated fighter ace was never reluctant to go over the heads of local PNG officialdom.


  Gibbes had decided that the Norseman high-wing monoplane would be ideal for charter work in New Guinea and was a far better all-round performer than the cargo-limited de Havilland Dragons and Fox Moth, then operating throughout the country. But when he applied to DCA to introduce the aircraft they knocked him back, so Gibbes took his case to his former RAAF compatriot, Air Marshall Sir Richard Williams, fortuitously now Director General of Civil Aviation, and got his way. It didn’t win Gibbes any friends in DCA, but the Norseman proved an ideal aircraft for New Guinea operations.


  Gibbes and his pilots provided invaluable support for government patrols and outstations and faced the same challenges with weather and terrain as Crowley’s people. Air drops were often a daily requirement and although there appear to be no recorded incidents of anyone standing outside the cabin on the wheel of a Gibbes aircraft, some of their experiences were no less spectacular.


  One of Gibbes’ pilots, Canadian-born Ken Davenport, arrived in Australia in the mid-1950s looking for a job but found nothing on offer with any of the airlines. Someone suggested he try in Papua New Guinea.


  ‘Where’s that?’ asked Davenport.


  He soon found out after Gibbes gave him a job flying Junkers JU-52s and Norsemans. Davenport vividly recalls one charter requiring the delivery of a 226-kilo roller into Simbai in the Western Highlands where the Administration was building an airstrip. Davenport remembers the three-engine JU-52 as a good aircraft for airdrops as it allowed you to fly slow at 65 knots over the drop area, certainly an advantage when trying to find a small clearing in the jungle.


  Pinpointing the area that morning Davenport slipped down the valley, made the drop and was on his way home when the leader of the airstrip construction team on the ground called to ask when they were arriving.


  ‘We’ve been. It’s already there,’ said Davenport.


  Unfortunately they’d dropped it in the wrong valley.


  ‘Knowing that sort of country, it’s probably still there,’ says Davenport with a grin.


  Like Crowley was to Wiltshire, Davenport had a valuable mentor in Peter Manser, another of Gibbes’ more experienced pilots, who helped him with the essentials for staying alive in the New Guinea aviation environment. When Davenport needed to be checked out for flying into Green River, a difficult airstrip in the mountains west of Wewak, Manser said to follow him in with the second aircraft.


  ‘Before we set out he gave me some strict instructions. If it got too tough, I was to turn back immediately.’


  As they flew on the visual conditions became worse but Davenport stuck close to Manser’s aircraft as he weaved in and out of the cloud formations. Finally he watched as Manser sideslipped down through a hole in the clouds and disappeared. Davenport, his nerves tingling, had no option but to follow him down. And sure enough, there was Green River. After they landed Manser took Davenport to task: ‘I thought I told you to turn back if it got worse.’


  ‘I would have, but didn’t know where “back” was,’ replied a relieved Davenport.


  After two years dodging hills in the Territory, Davenport joined Qantas where he stayed for 36 years, finally becoming the airline’s director of flight operations and chief pilot. Peter Manser would have a long career in Papua New Guinea, later as a captain with Ansett-Mandated Airlines.


  Numerous other Qantas captains won their aviation spurs in Papua New Guinea. Qantas veteran, Alan Terrell, gained his command experience there in the 1950s flying Qantas Catalinas and a de Havilland Beaver floatplane. Operating flying boats might have been far removed from the mountainous, short-strip environment in which other light aircraft operated, but the dangers were still there, just of a different variety.


  Terrell’s early work on the single-engine Beaver floatplane was largely in support of search operations by oil companies drilling in the Papuan Delta, an area renowned for poor flying weather in the wet season. One of his tasks was to fly personnel and supplies to an oil-survey station at Omati, located about 24 kilometres upriver from the Gulf. All the rivers in that part of the Gulf are covered in mangrove swamps, which could grow to a height of a hundred feet on either side, and since cloud usually didn’t get down as far as the river in the wet season but settled down to the tops of the trees, the technique was to enter from the river mouth, get below the cloud level and fly a few feet above the water.


  Provided you concentrated hard and kept your wits about you, the technique didn’t present much of a problem until one morning when Terrell rounded a bend in the river and his windscreen suddenly filled with a large coastal ship steaming downstream straight at him. With the possibility of cloud-covered hills on either side he had no option but to wrench the Beaver into a steep climb and fly back to the coast, wait for the vessel to exit the river and start the process over again.


  By late in 1956 Terrell had graduated to first officer on Catalinas Qantas and was operating out of Port Moresby to coastal settlements and the lake systems in Papua New Guinea’s interior. With their long range and versatility, the Catalinas fulfilled a wide range of aviation tasks in the territory, often including search and rescue.


  Early in October 1956 round-the-world yachtsman, Danny Weil was towed into Port Moresby’s Fairfax Harbour after his 12-metre yacht, Yasma, was damaged in a storm. Weil, born in England but living in the United States, was an experienced sailor who had volunteered to undertake the trip on behalf of ham radio operators with the aim of encouraging the establishment of ham radio stations on remote islands to join the thousands of other ham operators as part of a world network.


  With repairs completed Weil was due to leave Port Moresby on 24 October when Terrell and Qantas captain, Phil Oakley, bumped into him at the Papua Club and asked him about his sailing plans. Weil said his next stage would be from Port Moresby across the Papuan Gulf to Daru, approximately 240 nautical miles to the west.


  When Terrell asked him what route he was taking Weil replied: ‘Straight across.’


  Oakley, who had flown his Catalina over the Gulf numerous times, offered: ‘Don’t forget, there are various reefs right in the middle of that area. If you’re sailing a direct track you’ll run right onto them.’


  ‘Don’t worry. I’ll never go on a reef,’ was Weil’s supremely confident reply.


  Early on the morning of 25 October Weil had done just that and was sending out mayday signals for assistance. Oakley and Terrell took off before first light that morning and found the Yasma high and dry on Portlock Reefs, in the middle of the Gulf, its hull holed but otherwise appearing in reasonable shape. Advised that a Lincoln bomber from the RAAF’s 10 Squadron at Townsville was on its way and would drop a dinghy, the two pilots circled over the Yasma for a time but, running low on fuel, returned to Port Moresby.


  Weil subsequently managed to retrieve the dinghy dropped by the Lincoln but soon after Oakley and Terrell had landed back at Moresby, radio transmissions from the Yasma became increasingly hysterical. The sea was rising and Weil had taken to the dinghy. Since both men had exceeded their flying hours, another Qantas captain, Marsh Burgess, would take a Catalina out to see what could be done. Terrell volunteered to go along as a passenger to see if he could help. He was about to experience a flying lesson, Papua New Guinea style.


  An hour and a half later they were over the reef once more, but it was now completely submerged and there was no sign of the Yasma. Danny Weil was in the dinghy and despite throwing out a sea anchor, was being blown rapidly away to the west in very rough seas. It didn’t take long to sum up the situation. The first problem was there were no ships in that part of the Gulf and if something wasn’t done soon it would be too late for Weil. The second problem was the ability of the Catalina to handle a landing with such a sea running.


  Terrell knew only too well that the Qantas Catalinas were by now a far cry from the wartime new aircraft and although their hulls were still relatively solid, they had deteriorated rapidly over the intervening years. If things went pear-shaped they could all end up in the same predicament as Weil.


  Terrell watched in awe as Burgess, who had flown Catalinas during the war, barely hesitated. He made three approaches near the reef but found the area too rough and dangerous to land, with large ocean swells, up to four or five metres’ high, coming around both sides of the reef. Instead he chose a long, lower swell about 731 metres away and despite a hefty southeasterly crosswind he rode the swell by stalling the aircraft onto the water at around 50 knots.


  ‘There were several loud bangs but it was a copybook landing under extremely difficult conditions,’ Terrell recounted years later.


  In a further example of exceptional seamanship Burgess, despite having to shut down the aircraft’s port engine or run the risk of decapitating Weil, manoeuvred the Cat, buffeted by wind and sea, close enough to bring the dinghy alongside the open ‘blister’ on the Catalina’s fuselage so they could drag him aboard.


  Terrell helped pull him in and couldn’t believe the first words Weil uttered.


  ‘Where have you been? You’ve been a bloody long time.’


  ‘We were inclined to push the bugger straight back in,’ said Terrell later. ‘However, we didn’t, but he offered us no thanks for rescuing him so we set him down on the floor and took no further notice of him.’


  It wasn’t over yet. Once Burgess had the port engine going again he had to consider the take-off, which would have to be along a 1.8-metre swell with a crosswind causing the waves to break at about a metre, but with consummate skill and three hefty bounces the Catalina broke free and they set course for home. Terrell later described Burgess’ airmanship as among the best he would ever witness.


  Back in Port Moresby Qantas ground engineers replaced some rivets in the Catalina’s hull and several months later Marsh Burgess was awarded a certificate by the Royal Humane Society for his efforts. Danny Weil later became a US citizen and something of a celebrity in the ham radio world for his round-the-world expedition. He died in San Antonio, Texas in 2003.


  Along with their oil-search support role, the Catalinas and their crews created a lifeline for those living on Papua New Guinea’s isolated coastal communities. Lack of any road links even to the major centres in their own regions meant that the Catalinas and the irregular coastal shipping vessels were their only transport connection with the outside world. They flew in everything from foodstuffs to building equipment, flew out sick children and injured plantation workers to hospitals in Port Moresby and Lae, and, as in the case of Danny Weil, even rescued errant yachtsmen at sea.


  Similar to those who flew to mountain redoubts in the middle of the island, those at outstations knew all the crews personally and many became good friends. There was always a cup of tea and refreshments waiting, although Terrell remembers at least one occasion where the bonds of hospitality had to be stretched somewhat.


  With the massive amount of flying involved, engine failures became a fact of life and one came Terrell’s way just as he landed at Kandrian on the south coast of the island of New Britain. A cursory check revealed this would not be a quick fix, such as flying in an engineer from Lae, almost 321 kilometres away. On this occasion a new engine would be needed and, since there were no land strips in that part of New Britain, the engine and the engineers to install it would have to be sent over by boat.


  I had about twenty passengers and it wasn’t long before we were having a pretty poor effect on the eating arrangements at Kandrian, where the normal population amounted to the patrol officer, his wife and their two children, so, 24 or so people arriving with no food or drink was a bit of a shock.


  Qantas put on a couple of DC-3 flights and they dropped supplies to us in a clearing just above the administrator’s compound and it was certainly nice to get fresh fruit and vegetables and the like.


  Terrell, his crew and the passengers were there for almost a week while the engine was changed and pronounced serviceable. Most were forced to sleep in a nearby copra shed while the local laundry staff performed miracles with their clothing ‘essentials’, although Terrell confesses it wasn’t all hardship.


  One of our passengers was a scrap-metal merchant who was looking for sunken wartime Japanese shipping wrecks and was great company, so by the time we retired each evening we were feeling no pain, although he would never tell us where the warm Japanese beer was coming from!


  Before leaving Terrell decided to use a largely unnecessary ‘test flight’ as an excuse for inviting the patrol officer, his family and some of the local natives on board as a thankyou for their hospitality.


  ‘It was a great hit. For several of them it was their first aeroplane ride.’


  By late 1958 the Qantas Catalinas were approaching their final days in Papua New Guinea. Terrill admits that as wartime veterans they were no longer young aeroplanes.


  ‘You could put your finger through bits of the hull and flying through a New Guinea rainstorm the water just poured in.’


  He remembers once remarking to his first officer as they both became progressively saturated: ‘I think the only way we’re going to stay dry is if we turn this damn thing upside down!’


  Alan Terrell would spend his entire career with Qantas, become Qantas’ chief pilot in the Boeing 747 era and, ironically, Ken Davenport’s boss.


  Like Terrell, Fred Fox, another Qantas captain, also figured in a dramatic air-sea rescue when the crew of a Department of Civil Aviation de Havilland Drover was forced to ditch in the Bismarck Sea in April 1952 after a propeller blade came adrift and hit the fuselage, badly injuring the DCA pilot, Clarrie Hibbert. Just after that the Drover’s two remaining engines failed and Tom Drury, another pilot on board, took over and landed the Drover on the sea. After a searching DC-3 located their dinghy, Fox and his Qantas copilot, Ian Ralphe, flew to the scene, landed on the open sea and took the three in the dinghy on board their Catalina and back to Port Moresby, where Hibbert recovered in hospital.


  Along with a talent for open sea landings, Fred Fox would record what he believed to be the first aerial delivery of poultry from an aircraft, an experience he would later relate in his own words to another Qantas operations colleague, Greg Banfield.


  It all started when Fox flew into Lake Kutubu with a government patrol, soon to be assigned to establish a post in a remote area of the Papua New Guinea highlands.


  They wanted some chickens to stock the post, to help provide a food supply. As it turned out the patrol officers had a big rooster which crowed early in the morning and woke them all up, so they told us to practise on him. If the air drop worked they would be very pleased. If it didn’t they would have him for dinner.


  ‘Chooks are not very smart birds,’ Fox acknowledged, revealing he had obviously studied the flight characteristics of various birds, at least to some extent.


  Unlike pigeons they will not open their wings until they have slowed down. So we decided to wrap our rooster in a double sheet of the Sydney Morning Herald newspaper, not tightly but just to put around him so he couldn’t see, and then put another sheet around that.


  When dropped from the aircraft the paper would all blow off in a very short time but it would slow him down.


  And that is exactly what happened. The rooster slowed down and then glided to the ground with no problem. ‘So we then did the same with more hens and roosters, dropping them in on the station as it was formed.’


  Like scores of other Australian aviators over the years, Fred Fox and his compatriots would regard the time they spent in New Guinea as an incomparable flying experience. As Fox would attest: ‘You learned to operate an aeroplane on the mainland, but you learned to fly an aeroplane in New Guinea.’
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  The kingdom of Collopy


  Australia’s early aviation history is dotted with pioneers who have become household names. Charles Kingsford Smith and C.T.P Ulm crossed the Pacific in the Southern Cross, Ross and Keith Smith collected a 10 000-pound prize from Prime Minister Billy Hughes in 1919 as the first people to fly from England to Australia and Bert Hinkler followed up nine years later by flying the same journey solo.


  There also exists page after page of names of those who were an integral, albeit often barely recognised, part of Australia’s aviation history. Not all were pilots. Some were mechanics, navigators, surveyors of airways or builders of airports, each of their individual musterings playing a critical part in developing the aviation industry we take for granted today.


  A few, like brothers Ross and Keith Smith, were family concerns. So, too, were the Collopys, Jim, Frank and Bert. All three brothers learned to fly, with Bert eventually winning his aviation ‘spurs’ as a pilot with Qantas. But in their early days, the two older brothers, Jim and Frank, would operate in the same aviation world as the Smiths and the Ulms, a world of wire-and-fabric aeroplanes, with limited communications tools and little beyond schoolboy atlases as navigation aids. Before their careers ended both would be witnesses to some of the most historical, often adventurous and occasionally even humorous incidents which help bring such Australian characteristics to life.


  Jim Collopy joined the Royal Australian Air Force in 1924 and in 1927 was chosen as part of a team led by the acknowledged ‘father’ of the RAAF, Sir Richard Williams, to undertake a 27 358-kilometre survey flight around Australia. Designed by Williams to obtain an appreciation of the country, his air force was expected to defend and to demonstrate the value of the aeroplane in the Australian environment; it was also something of a flag-carrying promotional tour for the RAAF.


  Collopy later would describe the flight as a ‘notable achievement’, largely understating the exceptional planning and formidable air and ground hazards such a venture entailed. The three aircraft involved started off in Melbourne for Adelaide, then flew on to Mildura, Hay and Armidale. Their landing grounds could be anything from former wheat fields to racecourses, often using locals to light fires to allow the pilots to determine wind direction.


  The journey was not without incident. They landed on the racecourse at Armidale and as Williams took off the next morning he heard a loud ‘bang’ and saw bits of his propeller disintegrate in front of him. With no option but to put the aircraft down immediately, he slammed into a fence. No great damage was done and they continued after repairs. Then it was via Brisbane to Charleville, Cloncurry, Katherine and Darwin and down the West Australian coast to Broome and eventually Perth. According to a description by Williams years later, they ‘followed the railway’ to Adelaide, made a side trip to Alice Springs and flew back to Melbourne via Camooweal and Bourke. By then they’d flown 112 hours and made 56 landings over terrain which Williams later described as a ‘blank sheet’.


  Four years after that epic, Jim Collopy would begin a long career in civil aviation by joining the Civil Aviation Branch of the Department of Defence, a branch which would be the precursor of the future Department of Civil Aviation. First posted to Perth in charge of the Branch’s Western Australian Division in 1931, he kept watch over the safety of an aviation community in the throes of opening up air travel to the far-flung regions of Australia’s largest state. Some of Jim Collopy’s more bizarre experiences paint a picture of a fledgling industry where anything goes, provided you could get away with it.


  On one occasion, called to investigate a heavy landing at a remote airstrip, Collopy had to find an explanation as to why a passenger in the two-seater biplane was not there when the aircraft came to a halt. In fact, he had been found back in the middle of the airstrip, where the aircraft had initially touched down. When Collopy first inspected the aircraft it appeared to be intact, but a closer study of the fuselage found the landing was so heavy the aircraft had broken in two under the passenger’s seat and the passenger had literally dropped through, without serious injury. Once the initial heavy bouncing was over, the fuselage partly joined up again. Fortunately for the passenger aeroplane-landing speeds were very slow in those days.


  On another occasion, suspecting that one operator was purposely miscalculating the empty weight of his aircraft to enable him to squeeze more paying freight on board, Collopy dipped his finger into the aircraft’s radiator to find the water only went down several inches. The radiator had been blocked off, with the subsequent benefits from the missing water transferred to the freight compartment.


  But it was his appointment as District Superintendent in Papua New Guinea which would see him make a major contribution to bringing the aeroplane to some of the most remote areas of the world, and where fate would place him at the centre of one of aviation’s most enduring mysteries—the disappearance of American pioneer aviatrix, Amelia Earhart.


  With Papua New Guinea run as two separate entities, Jim Collopy’s role as District Superintendent of Civil Aviation in Port Moresby and Salamaua was to advise the Lieutenant Governor of Papua and the Administrator of New Guinea on the selection, operation and maintenance of all aerodromes in their Territories. In three years he was personally responsible for selecting, approving and advising on the construction of more than 30 sites, many of which—in the case of places like Rabaul on New Britain, Kavieng on New Ireland, Kokoda and Wewak—would become well known during the Second World War.


  When Amelia Earhart and her navigator, Captain Fred Noonan, arrived in Lae on 29 June 1937 on their attempt to circumnavigate the world at the Equator, Collopy was there to meet them and would spend the next three days assisting with the work needed to check and refuel Earhart’s twin-engine Lockheed 10 Electra. Earhart had long captivated the world with her spectacular aviation achievements as the first woman to fly solo across the Atlantic. Along with many other records she had a brace of bestselling books to her name. Thus her ground-breaking flight, over areas never previously covered by air, was being closely followed by newspapers and radio stations all around the world and was also expected to result in another book.


  Collopy not only oversaw some of the preparations for their aircraft but was able to mix socially with Earhart and Noonan on several occasions during the time they were in Lae, a situation which would later involve him in attempts to unravel the Earhart mystery. During their time together Noonan explained to Collopy that the tanks on the Electra were capable of holding 4353 litres of fuel and 242 litres of oil. They had loaded 4163 litres at Lae and although another fuel tank was capable of carrying 378 litres, only 189 litres of a higher octane fuel would be needed to assist in their take-off from there.


  Despite later speculation that Earhart might have run out of fuel, Collopy was certain that the Electra had had sufficient fuel for the 4113 kilometres to their next stop—Howland Island in the mid-Pacific. Watching the take-off on the morning of 2 July convinced him the aircraft was fully loaded. He wrote later in a report to his Civil Aviation Board that:


  The take-off was hair-raising as after taking every yard of the 1000-yard runway from the northwest of the aerodrome towards the sea, the aircraft had not left the ground fifty yards from the end of the runway.


  When it did leave it sank away but was by this time over the sea. It continued to sink to about five or six feet above the water and had not climbed to more than 100 feet before it disappeared from sight.


  In spite of this narrow margin, Collopy and pilots from Guinea Airways standing alongside him, many of whom had flown Electras, were impressed with how Earhart handled the takeoff with such an overload. Earhart and Noonan, however, were never seen again and their disappearance remains one of aviation’s longest-running mysteries, generating a whole range of conspiracy theories which have lasted more than 70 years.


  Despite some garbled radio signals received by US coast guard and navy vessels on standby on Earhart’s route and the subsequent seventeen-day air and sea search, reputed to be one of the most costly ever undertaken in US history at that time, no trace of the aircraft was ever found. Speculation about what happened ranged from the aircraft running out of fuel or crashing into an uncharted island outcrop in poor weather and even the suggestion that Earhart and Noonan had been captured and later executed by the Japanese.


  The latter theory grew out of the war which was to come within a few years of her disappearance, and the suggestion that the Electra carried photographic equipment which could be used to spy on Japanese installations on islands near the route. Even as late as 1970 Collopy confirmed to a US newspaper that he had seen no spying equipment and that the only cameras on board were a common variety without any telephoto-lens capability.


  In keeping with the Collopy tradition, brother Frank would also join the RAAF and later forge a career in civil aviation. In those days, ‘forging a career’ meant everything from the inevitable crash-landings, to battling outback dust storms and maintaining an aviation oversight of a vast area of Australia. One particulr area—spreading from Adelaide to Darwin—would become known as the Kingdom of Collopy, a ‘realm’ which required not only broad aviation experience but often a sense of humour as well.


  Frank Collopy—short, wiry, gimlet-eyed and with a ready grin—served six years in the RAAF, from 1926 to 1932, after succumbing to the glamour of the uniform that Jim was wearing home every weekend. But how he lasted that long remains a tribute to the forbearance of his senior officers. He learned to fly on First World War Avro 504K biplanes at RAAF Point Cook near Melbourne and perhaps his answer years later, when asked what Point Cook was like, at least partly sums up the RAAF’s dilemma:


  Point Cook was 375 Cyprus pines and 34 fire hydrants. If you were a bad boy you had to water the pines and paint the fire hydrants. I knew every one of them intimately.


  Because the RAAF had a total strength of only several hundred in those days, flying the RAAF flag throughout the country was an important pastime for Point Cook pilots. That’s the reason Collopy and five other pilots in biplanes arrived over Nhill, in Victoria’s Western District to celebrate Back to Nhill Day.


  They did some aerobatics and formation flying and then lined up for a follow-the-leader flypast down the main street. With the leading aircraft at low level and the others stepped up behind, Collopy brought up the rear but decided he was still too high. So he dropped lower and, in the middle of doing so, spotted a bunch of locals taking part in a clay-bird shoot at the edge of town. So he waggled his wings and gave them a wave and was delighted to see them wave back. He was sent home by train the next day, his shattered aircraft on the same train, bits of high tension wire still wrapped around its undercarriage. Collopy received a 25-pound fine from the RAAF for his trouble and the Cyprus trees received more water.


  His luck continued, escaping unhurt when an aircraft he was taxiing at Point Cook had another aircraft land on top of it. Never one to miss an opportunity for a prank, Collopy once slipped the commanding officer’s (CO’s) barge from its mooring while his CO was hosting a picnic party on board. No one in the party noticed until it began to drift through nearby saltwater baths.


  Then there was the incident with the bomb. When one of their bombs failed to explode during practice on the bombing range, the base’s bomb-disposal squad descended on the site, taking great pains to surround the hole with fencing and appropriate warning signs. The plan was to allow the base personnel a front-row seat when they exploded the errant missile the following morning. Rumour had it that three shadowy figures, accompanied by much grunting and groaning, were noticed in the area that night and when the crowd gathered the next morning to witness the big event the only thing missing was the bomb. The culprits were never found. Neither was the bomb.


  While such stories became legend, they tended to detract from the existence of a more serious, professional side of Collopy’s time as a flying instructor. In fact, entries in his instructor’s log book listed future chief of the air staff, Sir Valston Hancock, another future air vice marshal, along with a sprinkling of future air commodores among his pupils. He’d also been awarded the Air Force Medal, the citation reading, ‘. . . outstanding instructional ability and results’.


  But wider aviation horizons beckoned, along with a job flying for Norman Brearley’s Western Australian Airways in Perth, where brother Jim had already established himself as officer in charge of civil aviation’s Western Australian branch. In Western Australian Airways Frank Collopy was following in some exalted footsteps.


  While much of Australia’s early aviation history has focused on the exploits of pioneers such as Sir Charles Kingsford Smith and Charles Ulm, men like Norman Brearley were also playing a critical part in convincing those in the most remote parts of the continent of the value of this exciting new mode of transport. Brearley—like the Smiths, Ulm and Qantas’ Fysh and McGinness—had brought his aviation enthusiasm home with him from the First World War. Barnstorming and joy flights in the vastness of Western Australia had convinced him the aeroplane was the key to bringing isolated settlements and stations within easy reach of cities like Perth, and when the Australian government called for tenders to operate what would be Australia’s first airmail service, Brearley was among the first to apply. He won the contract and while Qantas, formed in 1920 and inaugurating its Charleville to Cloncurry mail service in November 1922, can rightly claim to be the oldest airline in the English-speaking world, it was in fact Brearley’s Western Australian Airways which was first into the air with an airmail service, between Geraldton and Derby in December 1921.


  Kingsford Smith’s own time as part of Brearley’s airline was gone by the time Frank Collopy joined in 1932, but the difficulties presented by dust storms, cyclones and monsoon rains hadn’t changed much. Bad weather and poor visibility still required pilots to follow telegraph lines at low level and occasionally forced them to land at places not yet marked on maps. And you weren’t simply the pilot. If an engine played up or some structural failure occurred you were expected to fix it yourself. Years later Collopy would recount how passengers suffered along with the pilot as they sat wedged between such essential items of freight as farm machinery, fuel and foodstuffs. Day-old chickens packed in hat boxes were a popular cargo. You’d load your four passengers first and then stack the chickens around them.


  ‘All you could see were the passengers’ heads sticking up through the boxes. By the time you got from Perth to Derby often half the chickens were dead,’ he remembers.


  Whereas today it’s possible to fly from Perth to Wyndham and return in a matter of hours, for Collopy and his passengers the trip took twelve-and-a-half days with 33 stops along the way. Never one to miss the funny side, Collopy would later admit that there were occasions when his passengers’ tolerance was put to the test. Once carrying a coffin, strapped to the bottom of the fuselage, from Halls Creek to Perth, he almost had a mutiny on his hands. The weather was hot and by the time they reached Geraldton five days later his passengers presented him with an ultimatum: ‘Either he goes or we go.’ The coffin finished the journey to Perth by train.


  Caught in a cyclone at Whim Creek he landed, tied down the aircraft and headed for the local pub, only to find the pub and its occupants had moved to a mine shaft where they were sheltering from 209-kilometre-an-hour winds for five days. When the cyclone’s fury finally passed and Collopy was able to come outside to see how the aircraft had fared there was no sign of it. Flying over the route later he would often see bits and pieces of it scattered across the countryside.


  After Western Australian Airways Collopy joined the Royal Aero Club of Western Australia as the chief flying instructor. By this time he had 2690 hours in his log book and still retained a yen for the unusual. When the Club’s annual ball came around he decided to mark the occasion by making a grand entrance. He confesses:


  I thought I’d arrive in a blaze of glory so I fixed a phosphorous flare to each wing of the club’s biplane and taxied down St George’s Terrace to Government House. Unfortunately, though, I forgot those flares needed cooling so by the time I got there both wings were alight. The police murdered me for that one.


  Back in the airline business in 1935, he spent two years flying eastern Australian routes with Holyman’s Air Services before a brief stint in Malaya flying between Kuala Lumpur, Penang, Kotabaru and British North Borneo, returning to Australia to fly again for Holyman’s. Joining the Department of Civil Aviation in 1940 he spent the early part of the war assisting in the airlift of civilians south from Papua New Guinea and later in Darwin.


  After the war he was part of a team of former aviators who helped create an Australian air-traffic-control system which would become a world leader in its field. By the later 1950s he was DCA’s regional director for South Australia and the Northern Territory, responsible for all aviation activities from Adelaide to Darwin.


  Reminiscing on his retirement in 1970, he would describe it as ‘one of the best jobs you could have in Australia’. As with his days in the Kimberley in the 1930s, he relished the vastness of the landscape and the characters he got to know along the way. Such was his knowledge and commitment that many in DCA’s head office in Melbourne simply referred to it as The Kingdom of Collopy.


  And along with the daily, mostly serious problems which came across his desk, he still managed to retain his sense of humour. When it came to dealing with Alice Springs’ resident eccentric, Olive Pink, he needed it. Even among the annals of outback Australia there must be few who matched Olive Pink. Variously described over the years as a troublemaker, a serial complainant and once even a ‘nasty old witch’, Olive Pink literally strode the streets of the Alice like few before or since. But for every derogatory epithet you could find an equally generous description of a dedicated anthropologist, a woman of substance and a lifelong campaigner for Aboriginal rights, the latter involving her working alone for long periods in some of the community’s most isolated outposts.


  There was no doubt, however, that Miss Pink, founder of Olive Pink Botanical Gardens of the Alice, was a thorn in the side of any authority—be they corporations, church missionaries or the bureaucracy—and capable of launching into the most acerbic diatribes, penned in sprawling, handwritten notes running into multiple pages. Her handwriting may have been hard to read, but there was no mistaking the message and it would be one such missive that would bring her and Francis William Collopy into conflict.


  The letter, from DCA’s acting director, C.C. ‘Stiffy’ Wiggins, arrived on Collopy’s desk late in July 1959. Wiggins, as it turned out, hadn’t quite got Olive’s gender right but there was no mistaking the seriousness of the complaint. Pilots taking off from Alice Springs airport were apparently turning sharply over her house and her native flora reserve and looking through her bathroom window. Tongue firmly in cheek, Wiggins castigated Collopy for not attending to ‘Mr’ Pink’s complaint earlier.


  Collopy, Wiggins ordered, must investigate and report back. Collopy was quickly on the case, but first needed to clear up the gender situation. Complainant Pink was a ‘Miss’ not a ‘Mr’ and a scourge to a wide range of bureaucracies—from federal and state government departments to the local fire brigade.


  Now that she had turned her attention to the aviation industry, Collopy assured Wiggins he would tackle the complaint but concluded his letter by giving Wiggins the benefit of his initial suggestions for fixing the problem.


  I list them in descending order of practicability.


  1. Shift Mt Gillen [a hill in proximity to the airport]


  2. Divert the Todd River


  3. De-licence Connellans and Ansett-ANA


  4. Shoot Olive


  5. Recruit Olive to the (DCA) Division of Air Safety Investigation.


  I favour No 4 although No 5 had merit.


  With that off his chest Collopy promised on his next visit to Alice Springs he would ‘endeavour to console and enlighten her’.


  The weeks passed until eventually another missive from Olive arrived on Wiggins’ Melbourne desk, but this time it was a ringing endorsement of the efforts of ‘that charming Mr Collopy’ who had achieved wonderful results in fixing her problem with those straying aircraft and peeking pilots. Miss Pink informed Wiggins she was so delighted that she had planted a tree on her reserve which hereafter would be known as ‘The Collopy Tree’. Wiggins, suitably impressed, wrote to thank her profusely.


  The months passed and all was quiet on the Alice Springs front. Then, out of the blue, another letter arrived from Olive Pink and she was not happy, as she described over four handwritten foolscap pages how Connellans’ pilots were once again up to their old tricks. She’d had enough, she said, and her annoyance was such that, along with writing this letter, she had taken another drastic decision: she was no longer watering The Collopy Tree!


  As for Frank Collopy, his reaction to the developments are not recorded but, like Olive, he himself would become something of a character in the outback tradition. Frank Collopy, 73, died in Adelaide in 1977. Jim Collopy, 77, died in Melbourne in 1979.
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  ‘How far ahead is he?’


  Those five words, cutting through the air waves as a Trans-Australia Airline Boeing 727 roared down Sydney airport’s main runway on the evening of Friday 29 January 1971, would become the intriguing centrepiece of one of the luckiest escapes Australian aviation would ever experience. Not only would they be uttered in the critical seconds it takes to create or avoid a disaster, but they would haunt several of those involved for the rest of their lives. Today, more than 40 years later, those words still literally hang in the air—unanswered.


  What was answered, however, was the narrow margin that existed between a safe take-off to Perth and two jet airliners filled with passengers ending in a ball of flame two-thirds of the way down Mascot’s runway. The 57-page report by the Australian Department of Civil Aviation’s Air Safety Investigation Branch seven months later was in character. Dry, official and unadorned with flowery language, it contained a typically forensic account of the events of that night, the factors leading to the accident, the accident itself and its aftermath.


  As with all such reports, the aim was two-fold. To determine the causes, allocate responsibilities and, one would hope, learn from the experience, the latter something the aviation industry prided itself in. And as is so often the case in such complex investigations, the answer would not lie in one particular cause, but a series of circumstances which would combine to bring disaster within several metres of 240 souls.


  The brief introduction to the report set the scene at Mascot not long after 9.30 p.m. on that Friday night, describing how the TAA Boeing 727 VH-TJA struck the tail of a Canadian Pacific Airlines DC8-63 aircraft, CF-CPQ, ‘. . . whilst the former was taking off on Runway 16 at Sydney (Kingsford Smith) Airport, New South Wales.’ The TAA aircraft had continued with its take-off but made an emergency landing after dumping fuel at Sydney some minutes later.


  At the time of the collision, the report said, the DC8-63 was on the ground, having just landed, and taxiing under its own power to the parking area.


  Both aircraft were substantially damaged in the collision but none of the 240 persons on board the two aircraft was injured.


  Beyond the report’s matter-of-fact paragraphs and black-and-white photographs lay an event which in the space of only a few seconds meant the difference between life and death.


  Light rain drifted through the Botany Bay area that night and although it was not raining at the time, Doug Spiers, first officer in the right-hand seat of the Perth-bound Boeing 727, could see the runway was still glistening wet from a most recent passing shower.


  Although visibility was good, roughly sixteen kilometres, like driving a car, rain and wet conditions always bring a little sharper alertness to aircrew. It’s not that there’s any great danger involved, it’s just that there’s not a pilot in the world who’d rather have a wet runway than a dry one. Take-offs and landings are when an aircraft is at its most vulnerable, as it steps from one environment to the next.


  Spiers and Captain Jim James knew each other well. Spiers had been rostered to fly with James for a month, but their partnership had been interrupted when James, a senior captain, had been required to train another pilot. The training commitment had been completed a day earlier than anticipated, otherwise they would not even have been together this night.


  The pair had completed their essential pre-take-off checks as they taxied the aircraft to a holding position just off the northern edge of Mascot’s main north–south runway. There they were told by air-traffic control to hold and await the arrival of a CP Air DC-8 approaching to land in front of them.


  The flight from Sydney to Perth they were about to undertake was Australia’s longest cross-country commercial service for the Boeing 727 tri-jet in the early seventies. James and Spiers were flying the first version of the jet to enter service, the 727-100 series, and while later versions would easily bridge the distance, the operation from Sydney to Perth in the 100 was marginal to say the least. In fact, beating against the strong winter westerlies generally called for a refuelling stop at Adelaide. On that night, however, with eight crew and 84 passengers on board, they expected it to be nonstop and to achieve it the aircraft was heavily loaded. As the maximum take-off weight of their Boeing was 72 574 kilograms of passengers, freight and fuel, VH-TJA had only 417 kilograms to spare.


  Listening while they waited with engines idling, Spiers could tell the airport was not particularly busy. He knew from his earphones that an East West Airlines Fokker Friendship had taxied up out of sight behind them and was waiting in line for take-off. He saw the large shape of the stretched DC-8 come across in front of him and land towards the south and heard the ATC tower tell a DC-9 jet, still some distance north of the airport, to continue its approach.


  So, when the tower cleared his 727 for an immediate takeoff, Spiers mentally calculated that, with four aircraft in play, the controller wanted to get the Fokker behind them away before the approaching DC-9 landed. To this day, Spiers believes the controller’s attention might naturally have been focused on the threshold, or northern end of the main runway, where the major activity was taking place—a 727 moving onto the runway for take-off with a Fokker close behind it, and a DC-9 approaching to land. Although adequate separations were probably in place, the northern end of Mascot was where the action was.


  But what was happening or, more to the point, not happening towards the other end of the runway, would have a massive bearing on what was to come. As the Canadian Pacific DC-8, with 128 passengers and crew aboard, neared the end of its landing run and rolled towards the southern end of the runway, the ATC ground controller instructed: ‘Take first taxiway right . . . call on 121.7,’ referring to the radio frequency which the CP air crew would now use while taxiing to the terminal. The crew of the Canadian aircraft, however, acknowledged the instruction but would insist what they had heard was: ‘. . . backtrack if you like—change to 121.7.’


  So, at the end of its landing roll the Canadian captain began a slow manoeuvre to turn the big jet around, a manoeuvre which would take longer than normal due to the extra care needed in the wet. And in what would be an unfortunate visual misconception, the ground controller, watching the turning aircraft from some distance away and, believing it had turned to enter the taxiway and was clear of the runway, cleared the TAA Boeing for take-off.


  Incredibly, in another of those accumulations of circumstances that are a feature of many air accidents, the take-off clearance for the Boeing could not be heard by the Canadian crew as they were now tuned to a different radio frequency. And not only were they still on the runway, but they had a fully loaded Boeing 727 coming straight at them.


  Doug Spiers is adamant today that they could not see the Canadian aircraft on the runway when they were cleared for take-off. Runways often have undulations across their length and the 3352-metre main north–south runway at Mascot is no exception: the runway actually rises to a high point at General Holmes Drive. It’s only a few feet, but the DC-8 was on the other side of that rise.


  Spiers says at no stage did he or Jim James see any strobe beacons flashing from the DC-8 and one could probably rightly assume they wouldn’t have started the take-off if they had. He does, however, still wonder whether the aircraft’s tail lights may have been there somewhere, but on a wet night they could easily have merged with the lights of the Kurnell refinery on the other side of Botany Bay.


  Now, its throttles fully open, the Boeing began to gather speed down the runway. With James flying the aircraft it was Spiers’ job to hold the throttles firmly forward and monitor the speed of the aircraft along the ground, ready to call ‘Rotate’ to his captain when they reached the optimum speed at which the aircraft is ready to start its rotation to lift off the runway and achieve a safe take-off speed. But at just about the time he was ready to call, Spiers became aware of landing lights in front of them.


  ‘At that stage all I could do was call: “Rotate”.’


  What the crew of the Canadian aircraft must have thought when they first saw the lights of the 727 racing towards them is not recorded, but the captain of the aircraft responded immediately and began to turn the big jet off onto an eastern taxiway. It was too late.


  As the Boeing clambered into the air Spiers saw the tail of the DC-8 flash below his right-side cockpit window, and there was a sharp lurch as he felt the aircraft momentarily slow but keep flying. Remarkably, the crew of the DC-8 had no idea that a chunk of their tail was missing and put the bump they felt down to their nose wheel running through a hole in the taxiway.


  In the minutes after the contact, while the crew of TJA began to make their own damage assessment, back on the ground, radio signals were being exchanged in an attempt to sort out what had happened. Air-traffic control first asked CP Air to confirm they were on the taxiway:


  ‘Negative, Sir, we’re on the runway. We were cleared to backtrack on the runway,’ was the response, which must have sent a shiver through those in the control tower. Remarkably, the crew of the DC-8 had no idea exactly what had happened. Meanwhile, the approaching DC-9 was immediately ordered to abort its landing and go around.


  As they turned left across Botany Bay the alarm systems in the cockpit were telling James and Spiers they had lost hydraulics, but they had no idea what additional damage might have been caused to the aircraft. There was little doubt, however, that if they needed to come back immediately they would require the maximum runway length of the main runway—or Runway 16—due to the weight of the fully loaded 727. Spiers told the tower they would plan to do a long circuit and come back and land on 16. They were told 16 was closed due to debris on the runway.


  Doug Spiers says this was met with a terse exchange from TJA’s captain, which was probably understandable from where Jim James was sitting. He’d like, he asked, to know just what the debris was because it was probably theirs and if they knew what it was they would have a better idea of their own damage. And he was coming in on Runway 16 anyway, so perhaps they had better clean it up!


  That was not the only radio exchange which would cause Spiers to smile after the event. When he radioed the TAA operations controller that they would have to come back, the controller told Spiers not to worry as he had a spare 727 available so they could take that to Perth. Sitting in his Mascot office he was oblivious to the drama taking place outside.


  Things were now busy in VH-TJA as the crew began to assess the damage. First, they knew they had lost their A System hydraulics, which prevented the landing gear from being retracted. While they knew it might be possible to apply a little more hydraulic pressure to unlock it, James was not prepared to risk any further damage so they would leave the undercarriage down. As they prepared to dump fuel, Spiers told the passengers over the PA system that there had been an accident but everything was under control.


  ‘We had a first-class crew and there was really no panic among the passengers,’ Spiers recalls.


  In the meantime, Flight Engineer Jim Ryan was sent back into the aircraft to see whether it was possible to make a visual assessment of the damage to the underwing area by lifting up the carpet which covers several viewing holes towards the rear of the aircraft cabin. Through there it’s possible to see whether the locking pin in the landing gear is in place. Ryan confirmed the locks were in place but the light also showed that one set of landing gear doors was missing entirely.


  Added to that news was the fact that they were encountering problems dumping fuel. Normally dumping enough fuel to reduce the Boeing 727-100 to a safe landing weight would take only about five minutes, but they now found that the fuel-booster pumps on the right wing were obviously damaged. Thus the fuel was gushing from the left wing at a faster rate than the right causing the aircraft to lose its lateral balance, forcing the crew to periodically stop dumping from the left wing until the right could catch up. So five minutes for fuel dumping became 40 minutes, during which time James and Spiers tried to guess what else might be wrong.


  Their main concerns were whether the undercarriage would hold on landing despite appearing locked, and whether the wheel brakes were still functioning. By the time they were ready to attempt to land there was no longer any discussion about which runway they would use as the Mascot fire engines and safety vehicle lined up along Runway 16.


  Making their final approach from the north their plan was to get the landing speed down as low as possible by using flaps, but as the flaps extended there was a succession of loud bangs which stopped as suddenly as they had started. Unknown to James and Spiers the movement of the flaps had ripped away one of the landing-gear doors. It was subsequently found in the backyard of a house on the approach path.


  ‘The landing was pretty well as normal as it can be when you don’t know what’s going to happen,’ was Spiers wry comment. (So normal in fact that one passenger told the Sydney Morning Herald that passengers were still tensing themselves ‘before they realised the plane was rolling along the strip’.)


  As soon as Jimmy applied the brakes on landing it turned out one of the brake de-boosters on the right-hand side had gone so we lost the brakes as well. As we came to a stop there was a bit of smoke around the wheels because that was where the leaking hydraulic fluid had gone. We weren’t sure if it was going to catch fire, but I do remember saying to Jimmy: ‘There’s an awful lot of smoke out there!’


  On the ground, the extent of the damage to both aircraft could at last be seen. Jagged chunks of fractured metal and hydraulic pipes hung loose around the gaping hole in the 727’s wing. The Boeing had torn 2.4 metres from the top of the DC-8’s tail fin, ripping open the Boeing’s starboard wing in the region of the wheel bay from immediately behind the wing’s leading edge and as far back as the rear of the wing itself.


  Most of the covering which normally protected the air-conditioning ducting, the heat exchanger and the aircraft’s cooling turbine unit was gone, the starboard main landing-gear doors had been torn from their hinges and both undercarriage tyres had been slashed, causing the inboard tyre to deflate. Score marks and skin punctures from debris from the impact stretched all the way along the lower fuselage to the tail.


  Although the crew and passengers of VH-TJA were now safe on the ground, the repercussions of that Friday night would continue for years to come, eventually reaching to the highest court in the land. The following morning, Saturday, the various elements of the air-safety investigation began to gather, but on this occasion their numbers would be larger than normal. Unlike an accident involving a single aircraft, this incident, along with an Australian domestic component in TAA, had an additional international component in CP Air, as well as the Commonwealth Department of Civil Aviation’s air-traffic control. And indeed, there were signs already of some of the vested interests.


  Within hours of the accident the night before, as press inquiries began to swamp his home telephone, TAA’s public relations manager, John Tilton, became alarmed at the tone of some of the media questions, which tended to suggest it was unlikely air-traffic control could have been to blame. Tilton recalls at one stage crossing words with his opposite number at Civil Aviation, Ken Williams, over his suspicions that Williams’ boss, the Director General of Civil Aviation, Sir Donald Anderson, was making sure his side of the paddock was ‘fenced off’. (Tilton’s suspicions may not have been that far from the truth as Anderson had been instrumental in the establishment of Australia’s postwar air-traffic-control system and was known to be extremely protective of his progeny.)


  What was working against Tilton and, of course, the crew of VH-TJA, was the fact that, even within days of the accident, those five words: ‘How far ahead is he?’ were widely known to exist on the air-traffic control audio tape of radio conversation that night. They were also expected to be on the cockpit voice recorder in the Boeing 727, but the confirmation of that was to become a significant legal issue in itself.


  The first of the TAA team to take part in the investigations arrived in Sydney on the Saturday morning to debrief Jim James’ crew and once the leader of the team, TAA’s training manager and one of its most senior pilots, Captain Frank Fischer, heard his crew’s account he told them he could not find that they had done anything wrong. As far as Fischer was concerned they had not disobeyed any air-traffic-control instructions and had done what they were told. Doug Spiers says TAA support for the crew’s actions that night never faltered over the months that followed.


  James and Spiers were taken off the flying roster to recover from any initial shock involved. In Spiers’ case it was only for a week, but he needed it.


  It had been a bit hairy. I was fidgety, couldn’t sit still even for a few seconds. You didn’t know whether you’d done the right thing or the wrong thing, whether someone’s going to blame you, whether you have a job or not.


  As well as that you’ve had the shit scared out of you. I didn’t need anything more like that again.


  He admitted that his company’s support helped him to quickly resume his normal flying career.


  Meanwhile, the accident investigation weaved its painstaking way through interviews with those involved, cataloguing wreckage-distribution patterns on Mascot’s runway and revisiting aircraft manufacturer’s performance charts. The air-traffic-control audio tapes and the Boeing’s Flight Data Recorder, or the frequently mistitled ‘Black Box’, which records the aircraft’s pressure altitude, airspeed, heading and vertical acceleration on a stainless-steel tape, were sent to the National Transportation Safety Board’s laboratories in the United States for analysis.


  Right from the earliest stage it was evident that what had been heard and said in communications between those involved would be a critical factor in apportioning blame for the accident. From the CP Air viewpoint there were four pilots on board that night: the captain, the first officer, the second officer and a senior CP Air captain carrying out a route check on the captain in command. All four had been wearing headphones and were monitoring communications with the tower and all would insist they had heard the aerodrome controller direct them to, ‘. . . backtrack if you like—change to 121.7’, thus remaining on the runway instead of turning off onto the taxiway.


  In a further ironic turn of events the cockpit voice recorder on the DC-8 would be unable to play any role in the subsequent investigation. Informed by air-traffic control while they taxied towards their parking position that they had been struck by the 727, the CP Air captain called forward a ground engineer who was travelling as a passenger on the DC-8 and directed him to pull the circuit breakers on the cockpit voice recorder to preserve its contents as evidence.


  Unfortunately, he inadvertently pulled the circuit breakers for the aircraft’s Flight Data Recorder instead, thus leaving the cockpit voice recorder running. Cockpit voice recorders are of the recycling type and retain a record of conversations for a period of 30 minutes prior to the point it is stopped by interruption of the power supply. Thus the instant the aircraft was parked and ground power was applied its contents were erased.


  As for the more critical content of the cockpit voice recorder on the Boeing, if would become the subject of a struggle between the accident investigators and later the courts, as the Australian Federation of Air Pilots (AFAP), the pilots’ union, fought to deny its use as evidence. Designed primarily as an air-safety aid to assist in utilising information on the recorders to help prevent future accidents, the AFAP had originally agreed to their installation in Australian airline aircraft only on the basis that they not be used in any investigation of an accident or an incident in which the crew survived.


  DCA, on the other hand, had always claimed that while it agreed to this restriction because of the value it would bring to such fatal accidents, its own view was that the restriction only applied to accidents in Australia involving Australian-registered aircraft. Despite their argument that, in this particular case, a foreign-registered aircraft was involved, DCA reluctantly accepted that the evidence on the cockpit voice recorder would not be available to the investigators.


  But beyond this mix-up in communications, the most intense concentration of the inquiry was on the actual collision itself and the decisions taken by the TAA crew leading up to the accident. It was here that both a technical, and a somewhat judgemental argument, would develop to determine the cause of the accident. The question boiled down to whether, immediately after they became aware that an aircraft was on the runway, the crew of the Boeing should have abandoned the take-off.


  Take-offs in any aircraft require constant transition by pilots from monitoring the performance of the aircraft through instruments inside the cockpit, to monitoring the visual situation outside the aircraft. Depending on its performance characteristics, each individual aircraft type has a speed on take-off which, in lay terms, could be called the ‘point of no return’. This is known as V1, where such factors as remaining runway length, aircraft weight etc., determine that it is too late to abort the take-off.


  Neither James nor Spiers could accurately pinpoint the instant they became aware that something was wrong ahead. James said he became subconsciously alerted to something abnormal at about the point where he went on to full instrument reference, but it was not until during the rotation of his aircraft that he saw the DC-8 more or less across the strip. Even then, he said, he could not determine how far ahead it was. Spiers told the inquiry he first saw a flashing red light shortly before the Boeing reached take-off speed, but he also had difficulty in recognising how far ahead it was. As they reached rotation speed he saw it was an aircraft, but by then believed it would not have been possible to stop without a collision.


  There was also the question of the rate of climb of the Boeing once it was committed to taking off. The investigation team considered that if James had ‘over-rotated’ the aircraft, forcing it into a steeper climb-out, he could have avoided taking the tail off the DC-8. Spiers says James argued with DCA that pilots were trained not to under- or over-rotate on take-off as this diluted the performance profile of the aircraft.


  ‘DCA said this wasn’t so, but they weren’t running down the runway at 150 miles an hour!’


  He said a later Boeing analysis of the flight path on takeoff confirmed that the Boeing was right on its correct take-off profile on lift-off.


  The investigation’s study of air-traffic-control’s performance that night revealed that the controller saw the DC-8 commence a turn to the right towards a taxiway and had no reason to believe his instructions had been misunderstood. After all, the crew had acknowledged his directions. Even so, however, the report said, given the distance from the tower to the DC-8, it would have been prudent for the controller to request CP Air to report when it was clear of the runway before issuing his take-off clearance to the TAA Boeing.


  The report went on to raise another interesting contributing factor to the accident, and an aspect which highlighted the differences which might exist between Australian and international aircrew when it came to interpreting air-traffic-control instructions at busy airports. Backtracking on a runway at a busy airport like Sydney is a most unusual procedure and would be used only when normal taxiways are not available. The report noted that any Australian aircrew given the instruction, ‘backtrack if you like’ would have almost certainly queried it, particularly a clearance which offered a choice of action.


  ‘In these circumstances,’ the report said, ‘it would seem that a greater familiarity with operations at Sydney Airport would have prevented the Canadian crew from falling into an error of this sort.’


  So, in August that year, after a detailed list of conclusions, Air Safety Investigation’s report decreed that the accident had three primary causes: the misreading of the taxi clearance by the Canadian crew after landing, that error not detected by the air-traffic controller who cleared the TAA Boeing for take-off and the flight crew of VH-TJA not adopting ‘the most effective means of avoiding a collision’.


  But the story of this Mascot near-miss was far from over and would trail through the courts for five years, as all three parties, DCA, through the Australian government, TAA and Canadian Pacific Airlines took legal action against each other, the High Court finally coming down with a damages spread divided almost equally between the three organisations involved. In the process the AFAP lost its battle not to have the cockpit voice recorder admitted in evidence when the judge ruled it should be heard.


  Not that it made a great deal of difference. Analysis had proved ‘How far ahead is he?’ were Jim James’ words, alright, but Jim James couldn’t remember saying them and Doug Spiers is adamant he didn’t hear them.


  ‘There’s nothing said to answer them,’ said Doug Spiers, reliving those moments years later. He’s also adamant that they made the right decision to continue the take-off.


  We would never have been able to stop in time and we would have run into him. That would have been Tenerife before it happened!


  On Sunday 27 March 1977, a KLM Boeing 747 taking off on fog-shrouded Tenerife airport in the Canary Islands collided with a Pan American Airways Boeing 747 taxiing on the runway.


  583 people died in the deadliest accident in civil aviation history.
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  Nonstop across the world


  Precisely where and when the idea originated within the Qantas structure—whether in the flight operations division, in the commercial division, in the London office or at a public-affairs branch meeting—is still the subject of some debate. One thing is certain, however: the moment it was suggested that the airline should look at introducing the first of its brand-new Boeing 747-400s by flying it nonstop from London to Sydney, something within the airline’s DNA was instantly activated.


  If there was one thing beyond its safety record and its engineering and operational excellence that Qantas was proud of, it was its reputation as the airline which operated the longest sectors in the world. Right from its earliest days it had pioneered long-distance flying, cutting its teeth on keeping the Australia– United Kingdom air route open for flights of over 30 hours nonstop during the Second World War. Even as it entered the jet era in the late 1950s, it had pushed the Boeing Company to build an extended-range version of the Boeing 707 to specifically cater for an airline based at the end of the world.


  Certainly, the 400 promised to be an exceptional addition to the 747 fleet, its bigger engines and, for the first time, the ability to carry fuel in the aircraft’s tail, offered long-range, high passenger volume and comfort, and excellent cargo capacity. But flying a 400 nonstop 17 850 kilometres, even with a minimal passenger load, might just be taking it, to misuse an old Second World War metaphor, a bridge too far.


  The first thing required was secrecy. The 400, titled City of Canberra, was due for delivery to the airline in April 1989, and if such a gamble was to be attempted it needed to be kept under wraps until its feasibility could be tested beyond reasonable doubt. And even among the handful of people ‘in the know’ there was initial scepticism.


  When the airline’s flight operations chief, Alan Terrell, first asked Captain David Massy-Greene, who for two years had been the project pilot for the introduction of the 400 series, whether he’d like to fly the first aircraft nonstop, Massy-Greene doubted it could be done. But it didn’t take him long to start factoring in the possibilities, without drawing attention to what he was up to. Like most of his breed, a challenge like this was far too good for any pilot to pass up.


  There were important reasons for secrecy. Against the risk of the whole idea being impractical were the tremendous marketing advantages to be derived from creating a world record in an airline industry, which for many years had pretty well presented a ‘one-size-fits-all’ image to the travelling public.


  Most of the world’s international airlines flew the Boeing 747, with only their livery, choice of engines, seating configurations and in-flight service offering degrees of variations. Looking at the television and print-media advertisements for most carriers it was hard to tell the difference beyond the fares they were charging. Every airline on the Boeing 400’s order books was looking for ways to differentiate, and if Qantas could capture the public’s imagination with such an achievement it would give the airline a unique advantage with its launch services.


  There was also the opportunity for Qantas to steal the march on its traditional rival, British Airways. The two airlines, with links which went back to Qantas’ very earliest days in the 1930s, were fierce competitors on the Kangaroo Route between Australia and England and, as it turned out, were to take delivery of their first 400 aircraft at the same time.


  Rumours started to circulate that British Airways was planning a spectacular coup—a nonstop flight from London to Perth—a venture sure to maximise publicity for the airline and its new type. Since he was spending considerable time at Boeing in those early days of gathering information for the attempt, Massy-Greene had to be doubly careful. He was part of a small team of airline executives, including from British Airways, who formed a consultative development panel advising Boeing of their airline’s individual requirements for the 400. One slip and the secret would be out of the bag.


  But the person within the airline who would have to seek the most critical information necessary to allow the decision for the flight to go ahead, would be the man in the airline known as ‘Mr Fuel’, Peter Brooks. As planning progressed behind closed doors, it became obvious that even if the aircraft performed perfectly, there would be no way it could fly the distance required on standard Jet A-1 jet fuel.


  After nearly twenty years of negotiating the airline’s fuel requirements around the world, Brooks stoically suffered the occasional colleague’s comment that he had oil in his blood. His response would be that he needed it. Once merely an item that had been taken for granted as simply something you pumped into an aircraft’s tanks, the oil price rise of the seventies had seen aviation fuel take up an inordinate proportion of an airline’s cost base.


  Brooks had to know the industry intimately and to do that he spent a great deal of time in the air between Qantas’ major ports and even more time watching pricing trends on the world’s oil markets. Early in 1989 Brooks began receiving strange queries over the phone from Qantas’ deputy chief executive and chief operating officer, John Ward.


  ‘What’s the density of the fuel in London?’ Ward asked.


  Brooks thought the question a strange one at the time, even more so when Ward was back a week later with another one.


  ‘That fuel density of ours in London. Is it at the higher end or the lower end?’


  Ward at last let him in on the secret. If a nonstop flight was to be achieved they would need special high-density fuel.


  Brooks explained there were problems. While a version of high-density fuel was relatively easy to obtain on the west coast of the United States where it was cut from a particular crude and used by US Air Force aircraft, London was a totally different proposition. Swearing him to secrecy, Ward sent him off to London to see what he could do.


  Although Qantas had close relationships with all three fuel suppliers in London, even before he arrived Brooks knew what the answer would be, and when he put the proposition to the first of them, Esso, there was a polite, but definite: ‘NO.’


  ‘That was pretty well the start and the end of the conversation,’ Brooks recalls.


  Chevron told him they would have a look at it, but a message soon came back that they had no access to such fuel in the United Kingdom. His confidence lifted when Belgium’s Petrofina had better news. They had access in the United Kingdom to a fuel known as JP10, also specially designed for US military use. A little surprised by the news, Brooks asked why he’d never heard of it.


  ‘It’s used in Cruise missiles,’ came the explanation.


  Buoyed by the information, Brooks fired off a signal to Boeing in Seattle to see how JP10 specifications would stack up for use in a Boeing 747. Boeing shot back an instantaneous reply explaining the JP10 was so heavy that if you filled the 747’s tanks with it, the wings would fall off.


  ‘That was the end of the JP10 idea,’ says Brooks.


  Then his hopes were raised again when another supplier, British Petroleum, told him they might have found a source.


  ‘The trouble was it was in Nigeria and the quantity we wanted—around 50 000 US gallons—would have to be transported to London in 44-gallon drums!’


  The problem really boiled down to the fact that an amount of 50 000 gallons, or 189 270 litres, was too small to be specially made at a refinery, and too large to be produced by a laboratory. It was at this point that Shell suddenly expressed an interest. They had a small refinery near Hamburg, in Germany, which might just be able to produce the right type of crude for the job.


  Shell’s association with Qantas dated back to the earliest days of the airline in the 1920s, providing fuel at some of the most isolated places in outback Australia and earning the deep gratitude of its founder, Hudson Fysh. For subsequent decades that loyalty was repaid as Shell remained the major fuel supplier to the airline until the jet age of the sixties when jet fuel replaced gasoline and other fuel company options became available and Shell itself withdrew from some of the areas Qantas served. Through it all, though, Shell retained a special place in the minds of many Qantas old hands.


  But even Shell was finding it hard to overcome a reluctance on the part of its German subsidiary to break into its rigidly controlled production schedule to produce a one-off batch of special fuel. In the meantime, John Ward was showing a degree of impatience, at one stage telling Brooks, admittedly with a wry smile:


  ‘Peter, if we have to cancel this because we can’t get the fuel, your out-of-pockets are coming out of your salary.’


  Brooks found himself once again on the way to London.


  Meanwhile, other requirements in the equation were being quietly studied, perhaps the most important after fuel being the complexity of airways’ clearances halfway around the world. Despite all the pieces which must come together, flying a load of passengers and freight between Sydney and London, two of the most distant cities on earth, is nowadays a fairly straightforward matter. Crews lodge flight plans for air routes and altitudes across sectors which are clearly defined. In years gone by it was a multi-sector task as piston-engined airliners literally ground-hopped through multiple stopping points along the Kangaroo Route, until the advent of the big jets decreased it first to two stops and then, finally, to the point where a London to Sydney flight required only one stop en route.


  But while the number of intermediate points may have decreased, the amount of traffic using the airspace has increased tremendously, no better demonstrated than over Europe where thousands of airliners crisscross the skies along a jigsaw of air routes and at an assortment of altitudes. Add to this the requirement for air space to be quarantined for military use by various countries, along with sovereign borders to be recognised, and the airspace across Europe resembles something of a zigzag pattern. The very idea of suggesting a change to that pattern to allow one aircraft priority to fly any variation of the established routes to travel nearly 18 000 kilometres across the world in one leap was the aviation equivalent to asking Moses to part the waters.


  But if a nonstop record was to be achieved that was what must happen. With fuel burn critical, Massy-Greene and his crew would need the ability to choose the most direct route between various points and, just as importantly, the altitudes which would take advantage of the most favourable winds. Too many headwinds, forecast or not, would put paid to the attempt.


  Gradually the small group gathered on the ‘need-to-know basis’ began a route study to plan the shortest possible ground kilometres for the flight, factoring in numerous alternatives to take advantage of the winds which might be available on the day. There was an early setback. Originally the first aircraft had been scheduled for delivery in April, which was statistically, as far as prevailing winds were concerned, the best time to make the attempt. Production delays, however, had now rolled the date to August, the worst time of the year on the winds front.


  Despite some early Boeing figures using the shorter Great Circle distances across the earth’s surface, Massy-Greene knew that today’s busy skies still would be asking Moses to do too much so the flight would have to use established routes. Working in nautical miles, he calculated that the shortest route would be 9624 nautical miles and to achieve that they would have to squeeze more out of the aircraft, even with all the favourable air-traffic-control clearances they could hope for. And since the best estimate for the aircraft’s maximum range if flown empty was just over 9000 nautical miles they had a way to go.


  As the weeks went by Massy-Greene continued to throw a variety of unique operating procedures into the melting pot, all designed to lighten the load and achieve more efficient fuel burn. Use of only one of the aircraft’s air-conditioning units would reduce the bleed air demand from the engines for operating air conditioning, easing their use of fuel, and since few passengers would be aboard, that would also help.


  The weight of the aircraft would need to be minimised, even down to the quantity of drinking water to be carried. Only safety and galley equipment essential to cater for the estimated 30 people on board would remain, the rest ferried home to Qantas from the United States aboard normal Qantas flights out of Los Angeles. The freight holds would be empty.


  But fuel still remained the critical factor. They first thought of chilling it to increase the quality, but no one really knew whether that would work with 60 000 US gallons of it. The team knew, though, that if they overrode the volumetric shutoff valves, which automatically prevented totally filling the tanks during re-fuelling, they could gain an extra 1892 litres. They were edging closer but much now depended on Brooks. Then the breakthrough came.


  In June, eight weeks out from the proposed flight, Shell gave Brooks the news that they could provide a solution using their specialised manufacturing-and-research facilities near Hamburg, Germany to produce a fuel. It would be an expensive one-off project, but if it could be done Brooks didn’t much care. At least it now wasn’t to come out of his own pocket!


  A search of Shell’s database narrowed the variety of crudes available from 400 down to 20 which could possibly meet the demands of the Qantas flight. From there followed an intense programme of blending and testing until a suitable high density could be achieved, although getting the fuel mix across Europe to London’s Heathrow airport would be a challenge in its own right.


  Because the high-density component was being produced at a refinery several kilometres from the normal Jet A-1 Hamburg plant, individual rail cars would have to be used as mixing vats to blend the two constituents. They would then be sealed and stored at the refinery until they were loaded into ten road tankers, driven across Europe and carried on different ferries across the Channel to the United Kingdom. The seals would only be released when the time came to transfer the fuel from the tankers to the fueller for the final series of shuttles to the aircraft. In the meantime the rail cars at Hamburg would be shunted backwards and forwards periodically to ensure the mix was retained.


  By now, however, it was July, more people were gradually being involved in the planning and the time for secrecy was running out, not least because the flight was a ‘one off’ and numerous special approvals for flight rights would have to be obtained from countries en route, a process which in some cases might take anything up to 30 days. By now, too, the venture was producing a prodigious amount of paperwork. The flight plan alone for this particular Kangaroo Route operation, normally comprising a few pages, stretched for three metres and had to be read across a Boeing meeting room board table.


  On 26 July Qantas’ director of flight operations, Captain Ken Davenport, announced the airline’s intentions. Along with using the flight to validate the 747-400’s performance data and fuel-management techniques: ‘We intend to enter the flight in the aviation record books.’


  Up to now a South African Airways Boeing 747SP (Special Performance) aircraft had held the nonstop distance record for a commercial aircraft, flying a Great Circle distance of 8872 nautical miles in seventeen hours 22 minutes between Seattle and Cape Town. Until the development of the 400 series, the SP, two of which had once been in the Qantas fleet, had been the longest-range commercial aircraft in the world, sacrificing normal passenger load for longer distance on selected routes.


  Along with Massy-Greene, Davenport announced the aircraft would be flown by three other executive captains, Flight Operations Training Director Captain Ray Heiniger, Flight Standards and Safety Director Rob Greenop, and Manager Flight Simulator George Lindeman. The carefully selected few on board would comprise senior representatives of Qantas, engine manufacturer Rolls Royce, Boeing, Australia’s Civil Aviation Authority and Shell; Qantas’ deputy chairman, Jack Davenport, and Mrs Davenport; and a small group of journalists, including the Australian Broadcasting Corporation, the Sydney Morning Herald, the Australian and the London Times.


  Ironically, the flight would have echoes of Qantas’ epic Double Sunrise service from Perth to Colombo in the Second World War: those on board would see the sunrise twice.


  Freed of the secrecy component and now spending most of his time in Seattle as the aircraft’s delivery date of 9 August drew near, Massy-Greene and the team set about obtaining the approvals and clearances necessary as Qantas Head Office geared up for a publicity blitz to make the most of the opportunity.


  In the meantime, rumours had begun to circulate that if British Airways had intended to attempt a nonstop London-to-Perth flight they had now abandoned that idea and planned to achieve their own media spectacular by landing not one but two 400s simultaneously at Heathrow on delivery. Even with such a reduced opposition media challenge to deal with, many in Qantas were still mindful that if their own venture fell short the laugh might be on the Australian airline.


  The plan was to fly the aircraft from Seattle to London several days before, a flight to be used to test the aircraft’s engine and systems performance, but the unknowns were still there. How would the aircraft perform on its first long flight to London? Were their calculations correct? Even an unscheduled delay in the planned departure date from London would be embarrassing, given the plans to garner maximum media exposure via a press conference at a premier London hotel.


  Added to that, the crew had to be ‘trained’. Because the nonstop aircraft was the airline’s first of the 400 type, it required its crew to have a specific endorsement over and above that required for the 200 and 300 series 747s, which had been part of the airline’s fleet for many years. And because of the tight time frame, endorsement of the pilots would need to be compressed from three days into one.


  Not even Massy-Greene himself had been endorsed on the 400, although by now he had a number of hours on it as part of its acceptance process. Ray Heiniger, however, had already been endorsed by a Boeing pilot, so they managed to achieve the conversion in four hours of intense training over Boeing’s training area at Moses Lake, near Seattle. It was there that their first serious problem arose.


  As they went through their endorsement flight, they detected what they would later describe as an ‘oil hide’ problem in two of the aircraft’s Rolls Royce RB211 engines. While their instruments would show normal oil pressure, other indicators revealed the engine oil quantity reducing markedly over a period of hours.


  ‘We were concerned about it and sent a message to Rolls [UK] to see if they had another two engines just in case we needed them as at this rate these two wouldn’t make it to Sydney,’ Heiniger remembers.


  As it would turn out, similar problems would occur on the positioning flight to London, causing the crew concern despite the all-important oil-pressure readings remaining normal. Eventually, while Rolls would subsequently find a solution to the problem, crews were instructed to operate normally unless oil pressure decreased also. For his part, Heiniger suggests this ‘oil hide’ problem was exacerbated by the intense training regime over Moses Lake, where the aircraft was consistently engaged on left-hand turns for hours in the circuit area, thus affecting the two engines on the ‘downside’.


  Finally, on 11 August, the Boeing 747-400 City of Canberra, watched by a contingent of Australian television and print media flown to Seattle for the occasion, took off on its positioning flight to London with a mix of nervous expectation among its crew. Despite concerns with the oil-quantity readings the aircraft performed perfectly and computer-performance readouts in London confirmed the green light for the record attempt to leave London on 16 August.


  By now, however, as media interest increased and final plans were put in place for the London press conference, events at Qantas corporate headquarters in Sydney risked diverting the attention of the media in another direction. The airline’s board and its chief executive, John Menadue, were on a collision course and on the cusp of a bitter parting of the ways. Differences between a strong-willed Menadue, with an impeccable public-service background and was a former ambassador to Japan, with the accompanying friends in high places—and Qantas Chairman Jim Leslie—generally acknowledged as one of the finest chairmen since the days of the airline’s first, Sir Fergus McMaster, but equally as strong-willed—had been festering for months, resulting in serious differences between Menadue, Leslie and the board.


  By mid-July, as planning for the flight reached a critical stage, although Menadue’s contract still had two years to run, the Qantas board had already decided to advertise the chief executive’s position ‘and an appropriate remuneration package’. Menadue was free to apply, but a ferocious behind-the-scenes battle was being fought, occasionally accompanied by dramatic media accounts.


  The issue became further complicated, at least for Qantas Deputy Chairman Jack Davenport, when Leslie had to undergo major heart surgery, forcing him to delegate the carriage of the Menadue issue to Davenport and another board member, Sir Tristan Antico. On 25 July the board announced that Menadue’s contract had been terminated by agreement ‘notwithstanding Mr Menadue’s desire to continue to serve out the terms of his contract’, and that John Ward had been appointed acting chief executive. At the same time Menadue made it clear to staff that he had not resigned.


  With the issue creating daily media interest in Australia, Davenport was hardly looking forward to being the first Qantas board member to be exposed to a baying media pack in London, some of them Australian representatives, where a wrong answer could have significant legal implications. His fears were well founded. The Menadue dispute was among the first questions asked, but he had been well briefed and slid deftly behind an inability to respond for legal reasons. However, he later made no secret of the fact that he was looking forward to boarding the City of Canberra for home.


  Beyond the Menadue questions, the media conference resulted in worldwide coverage of the coming flight, one London daily even carrying the story across its front page, along with a map of the route the 400 would take. Now all the four captains and their aeroplane had to do was achieve it.


  London on 16 August was overcast when the four crew members gathered on Heathrow’s tarmac below the aircraft for a final few words with the media. The aircraft-refuelling truck had run a shuttle the night before to deliver the high density and allow it to contract further overnight and they’d overridden the volumetric shut-off system to allow another 1892 litres as a final top-up.


  Now that it was down to the wire there was a tension in the air, evident when Massy-Greene snapped at a press photographer who wanted him to strike yet another pose. Months of planning and living the problem was beginning to take its toll and he wanted to be on his way. He and his crew had also read something in the weather reports they hadn’t wanted to see. The forecast winds en route were the worst they had been for weeks.


  A last-minute request from Sydney head office hadn’t helped. They asked if he could take another passenger, an engineer who had come to London to assist in the turnaround servicing of the aircraft at Heathrow. For Massy-Greene, who had banned everything beyond the barest hand luggage for the 22 already on the flight, an extra passenger now was the last thing he wanted, but the figures which had come out of the computer after the Seattle–London flight had been better than expected so he reluctantly agreed.


  Indeed, weight had become such an obsession with the crew that, when someone in London had arranged with Australian cricket captain, Allan Border, to pass them a ball used in the Fifth Test for symbolic carriage back to Australia, Heiniger had jokingly suggested they would have to weigh it first.


  There would be no customary start-up of engines when they pushed back from the terminal and, as the tug hooked to the front undercarriage assembly slowly began to tow them out across the airfield towards the end of the runway, those on the ground watched in mild disbelief as fuel spilled out from the wingtip vents. Fuel man, Peter Brooks, watched without comment. It might not have been a sight easily associated with the operating procedures of one of the world’s leading airlines, but calculations showed it would save half a tonne of fuel between the terminal and the start of the runway.


  Massy-Greene would later admit to a substantial feeling of relief when the first engine started normally. ‘Although there was no reason to doubt the engine would start, this was the first time this fuel had been used,’ he recalls.


  In a gesture which would prove typical of the cooperation they would receive for the entire flight, London air-traffic control had granted permission for City of Canberra to use the arrivals runway at Heathrow, slotting them between two arriving aircraft and thus avoiding any delay they might experience. Then, with an official of the Fédération Aéronautique Internationale (FAI), the organisation responsible for the oversight of all aviation record attempts, standing nearby to record the exact time, the wheels began to move and the City of Canberra was on its way.


  Once in the air, air-traffic control helped again by giving the 400 direct clearance to 33 000 feet, thus avoiding the requirement for any steep climbing in the normal ‘step-up’ procedure through various altitude levels across Europe. This was a northern summer and a busy time on European air routes as numerous holiday charter flights joined the already crowded skies. But not only were air-traffic controllers below showing interest by asking the City of Canberra for details of flight times and crew complement, it also quickly became evident that air-traffic control were in fact moving aircraft out of the 400’s way.


  When one airline pilot over Germany complained that he was looking to conserve fuel on a long-range flight and requested the City of Canberra’s altitude, the 400’s crew heard the controller explain that they already had an aircraft at that altitude: ‘And he’s going a bit further than you are.’


  With the airways virtually parting in front of it, the aircraft tracked over Frankfurt, right of the Austrian Alps, across Yugoslavia—where a Belgrade controller passed on the official greetings of the government—and Bulgaria towards Ankara in Turkey where it changed course slightly to head directly towards Tehran, then onto a more southerly course towards Muscat, Oman.


  Up to now all had been going smoothly, but as the aircraft climbed to 37 000 feet it became obvious the headwinds were much stronger even than forecast. For the next three hours, as it headed for Colombo, the crew could do nothing but watch as their fuel reserve started to diminish. Massy-Greene was now even starting to regret adding his extra passenger.


  In the cabin of the aircraft those on board had settled into a routine of their own. Night had fallen as they crossed the Middle East, but there were still things to do. Arrangements had been put in place for live broadcasts to be made from the aircraft by the ABC at various stages of the journey and the journalists on board were busy with requests for interviews from numerous radio stations in Australia and other parts of the globe.


  For the two cabin crew on board, Dave Cohen and Mal Callander, both senior flight service directors, the flight was anything but normal. With two daylight and two night sectors, all of them very short, along with a weight limit on what could be catered, a decision had been made early that everyone would eat when they felt hungry. Cohen and Callander had made sure, however, that nobody would have reason to complain about the menu.


  The choice for brunch was fillet steak served with spinach and croquettes of potato, or grilled halibut with parsley butter. Dinner came as medallions of veal or poached salmon, with strawberries and a selection of cheese and fruit to follow. Breakfast offered rolled oats and a cheese omelette served with tomato and bacon. With exercise important on such a long flight the vacant aisles of the aircraft became a walking track for many with Mrs Davenport taking it one step further by jogging circuits in her tracksuit.


  For Davenport, the dramas of the corporate world now thousands of kilometres away and himself a former pilot, the flight was of more than usual interest. Serving in wartime Europe he had once led his squadron of Royal Air Force Beauforts from England to Russia to protect North Sea convoys on the last stages of their hazardous journey to Murmansk. Not only was the flight from England to Russia at the extreme end of his Beaufort’s range but he would later reveal that, once based in Murmansk, the Russians were so concerned that he and his crew would decide to take the first opportunity to return to England that they only provided them with enough fuel to enable them to meet the convoys, provide temporary protection from German raiders and return to Murmansk. Davenport knew what saving fuel was all about.


  The long hours would leave lasting impressions on some of those aboard. Dave Rowley, aviation writer from the Australian newspaper, had migrated to Australia from the United Kingdom only eighteen months previously and couldn’t believe his good fortune in being assigned to cover the flight. He recalls the narrow margin between success and failure hitting home when they were even being towed to the end of the runway before starting up.


  It did give me time to consider that if a few moments of taxi time were the key to us making it over the runway threshold beyond Qantas Drive in Sydney, I’d have gone on a more rigorous diet beforehand to lighten the load!


  He still found it difficult to grasp he was part of making history, thundering down Heathrow’s runway in a first-class seat.


  Surely it had to be tougher than this to be a pioneer? Surely we had to be struggling with oil-specked goggles like Kingsford Smith or one of the other great aviators?


  Other memories of the flight would remain. More than twenty years later Rowley would compare the increased security restrictions with those of that ground-breaking flight, where the cockpit door stayed open and the four pilots were happy to answer his interminable questions.


  Unexpectedly the pilots even provided him with an opportunity to boast. His father, Allen, also a former aviation writer, had achieved a career highlight by dashing across the North Sea at the speed of sound in a US Air Force Super Sabre, so the crew patched him in from the flight deck to his family’s home phone in Leeds.


  Of course sat-phone links are common nowadays, but in 1989, for my folks to get a call from a Qantas 747-400 en route to making history was hugely exciting—though I think initially they thought someone was playing a prank on them from the local phone box.


  Sydney Morning Herald aviation writer, Tom Ballantyne, who enjoyed a cigarette or two, had other reasons to be thankful.


  I believe David Massy-Greene and I were the only smokers on board and David kindly declared the cockpit a smoking zone.


  He was even impressed by some of the contents of the limited catering, commenting for the Herald story:


  Because of weight restrictions, crucial to the success of the flight, only 350 kilograms had been allowed for food and beverages. That meant rationing of drinks.


  The official drinks list included only two dozen cans of Fosters, not much beer for a 20-hour flight. But there were five bottles of champagne, two bottles of white wine and two of red and various bottles of spirits.


  It turned out to be enough.


  Up front, as they passed Colombo and headed towards Cocos Island, the crew noticed the winds turn in their favour as they climbed to 41 000 feet, but there was continuous fuel monitoring and attention to the aircraft’s trim to ensure it had the optimum profile to cut through the air.


  Then, over Cocos, came the news they had been dreading, particularly at this late stage of the flight with their already reduced fuel reserves. There was a revised weather forecast for Sydney, predicting intermittent thunderstorms about the time of their arrival. If this forecast persisted it would mean regulations would require they would need double their reserve fuel. A quick calculation revealed that at this stage they didn’t have even 30 minutes of reserve fuel, let alone the 60 minutes required. Luckily, the winds had begun to turn, swinging around to their tail and in their favour. They began to make up lost time and their fuel situation started to improve.


  By the time they crossed the Australian coast at Carnarvon, Western Australia, the crew’s confidence had improved markedly and, while they now had enough fuel to reach Sydney, that Sydney thunderstorm forecast and a requirement for a diversion could mean the agony of last-minute failure. They knew the weather in either Adelaide or Melbourne was good in case they had to divert, but Massy-Greene was now remembering the words of his boss, Ken Davenport, who had mentioned during the planning stages that if he had to divert in the final stages he should not expect to fly home on the aircraft.


  ‘A bus,’ cautioned Davenport, ‘will be much more appropriate!’


  Unknown to the City of Canberra’s crew, however, now abeam Adelaide, that same Davenport was busy working some weather miracles from his operations centre at Mascot. On an open line to the weather forecasters he was suggesting it could be possible to change the forecast from thunderstorms to ‘heavy showers’, thus removing the requirement for that extra 30 minutes of fuel.


  To Davenport’s immense relief they agreed and a revised forecast was immediately flashed to the aircraft. Minutes later Davenport, still on an open line to the weather people, heard a shattering burst of thunder above him and directly over Qantas’ Mascot Jet Base.


  ‘What the **** was that?’ exclaimed the weather man.


  Legend has it that Davenport’s response was that no one at Mascot had heard anything!


  Approaching Mascot out of the cloud and rain from the north, sheets of spray spewed from the undercarriage as the big 747 touched down on the runway, twenty hours, nine minutes and five seconds after lift-off from London, half a world away. Despite the rain, crowds had gathered on the airport fringes to watch its arrival and hundreds of airport staff, groups of VIPs and media waited outside the Qantas hangars as the City of Canberra came to a stop. The four captains emerged first, to be immediately surrounded by a pressing media throng, but not before one of them inadvertently dropped Allan Border’s cricket ball, which clattered down the steps onto the tarmac.


  The months of planning, anxiety and doubt were over. They had done it and still had just over 45 minutes of fuel remaining in the tank and to follow would be dinners and congratulatory toasts and a general feeling of teamwork at its finest.


  Peter Brooks, however, would long harbour a tinge of regret. He had been determined to drain a tiny sample of the fuel from the City of Canberra’s tanks as a memento of the flight, but when he went to do so he found they had already refuelled the aircraft.


  ‘You know, they were so quick about it I’ve often wondered whether they didn’t want anyone to know how much they really had left,’ he says, with a slight smile.


  On November 2012, a Boeing Airplane Company’s 777-200 Long Range commercial airliner broke the Qantas distance record, flying between Hong Kong and London in 22 hours and 42 minutes. Massy-Greene, by now a Boeing employee, was among the first to congratulate those involved.
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  There’s something about low flying


  It was Lae, Papua New Guinea, early 1966. The telephone rings in the New Guinea Times Courier office. Brian Costello, local manager for Ansett-ANA, is on the line:


  There’s a Royal Air Force Hastings coming in from Honiara in the Solomons with hydraulic problems. He’s in for an emergency landing. You better get down here.


  Dusk is approaching as the vague outline of an aeroplane appears a long way to the south over Huon Gulf and gradually it takes the shape of a four-engine Hastings, a type based in the British Solomon Islands for transport duties. This aircraft, it turns out, is on its way back to England at the end of the crew posting and word from the captain is he may have problems with his undercarriage. He’s called for an emergency landing in case the gear doesn’t come down or collapses on landing.


  Fire engines and an ambulance are standing by as he makes his final approach from over the water and onto the runway. Fortunately nothing untoward happens and the aircraft rolls to a stop and taxis to Lae airport’s hardstand parking area.


  Ansett-ANA in Lae are charged with the handling of such itinerant aircraft, so Costello walks out to greet the crew as they climb out of the aircraft. He’s standing under the aircraft’s wing looking up as the captain, a flight lieutenant, comes around to join him.


  ‘What happened, skipper?’ Costello asks, a quizzical look on his face.


  ‘We had a bird strike and I think it may have fouled the hydraulics,’ is the reply.


  Costello, known locally for his quick wit, can’t help himself as he keeps staring up at branches and small twigs protruding from the lower wing and engine nacelles.


  ‘Christ, were they still in the bloody trees?’


  It hadn’t taken much to work out what had happened. The traditional low-flypast farewell had stayed a fraction too low for too long and cleaned up the tops of some trees at one end of Honiara’s airport. The result would be easily fixed, but presumably the flight lieutenant would have some explaining to do when he finally made it back to his squadron in the United Kingdom.


  One couldn’t help but feel a tinge of sorrow for him, at least from a Papua New Guinea point of view. A low flypast farewell was nothing out of the ordinary in the years after the war and into the 1960s. Lae, for instance, was at the extreme end of the Australia–Papua New Guinea services for Ansett-ANA and Trans-Australia Airlines (TAA) who had taken over the route from Qantas. Thus most days of the week Ansett and TAA would alternate overnight Lockheed Electra services from Sydney and Brisbane to Port Moresby and on to Lae, arriving at their termination point in the early morning.


  To many in Lae the daily arrival was a little more than merely an airline flight. In a country where few roads existed and aviation was its lifeblood, the regular morning Electra was a link with the world beyond. It meant the mail, people coming back from leave in Australia and others going south for the same reason. It wasn’t too much of a stretch to think of those old Western movies where everyone turned out to see the stagecoach come in. In 1960s Lae, with an airport, in typical PNG fashion, right in the middle of town, folks looked forward to the first appearance of that distant shape appearing out over Huon Gulf and the thin stream of black oil vapour trailing from its four engines. Around 7.30 in the morning you could almost set your watch on the sound of aero engines at reverse thrust echoing through the township as the Electra landed.


  Such an affinity with the aeroplane made it a special occasion when someone was ‘going finish’, the pidgin-English interpretation that their time in the Territory had come to an end and they were leaving, or ‘going south’, for the last time. This not only applied to residents but occasionally also to the aircraft captains who perhaps were moving on within the airline or retiring for good.


  And there was no better parting gesture than a flypast, usually achieved by the aircraft’s captain asking Lae air traffic control, somewhat tongue in cheek, for permission to: ‘Set Course down the runway’.


  The set pattern was a take-off towards the sea, execute a slow turn inside the mountain range to the south and approach Lae from up the broad Markham Valley. Then it was a drop below the hill at the other end of the airstrip and a high-speed run at only a hundred feet or so above the middle of the runway and a soaring climb out once again over the Gulf.


  To the scores of Lae residents gathered at the airport it was as impressive as it was traditional and, sadly, it died when the airlines replaced their Electras with the Boeing 727 jets which terminated in Port Moresby. Lae airfield was no longer capable of handling such an aircraft and somehow the feeder service from Port Moresby with Fokker Friendships didn’t quite have the same ring to it.


  That said, low flying has been around since the Wright Brothers started things at Kittyhawk in 1903. Indeed, it was a daily occurrence in Australia’s early aviation where joy-riding and barnstorming were part of the romance of this new flying machine and pilots revelled in an environment where rules were few and those tasked with applying them were far away.


  Indeed in the days of the aforementioned Frank Collopy and his low-level salute to the clay shooters at Nhill, it was the rule rather than the exception, fortunately only costing Collopy a fine of 25 pounds rather than his life, and you didn’t need to be a daring young air-force aviator to try it.


  No one has ever been able to prove whether the tale is apocryphal or otherwise, but Frank’s brother, Jim, also a pilot and in charge of the Department of Civil Aviation’s Western Australian branch, told of once going out to a remote station to investigate a bird strike which had resulted in a badly damaged aeroplane. Jim had his suspicions about the cause and decided to take the feathers and other samples back to Perth for analysis. The story goes that Jim confirmed it was a case of low flying alright. They were chook feathers!


  In more modern times, however, there is a far more serious side to the business of low flying, underlined by the number of people who die trying it. Low flying is classified as flying lower than 1000 feet above ground level over a populated area or below 500 feet over any other area. According to Australian Transport Safety Bureau (ATSB) statistics, at least six of the 147 fatal accidents in general aviation—that part of the aviation industry which covers aerial work; flying training; and private, business, sport and recreational flying—between 1999 and 2008 were associated with unauthorised, and unnecessary, low flying.


  In ATSB they’re known as ‘avoidable accidents’, prompting the bureau to reiterate the inherent dangers in the practice and publish details of the lessons which can be learned from some of the accidents. Many of the incidents which occur in the private-flying sector have been due to pilots being unable to resist the temptation to provide their own display at low level to impress those on the ground, with the result that those watching witness the horrifying spectacle of a fatal crash. The records show a variety of causes, most involving inexperience, where pilots attempt a steep climb or a tight turn at too low an altitude in an aircraft which is simply not capable of recovery in the airspace available.


  ‘The annals of Australian accident investigation are full of the consequences of such misguided flying enthusiasm,’ says Macarthur Job, for many years editor of Australia’s Aviation Safety Digest, Australian civil aviation’s publication which is designed to bring to pilots the lessons learned from accidents.


  Job has a compendium of accidents where inexperienced pilots and their passengers have died in low-level performances at carnivals, aero club picnic days and light aircraft ‘fly-ins’. In some instances family members have died when pilots have attempted a low-level ‘beat-up’ of the family farm and crashed in front of the homestead. Even experienced pilots have paid the price, some flying former wartime fighters like the Mustang, which although designed with power enough for dogfights in battle, become death traps when mistakes are made at low level.


  Even at air shows, where crowds thrill to aerobatics, formation flying and low high-speed passes, strict limitations are in place for what can and cannot be done and the level of experience required to do it.


  But if low flying is to be done, then an air show is the place for it, although there are times when even air-show organisers have been left with their mouths open. One Australian airline pilot remembers an air show at Schofields, near Sydney, not long after the introduction of the Boeing 747 into airline service in the late 1960s early 1970s. The highlight of the show was to be a flyover by a British Airways 747, which was due to arrive in Sydney from London at an ideal time in the show’s program. The crew of the Boeing took it one step further, however, stunning the crowd by approaching tiny Schofields with its landing gear down and almost touching the runway before flying off to land at Mascot.


  Even with full approval, a highly experienced crew and hours of preparation for the performance, taking something like a 747 through its paces at an air show can have its down side. The annual air show at Oshkosh, Wisconsin, in the United States is regarded as the mecca for thousands of the world’s aviation enthusiasts, attracting civil and military aircraft from the early days of aviation through to the latest in commercial and military hardware. When a group of Australian enthusiasts chartered a Qantas Boeing to the Oshkosh Show in the early 1980s, the airline used the opportunity to offer the show’s organisers a flypast with the big 747-300. Their acceptance meant something of a publicity coup at an event widely televised around the world, so the airline was delighted when Australia’s Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) gave approval, albeit with some restrictions.


  For some still unknown reason, the restrictions were not passed to the air-show organisers and to this day there remains some dispute between Qantas’ then Director of Flight Operations, Captain Alan Terrell, who had approached the CAA, and the airline’s Flight Operations Line Director, Captain Ken Davenport, who was to command the flight, as to the height restrictions themselves. Terrell says the CAA agreement meant the flypast could not go below 500 feet. For his part, Davenport says he had no knowledge of the limitation and the two former colleagues still stand by their claims. What is certain, however, is that, in typical Qantas fashion, much preparation and training went into the venture to ensure it was safely executed.


  ‘We knew what we were doing,’ recalls Davenport, explaining that he and his crew spent six hours practising the flypast in the Qantas simulator at Mascot, where it was possible to recreate the actual event as if it was taking place at Oshkosh.


  Once at Oshkosh, their part in it all took less than twenty minutes as the 747 roared down the centre of the runway to mark the show’s opening. Davenport says he was happy with the way it all went, although a Qantas captain who was on the ground later told him he thought it was a little boring. ‘He felt we didn’t come down low enough.’


  As it turned out, back in Australia, CAA thought it was anything but boring, particularly after television news reported it had been carried out at 300 feet with the result that Qantas and Davenport were immediately issued with a ‘please explain’ why the 500 feet limit had been broken. Davenport had no argument with that. He readily admitted he’d been at 300 feet, it’s just that he claimed he was unaware of the limit. As a result he had his knuckles rapped, was demoted for six months, then reappointed by Terrell to a role similar to his original one.


  ‘It didn’t do me any harm in the end,’ Davenport says philosophically.


  Perhaps, therefore, he could be expected to have some sympathy for another airline captain who, many years before flying a DC-3 across outback Queensland, was providing his passengers with the ride of their life by flying very low across Australia’s wide-open spaces. Suddenly there was a tap on his shoulder and one of the passengers announced he was a DCA official and could the captain please explain what he thought he was doing!


  But while airline pilots might spend the vast majority of their working lifetime operating to agreed flight plans along busy air routes and, beyond actual landings and take-offs, rarely experience ‘seat-of-the-pants’ flying, there have been exceptions. Kai Tak, Hong Kong’s airport for more than 70 years until replaced by a new airport at Chep Lap Kok off Lantau Island, had more than its share of challenges—and aircraft mishaps—in its lifetime.


  Situated on the west side of Kowloon Bay, one end of its single 3352-metre runway jutted out into the bay on reclaimed land, while much of Hong Kong’s high-rise development pressed in from the other end. To the average passenger enjoying a close-up view of laundry hanging from residential windows as the aeroplane landed, it was a most unusual experience. To the crew up front it could present a rare opportunity to really test one’s flying skills in a big commercial jetliner. As one senior Qantas captain, with scores of landings at Kai Tak, admits: ‘If you achieved a good landing at Hong Kong you walked away very pleased with yourself.’


  This was because the approach took the aircraft over the harbour then across a densely populated West Kowloon before reaching a small hill, on top of which was a large checkerboard sign, at which point, while the passengers continued to look at the laundry, the pilot needed to make an almost 50-degree right turn to line up with the runway and complete his final approach. Severe crosswinds and occasional typhoon conditions made the final touchdown a character-building experience even for pilots who had been flying for decades.


  Not that such conditions worried many pilots. In fact, some captains were known to jealously protect their rights to the Kai Tak experience, frequently preferring to do it themselves rather than give their first officer a turn. After all, rank has its privileges.
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  Crime in the skies


  Flight 408, Trans-Australia Airlines’ last Lockheed Electra flight out of Sydney for Brisbane on the night of Tuesday 19 July 1960, had left on time and was operating normally when Flight Attendant Fay Strugnell casually placed a despatch bag on the vacant seat beside a passenger seated towards the rear of the aircraft. When she bent down to place her flight papers inside she found herself looking down the barrel of a rifle.


  ‘Get the captain,’ ordered the man at the other end of the gun. ‘We are not going to Brisbane.’


  Those two statements, and the dramatic events which followed, would mark Australia’s first air hijack.


  Demonstrating admirable calmness, Strugnell played for time, even having the presence of mind to suggest the man with the gun ‘wait a moment’ while she continued with her task. But 22-year-old Alex Hildebrandt wasn’t having any of it.


  ‘Get the captain or I’ll blow your head off.’


  Strugnell set off down the Electra’s central aisle, towards the cockpit, trying not to appear to be in too much of a rush for fear of attracting passenger interest. With Strugnell now out of sight Hildebrandt waved the weapon at the second attendant, Janeene Christie, and demanded she also get the captain, but before Christie could comply, Flight Engineer Fred McDonald, accompanied by Strugnell, was already heading towards them from the front of the aircraft.


  It didn’t take McDonald long to work out how serious the threat was. Not only did the intending hijacker have a sawn-off .22 rifle, but beside him on the seat were two sticks of gelignite, connected by a bare wire to a torch battery on the ashtray of the seat’s armrest.


  Now pointing the rifle at McDonald, Hildebrandt told him he wanted the aircraft to go to Singapore, but by now the aircraft’s captain, John Benton, had also sent First Officer Tom Bennett back to see what was going on. While McDonald returned to the cockpit, under the guise of checking how much fuel the Electra had, Bennett began negotiating with Hildebrandt, but when told that the aircraft must land in Brisbane the gunman became increasingly agitated. Help, however, was coming from an unexpected quarter. John Benton was aware that another of the airline’s captains and flight operations superintendent in Papua New Guinea, Dinny Lawrence, was also travelling on the aircraft. He called Lawrence to the cockpit and told him what was happening and that the passenger must be disarmed at all costs.


  Grabbing the aircraft’s fire axe from behind the cockpit, Lawrence set off to help Bennett. As fortune would have it, Lawrence was travelling in civilian clothes and, with the axe hidden under his jacket, walked passed Bennett and sat in the seat behind Hildebrandt.


  Lawrence waited a few minutes while Bennett continued to talk to Hildebrandt then leaned over the seat behind the hijacker to confirm what Bennett was telling him about the aircraft’s fuel. He explained the aircraft had no chance of making it to Singapore and might even be lucky to make it as far as Rockhampton. As he did so he began to reach for the axe under his coat. The movement momentarily distracted Hildebrandt and Bennett made a lunge for the hand holding the gelignite. In the scuffle that followed the gun went off, the bullet missing Bennett’s chest by mere centimetres and punching a hole in the aircraft’s roof. With Bennett wrestling and Lawrence wielding the axe, Hildebrandt was finally overpowered, but not before Lawrence at one stage found himself sitting on the gelignite.


  With Hildebrandt now subdued and pinned to the seat, Bennett set off back towards the cockpit after handing the axe to another passenger, Sydney man Warren Penny, with the instruction: ‘If he moves smash this across his skull.’


  Queensland police were standing by as the Electra taxied to a stop at Brisbane airport and, muttering unintelligibly, Hildebrandt was given the dubious honour of being the first hijacker to be arrested in Australia, while most of the 42 other passengers on board remained unaware of what had happened.


  Later reports indicated that Russian-born Hildebrandt had left his home at Riverstone in Sydney with eighteen pounds given to him by his mother to pay an outstanding rail fine and some money off the price of a suit he had ordered. Instead he purchased a duffle coat and with the remainder purchased a one-way ticket to Brisbane. Hildebrandt was sentenced to a total of fifteen years’ gaol on charges of attempted murder, along with other charges relating to having an explosive device on board an aircraft. In a bizarre twist he successfully appealed the sentence on the grounds that the aircraft was in New South Wales, not Queensland, airspace when he armed the explosives in the Electra’s toilet. As a result he was released after serving three years in a Brisbane gaol, only to be arrested again by NSW detectives, subsequently spending seven more years in prison.


  In late November 1960 Tom Bennett was awarded the George Medal for his part in the incident, while Dinny Lawrence received the Queen’s Commendation for Brave Conduct.


  Four more such crimes would occur in the years to follow, two of them ending in the deaths of two hijackers on Australian soil. These, of course, were the days before hijacking would achieve notoriety as a political weapon, particularly in the 1970s throughout the Middle East and other parts of the world. Terrorist groups would use the vulnerability of the airline industry to further their causes, creating wide public awareness as television displayed their often ruthless activities.


  Filmed images of captured hostages being thrown from aircraft onto the tarmac after being shot while negotiations took place were indelibly printed in the public’s mind. Other news images showed hostages being released by a Palestinian group in the Jordanian desert, to be followed by a series of explosions as the three airliners they had hijacked were blown apart.


  All this would have been far from the minds of at least 27 of the passengers aboard Ansett Airlines Flight 232 as it began its descent into Alice Springs on the afternoon of 15 November 1972. Even if any one of them had given it a thought, the likelihood of someone wishing to hijack a Fokker Friendship airliner in one of the most remote areas of Australia would have quickly been dismissed. It was, however, certainly in the mind of passenger number 28, who emerged from the aircraft’s toilet and, pointing a sawn-off rifle and a hunting knife at flight attendant Gai Rennie, in the middle of making her pre-landing announcement, told her: ‘This is a hijack.’


  Brandishing the rifle towards the other flight attendant, Kaye Goreham, the heavily accented passenger, who had been listed on the flight as ‘M. Nelson’, forced both women forward into the narrow cockpit doorway and told Captain Ralph Young he wanted a parachute and jump suit and to be taken 1609 kilometres out in the desert where he would jump from the aircraft.


  At a critical stage of the flight and only minutes away from landing, Young’s first thought was to get the aircraft and its passengers safely on the ground, buying time by telling the man the Fokker Friendship was an unsafe aircraft from which to undertake a parachute jump. Although agitated and appearing nervous, passenger Nelson then accepted Kaye Goreham’s suggestion that they needed to sit down for landing, so the three of them crouched on the galley floor as the Fokker touched down and taxied to a remote part of the Alice Springs airport.


  Then followed four hours of tension while police, who had rushed to the airport and taken up positions within sight of the Fokker, negotiated with the hijacker. Surprisingly, he kept telling them he didn’t want money and repeated that he only wanted to commit suicide by jumping into the desert, surviving as long as he could and then shooting himself. Occasionally he would walk up and down the aircraft’s aisle waving his rifle from side to side while the passengers looked on in a mixture of disquiet and bewilderment, all the time sweating in the 40-degree heat of an Alice Springs afternoon.


  As the hours passed there were several occasions when Young and his first officer, Wal Gowans, believed they had talked the hijacker out of his intentions, but Nelson would invariably always return to his original demands, which had now changed to the provision of a light plane and a parachute. And if he didn’t get them he would start shooting passengers.


  When told both demands would be met Nelson finally agreed to release the passengers, but for Kaye Goreham the drama was far from over. Out on the airfield, Alice Springs Aero Club chief instructor Ossie Watts was preparing one of the club’s aircraft, a six-seater Cessna 206. He had volunteered to fly it with Constable Paul Sandeman, in plain clothes, posing as navigator. On orders from Nelson, Watts taxied the Cessna to within a few metres of the Fokker and, its engine running, waited. Police, concealing themselves at various parts of the airport, watched as Nelson forced Goreham to jump down from the Fokker with him and marched her in front of him towards the Cessna. The crew of the Fokker quickly closed the aircraft door to prevent the hijacker’s return.


  What happened next would last only a few minutes but would be something those involved would never forget. Suspicious, Nelson shouted over the noise of the Cessna’s engine for Sandeman to get out of the aircraft, telling Goreham to search the policeman while he held the gun to them. As Goreham ‘frisked’ Sandeman, she felt a pistol in his pocket but said nothing.


  ‘Then Paul lunged for the gun,’ Goreham would recount later. ‘I was standing next to him and the hijacker shot his gun and the bullet went through Paul’s hand.’


  Nelson fired again, this time hitting Sandeman in the stomach and the policeman began to stagger away from the gunman towards the Fokker. Goreham, although for seconds remaining frozen with shock, soon began to run after him as the gunman fired more shots in Sandeman’s direction. While Sandeman sought refuge beneath the Fokker, the crew reopened the door and dragged Goreham inside.


  By now other police were racing towards the scene, firing at Nelson as they approached. Watts, who had earlier been handed a pistol by Sandeman, also opened fire. Despite being hit several times the hijacker returned fire while he hid behind a low earth bank in scrub at the edge of the field. Then, in what appeared to be a surrender motion, he held up one arm, but as police approached he turned away, another shot rang out and he fell back. When police reached him they found he had turned his .22 Armalite rifle on himself, firing up under his jaw.


  Ossie Watts, meanwhile, ran to the aid of Constable Sandeman, bleeding beneath the Fokker. Both policeman and hijacker were raced to Alice Springs hospital where Constable Sandeman underwent emergency surgery for four gunshot wounds. ‘Mr Nelson’—with bullet wounds to the left leg, right shoulder and the head—died that night.


  The saga, however, was far from over. Although police were able to rapidly confirm that Nelson wasn’t his real name, no one came forward to identify him and months passed while his body lay refrigerated in the Alice Springs morgue. Finally, almost six months later, in May 1973, after a team of investigative reporters from the Sydney Morning Herald visited Alice Springs and published a story and a picture of the man, a Sydney woman rang the Herald, identifying him as Miloslav Hrabinec, who had migrated to Australia from Czechoslovakia in the late 1960s. Two of Hrabinec’s friends and his Sydney dentist then flew to Alice Springs to positively identify the body.


  While little was ever confirmed of Hrabinec’s motives for the hijack there was a report that he had suffered a financial loss due to a housing scam. Constable Sandeman’s injuries prevented him from ever returning to the Northern Territory Police Force, but he was later awarded the Queen’s Commendation for Bravery. He died in a car crash in Queensland in 1995.


  Kaye Goreham continued as a flight attendant but retired several years after the event and raised a family. As fate would have it, she should not even have been on Flight 232 that November day. Another Ansett flight attendant had called in sick and she’d substituted for her.


  Although it took place more than a decade after the TAA Electra incident near Brisbane in 1960, the Alice Springs crime is often wrongly identified as Australia’s first hijacking. Perhaps in media files and in the public’s mind the gunfight to the death on the Alice Springs runway had left a more lasting impression. But while it wasn’t the first, it certainly wasn’t to be the last.


  Seven years later, at a crowded Sydney airport, another hijack attempt would occur, also ending in a death.
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  Ground crews work on one of the B-24 Liberator bombers used by the RAAF’s top secret 200 Flight at Leyburn, near Toowoomba during the latter months of the war against Japan. Note the lack of suitable cover or hard standing for the aircraft under the primitive conditions at Leyburn.
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  Trans-Australia Airlines Captain Ray Vuillermin (right) and his First Officer Tony Burgess, whose Fokker Friendship arrived in Darwin on Christmas Day 1974 after the city had been devastated by Cyclone Tracy. Their F-27 was one of the first to leave with evacuees. (Photo courtesy Ray Vuillermin)
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  The old Berrima hospital in the Northern Territory from the air. Qantas took over the hospital for staff and transiting passengers as it reopened Darwin to the world following the war. (Photo courtesy Qantas)
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  Z Special Unit commandos atop the structure used to prepare them for their air drops into enemy territory. The soldier in the centre has positioned himself on a slide similar to those used to exit the aircraft. (Photo courtesy RAAF)
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  A rare, very low flypast by a commercial airliner, beautifully captured by photographer Peter Ralph as TAA’s first Viscount arrives at Melbourne’s Essendon airport after its delivery flight from the UK in October 1954. The excitement of the new arrival was short lived however when the Viscount crashed during a training exercise at Victoria’s Mangalore airport several weeks later, killing three of the crew on board. (Photo courtesy Peter Ralph)
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  The final resting place of the RAAF Caribou at Porgera, Papua New Guinea after attempting to land at the wrong airfield. (Photo courtesy RAAF)
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  ‘Customer meal delivery’ Papua New Guinea style. A Qantas captain poses for the camera as he feeds a cow through the window of his DC-3. (Photo courtesy Qantas)
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  Rhesus monkeys being offloaded from a Qantas aircraft after a flight from Asia in the 1950s. The monkeys were not the easiest cargo to deal with, forcing crews to wear overalls to protect them from anything the monkeys could lay their hands on! (Photo courtesy Qantas)
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  Pindiu airstrip, Papua New Guinea, typical of the challenges which had to be handled by pilots operating in that country. Note the terrain provides for an approach from only one direction and, with rising ground at the far end, leaves no opportunity for a ‘go around’. (Photo courtesy Dave Wiltshire)
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  Roy (Nug) Hibben photographed alongside a Meteor jet fighter while serving with the RAAF’s No 77 Squadron in Korea. Hibben would recall a near-death experience when he failed to tighten his cockpit harness before carrying out an inverted low level flypast at the RAAF base at Kimpo, near Seoul. (Photo courtesy Benny Hibben)
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  Qantas pilots try some light humour with this sign alongside the airstrip at Embi in Papua New Guinea. The makeshift sign reads: ‘Qantas Empire Airways Ltd Embi Branch. Booking office and Lounge.’ (Photo courtesy Hartley Shannon collection)
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  The humour extends to the Embi ‘hostess’. These were the days before political correctness entered the lexicon! (Photo courtesy Hartley Shannon collection)
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  A Qantas Lockheed Constellation at Darwin. Qantas had to virtually start from scratch to reintroduce international services through a bomb ravaged Darwin after World War Two. (Photo courtesy Qantas)
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  At Wynyard in Tasmania, the planes and trains had to take it in turns on the runway as the train track ran across it.
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  Double Sunrise Catalina: Qantas Catalina Altair Star being prepared for departure at Nedlands, near Perth. (Photo courtesy Qantas)
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  Two members of a UK parliamentary delegation, Baroness Dr Edith Summerskill and Mr J Harris with Qantas captain J.A.R Furze about to board Rigel Star at Nedlands on a Double Sunrise service to Ceylon in July 1944. (Photo courtesy Qantas)
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  Captain Hugh Birch (fourth from left) and his garlanded crew on the arrival of the Catalina survey flight to Tahiti, via Noumea, Fiji and Tonga in July 1950, a flight which laid the foundation for commercial aviation between Australia and her Pacific neighbours. (Photo courtesy Qantas)
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  A smiling Captain Hugh Birch in his ‘office’ aboard the Catalina Island Chieftain. (Photo courtesy Qantas)
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  A spectacular photograph of the damage caused by Cyclone Tracy at Darwin airport. Few aircraft survived undamaged. (Photo courtesy News Limited)
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  Laurie Crowley (right) pictured in his Crowley Airways hangar at Lae, Papua New Guinea in the 1950s. Behind him is the Curtiss Robin he was flying when he crashed on takeoff from one of New Guinea’s dangerous airfields. (Photo courtesy Betty Crowley)
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  Qantas Darwin airport manager Peter Snelling on one of the motorcycles the airline airlifted into Darwin after Cyclone Tracy. The motorcycles provided vital transport for Snelling and the airline’s Darwin manager Ian Burns-Woods in the hectic days of the Darwin airlift. (Photo courtesy Qantas)
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  Darwin residents walk to a TAA Boeing 727 to be evacuated from the city following Cyclone Tracy. Thousands were flown out within days in a massive airlift involving civil and military aircraft.
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  A rainy welcome at Qantas’s Mascot Jet Base on the arrival of the record breaking nonstop London Sydney Boeing 747-400 flight in August 1989. (Photo courtesy Qantas)
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  The wreckage of the Connellan Airways complex at Alice Springs in January 1977 after the airborne murder/suicide which left five people dead and others seriously injured. (Photo courtesy Kelvin Hawthorn)
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  Ansett Airlines’ Boeing 747 on its nose on Mascot’s main runway after its nose wheel failed to lock down, October 1994. (Photo courtesy Bob Smith Aussieairliners.net)
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  Flight steward Esme Qazim and Captain Grahame Mackelmann pictured after receiving their awards for ‘conspicuous courage in the face of grave peril’. Ms Qazim knocked the armed hijacker to the floor where he was finally overpowered.
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  The nose wheel of the Pan Am Boeing 747 wedged firmly in the soil after over-running the western end of Sydney’s east-west runway in July 1971.
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  With Captain Ken Davenport at the controls, the Qantas 747-300 drops to three hundred feet in a spectacular opening to the Oshkosh Air Show in the United States in the early 1980s, an altitude which didn’t impress Australian aviation authorities. Davenport would claim he had not been advised he had only been cleared for a five hundred feet flypast.
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  ‘I’ll blow this aeroplane up’: you, me and everyone else.’


  Twenty-two-year-old Canberra nurse Suzanne Chisholm was looking forward to attending her brother’s wedding in New Zealand when she arrived at Mascot airport late on the morning of 4 April 1979. She was in the departures area and had offered to assist another woman who appeared to be struggling with her luggage when she was suddenly grabbed from behind and a knife was pressed against her throat.


  Italian migrant Domenico Speranza was about to set off a four-hour hijack drama which would threaten the lives not only of Chisholm and a group of police officers trying to rescue her and disarm him, but create the danger of an explosion which could blow a Boeing 747 apart and extensively damage Sydney’s international terminal.


  In front of stunned onlookers, Speranza dragged the terrified nurse across the terminal and pushed her through the Customs barrier at the departure level. As several Customs officers began to approach, Speranza shouted: ‘Stay back or I will kill her.’


  As they backed away Speranza continued to half push, half drag Chisholm along the concourse to the departure lounge at Gate 7, where Pan American’s Boeing 747 Special Performance aeroplane had parked after arriving from Los Angeles less than an hour earlier. Only a few cleaners preparing the flight for its departure later that afternoon were on the 747 and they quickly ran for a rear door when they saw Speranza and his hostage come aboard, his knife still at her throat.


  By now, alerted by the Customs officers, Commonwealth Police Chief Inspector John Burrows was on his way. Burrows, a former London policeman who had played a prominent role in the arrest of the notorious Kray brothers some years before, was part of a Commonwealth police contingent stationed at the airport and responsible for safety and security on Commonwealth property.


  Burrows immediately began a conversation with Speranza in an attempt to have him release Chisholm, but Speranza repeatedly refused, continuing to hold the knife against his captive. Burrows could see blood on Chisholm’s throat. He told Speranza he would leave the aircraft and find a doctor to treat Chisholm’s wound.


  After Burrows left, Speranza, by now in a highly agitated state, told Chisholm that this would be the first time a hijacking had occurred in Sydney and he expected it to be in all the newspapers. He said he had a bomb which he claimed ‘would blow up a hundred people’, showing her a gold-coloured beer can with a 15-centimetre wick protruding from the top.


  When Burrows returned and resumed negotiating, Speranza began to explain that he no longer liked living in Australia, had been out of work and unable to find a job and he wanted to go to Russia via Rome, where he wished to talk to the Pope. Negotiations between the two continued until, carefully choosing his moment, Burrows lunged at Speranza and grabbed his right hand, forcing the hijacker to loosen his grip on Chisholm. As Burrows struggled with Speranza he shouted to Chisholm: ‘Run!’


  Chisholm needed no further encouragement and raced through the aircraft door into the departure lounge where she was met by other police. Speranza continued to refuse Burrows’ requests to leave the aircraft and at one stage, noticing police gathered at the door of the 747, shouted at them: ‘This is a bomb, get off the aircraft or I’ll blow everything up.’


  Meanwhile a hand-picked team of NSW police was beginning to arrive on the scene. Unlike in later years, there existed no permanently established NSW Police SWOS team in 1979. Rather, specially trained police would be quickly called in to bring their skills together to handle the type of situation now occurring at Mascot.


  Along with Burrows, the police team now included Detective Sergeant Nelson Chad, from the Criminal Investigation Branch, who had been trained in hostage negotiations, Detective Sergeant Don Worsley, who was from the Homicide Squad, Detective Senior Constables Bill Duff, Harry Allen and Brian Harding from the Armed Hold-up Squad, and Aldo Lorenzutta, an Italian-speaking member of the Fraud Squad.


  While Lorenzutta began to open a conversation with Speranza other police were on their way to his home in Fairfield where he lived with his sister and brother-in-law. What they found there only added to their concerns. In his bedroom were a large number of 12-gauge shotgun cartridges which had been cut open and their powder and shot removed, along with rolls of masking tape, plastic tubing and two empty KB beer cans. Police gathered up the evidence and rushed back to the airport where an inspection by ballistics experts confirmed that if the contents of Speranza’s bomb were ignited they had the potential to light fuel in the aircraft tanks immediately below where he was sitting and destroy the aircraft, along with a large part of the terminal. The news of the authenticity of the bomb convinced the police they needed to act quickly to disarm Speranza, who now had the beer can bomb in one hand and his knife and a match in the other.


  During his negotiations with the hijacker, Lorenzutta also noticed a cartridge-type box with a wick protruding from the top lying on the floor near Speranza’s feet. By now Speranza was becoming increasingly distressed and irrational, at one stage holding up a live match, saying to the policemen: ‘If you love your children, don’t come near me or I will blow this plane up, me, you and everybody else.’


  Then he demanded bread to eat, at the same time demanding Lorenzutta locate the crew of the aircraft so they could leave the country.


  While Lorenzutta left the aircraft to find the bread, Chad and the other detectives manoeuvred one of the airport fire hoses to just outside the door of the aircraft. By now the police team had decided that the members of the Special Weapons Squad would attempt to disarm Speranza. Their plan was to rush the hijacker, at the same time hitting him with a burst of water in the hope they could douse any attempt to light the fuse on the bomb.


  Lorenzutta was to resume negotiations and alert the others when he judged the timing was right to overpower Speranza. Chad and his colleagues, all armed with .38 revolvers, stood just outside the door of the aircraft, ready to move forward when Lorenzutta gave the signal. Lorenzutta, on the other hand, was now ‘armed’ with his two loaves of bread. He threw the first loaf, which landed on the row of seats in front of Speranza. Then he threw the second, which landed in the aisle near the hijacker, and he watched closely as Speranza stood up as if to move to retrieve the bread. Seizing the opportunity Lorenzutta shouted: ‘Now!’


  With that, Chad, Harding and Allen stormed aboard, Chad directing a blast of water which hit the hijacker in the face. As Harding moved towards him, revolver at the ready, Speranza half turned to avoid the stream of water and shouted, ‘I kill you!’ still trying to strike a match and ignite the bomb.


  Harding fired. The bullet hit Speranza in the left arm, but he continued to try to light the match. Harding fired a second time, hitting the hijacker on the left side of his forehead. As Speranza slumped back onto a seat one of the policemen secured the bomb, along with a second explosive device on the floor of the aircraft. Within minutes Speranza was being treated by doctors and was on his way to South Sydney hospital and later transferred to Prince Henry hospital where he underwent surgery for his head wound; however, he failed to respond and died later that night.


  Speranza’s sister would later tell police that, following injuries sustained in a motor vehicle accident, her brother had become increasingly disturbed, claiming he should have been awarded damages as a result of the accident. She said for several days prior to the Pan Am incident he had acted strangely, refused to speak to her and when asked what was the matter told her he ‘had something to do’ and to ‘mind her own business’.


  Forensic examination of the KB can and the second package, a cartridge box, would reveal both were packed with gunpowder and shot, with the KB can also containing a quantity of sawn-off screwdriver blades. The full potential of the threat to the aircraft would be demonstrated some weeks later when—watched by the City Coroner, police, media representatives and Pan Am’s Director of Public Relations, Ted Porter—explosives experts would place the bombs in a motor vehicle at Malabar’s Anzac Rifle Range and detonate them. Porter watched as the bomb wrecked the vehicle and recalls:


  We were standing some way back from it all on sloping ground when the roof of the car went up and destroyed the vehicle.


  In the middle of the explosion we heard a ‘twang’ behind us. One of the screwdriver heads inside the bomb had fortunately passed between all of us and embedded itself in the passenger door of one of the press vehicles.


  As for the Pan Am flight, maintenance crews replaced several bloodstained seats and it left for San Francisco later the same day. Nurse Chisholm also made it to Auckland that day, although a little later than she had originally planned.


  To show their appreciation, Pam Am hosted five of the police officers involved and their wives on an all-expenses-paid first-class trip around the world. Ironically, one of their main stopovers was Rome. Ted Porter gratefully accepted a ‘direction’ from his Pan American boss, Mike Merlini, to act as their escort.


  But Australia’s anti-hijacking teams wouldn’t be idle for long. Just two months later there would be another attempt, this time with a Trans-Australia Airlines jet as the target. The air route between Coolangatta and Brisbane on Australia’s east coast is one of the nation’s shortest sectors. It’s a tight, twenty-minute flight into the mix of other aircraft operating within the busy Brisbane airport control area and, for pilots in charge of a fast-moving jet like a Douglas DC-9, it demands full concentration.


  Trans-Australia Airlines Flight 552 on the night of 8 June 1979, barely had time to climb to its designated altitude of 8000 feet when Captain Grahame Mackelmann and his first officer, John Pyman, were told to descend to 4000 feet for the approach to Brisbane airport. Just as they pointed the nose of the DC-9 down, Mackelmann turned to see passenger Phillip Sillery burst into the cockpit, waving a sawn-off shotgun at him and demanding the aircraft climb to 20 000 feet. Despite the demand, accompanied by a blast of abuse, Pyman, who was hand-flying the aircraft, continued the descent but immediately switched on the DC-9’s emergency transponder which would alert air-traffic control that they had a hijacker aboard.


  Pointing the gun at Mackelmann’s head, Sillery insisted the cockpit door be closed and told him to use the aircraft’s public-address system to instruct the passengers to remain seated. While Pyman commenced a slow circle over Brisbane, still descending, Mackelmann began to talk to Sillery, pointing to the fuel gauges and the limited amount of fuel in the aircraft’s tanks and explaining that the aircraft would have to land. Sillery, on the other hand, realising the aircraft was still descending, became more and more agitated, claiming he was not going to let the aircraft land and at one stage threatening:


  ‘We will crash the aeroplane. Put it into Moreton Bay, land or water, I don’t care. I’ve got nothing to lose.’


  As was normal procedure during an airliner’s descent, the crew had earlier programmed their altitude settings to alert them when the aircraft reached their assigned descent altitude and now, as the DC-9 reached 4000 feet, the amber warning light began to flash on the instrument panel.


  Acting on instinct, Pyman reached forward to cancel the flashing light, only to have Sillery smash the gun barrel down on his arm and demanding he put both of his hands on top of the cockpit panel in front of him. Pyman did so, placing right hand over left, only to have the gun crack down on him again and Sillery insist it be left over right.


  With Pyman’s hands now on the panel there were moments where the aircraft was not under the control of either pilot, and as it passed through 3000 feet Mackelmann told the hijacker: ‘I have to fly the aircraft,’ at the same time taking the control column, and pressing his radio button to warn air-traffic control that they were now at 3000 feet.


  With that Sillery pressed the gun to Mackelmann’s head.


  ‘Shut up. Don’t use the radio.’


  Trying to think of ways to reason with the man, Pyman ventured: ‘What about all the kids down the back?’


  The question seemed to have an effect on the hijacker who then told them he had a wife and two children. Realising this might present an opportunity Mackelmann began to explain that unless they landed the children would be killed.


  ‘I’ll make you a deal. Let us land, allow the passengers off and I’ll refuel the aircraft and take you anywhere you want to go.’


  To Mackelmann’s relief Sillery agreed, but with the proviso that there were to be no police and they taxi to the dark end of the aerodrome. He also demanded Mackelmann show him on a map of the aerodrome where they intended to park the DC-9.


  By now the DC-9 had entered the circuit area of the airfield, on a wide downwind leg before lining up on the runway, but Sillery again became agitated and kept changing his mind about landing, while Mackelmann and Pyman kept insisting they had to land. The worst moment came when, with the aircraft at barely 200 feet above the runway, Sillery, the shotgun pressing against Mackelmann’s head shouted: ‘Don’t land! Don’t land!’


  Demonstrating remarkable courage, Mackelmann made a critical decision. He had identified the shotgun as a single shot and with only one cartridge in the chamber he was confident Pyman could continue the landing if Sillery pulled the trigger. In short, he was willing to risk his own life to save his aircraft and its passengers.


  But Sillery didn’t fire and Mackelmann remembered experiencing a moment of incredible relief when, seconds before touchdown, Sillery moved from behind his seat into the centre of the cockpit. For an instant Mackelmann considered slamming on the aircraft’s brakes but rejected the notion for fear the hijacker would topple and discharge the shotgun.


  Once they had taxied to the holding area and shut down the engines, there followed a period of negotiation where Sillery at first refused to release the passengers but then finally agreed to let one of the flight attendants open the rear door of the DC-9 to allow the passengers to disembark.


  Even with the passengers gone, however, the drama still had more than an hour to run. After forcing the four flight attendants to sit down on the galley floor, Sillery became alarmed that the rear door of the aircraft had been left open and took one of the women to the back of the aircraft with him to close the door, threatening to shoot her if any of the others moved. While the flight attendant walked down the aisle, Sillery moved at a crouch as if to stay below the window line of the aircraft and not be seen from outside.


  Mackelmann and Pyman began insisting to Sillery that if the aircraft was to be refuelled it would need to be taken to a hydrant point near the terminal building. Finally Sillery agreed. However, when the two pilots began their pre-start cockpit check he again became frantic and insisted they start the engines immediately.


  As the aircraft taxied across the airfield his tension increased. Still menacing them with the gun, he at one stage broke its barrel to show them it was loaded, at the same time throwing several shotgun cartridges onto the floor of the flight deck. Careful not to be seen by the gunman, Pyman gently edged one of the cartridges out of sight with his foot.


  In the tense period to follow, Sillery’s requests ranged from demands to talk to television personality Mike Willesee and to his own wife and family in Tweed Heads and for Mackelmann to immediately take off again. In between he spent time moving up and down the aisle of the aircraft on his hands and knees while looking out of the windows on either side, as if trying to figure out where they were on the airport. Once, when a fuel tanker approached the aircraft with its strobe light flashing, Sillery panicked thinking it might be the police and, hurling abuse at the crew, called for it to be taken away.


  With the DC-9 stationary at the southern end of Brisbane airport, police in the terminal building had begun to negotiate with Sillery via the cockpit loudspeaker in the DC-9, assuring him they were trying to contact his family. This appeared to have a calming effect on Sillery and he moved into the front cabin where Esme Qazim and the other flight attendants were gathered. Qazim suddenly noticed Sillery didn’t have his finger on the trigger. Taking the opportunity she grabbed at the gun, at the same time throwing herself onto Sillery and sending both of them crashing to the floor while the other women piled on top of him.


  Pyman ran back to help while Mackelmann shouted into the radio, ‘Get out here as quickly as you can. We’ve got him,’ grabbed the shotgun, opened the DC-9’s front door and threw the weapon onto the tarmac. He then handcuffed Sillery, and the crew held him until police arrived. The 90-minute drama was over and both the Queensland Police Commissioner and the airline expressed high praise for the actions of the crew.


  Philip Sillery, aged 32, seaman, of Tweed Heads, Queensland, was subsequently charged with having unlawfully exercised control of a plane while armed with a 12-gauge shotgun. Grahame Mackelmann and Esme Qazim both received the Star of Courage for their bravery. Esme Qazim continued flying after this event.


  Mackelmann continued to fly as a senior captain with the airline, but it would be a mid-air drama of another type which would occupy much of his time and have a deep and lasting impact on him and his family. In May 1986 the Mackelmanns’ only son, Craig, 22, who had followed his father into a flying career, was killed when his RAAF Mirage crashed off the NSW coast.


  Pilot Officer Craig Mackelmann’s Mirage fighter was one of three Mirages chasing a target towed by a Learjet aircraft in a training exercise on the RAAF’s air-gunnery range off the coast when his aircraft crashed in mysterious circumstances. The Mirages had made a series of passes at the target drogue being towed behind the Learjet when, without a mayday alert or any distress call, Mackelmann’s aircraft dived into the sea. Only a few remains and small pieces of debris were recovered.


  Grahame Mackelmann refused to accept the results of a RAAF inquiry which determined that no one was to blame for the crash and set about to prove otherwise, a task that was to occupy much of his time for many years. He first accused the RAAF of a cover-up, believing that one of the other Mirage pilots had shot down his son by mistake when he set out to engage the target before Mackelmann had completed his own pass and given the customary all-clear. Other factors were also raised, including the RAAF’s inability to locate camera-gun footage of the exercise and questions about aircraft maintenance.


  Mackelmann also refuted an early implication that his son had been drinking the night before the exercise and that alcohol had contributed to his death, a claim that eventually won him something of an apology after he gathered evidence that Craig would have had a zero blood-alcohol reading by the time he set out on the exercise at midday the following day.


  Amid RAAF refusals to allow him to talk to the other pilot, Mackelmann took the issue repeatedly to the media and politicians, on one occasion encouraging his local member, Kevin Rudd, then in Opposition, to ask a series of questions in Parliament. He continued his campaign after Rudd became prime minister. A total of seven inquiries were subsequently held, including a Board of Inquiry, a Coroner’s inquest, appeals and further reviews of some of the findings, none of which would provide Mackelmann with the closure he sought. He was still pursuing the case at the time of his death in April 2012.


  Although additional steps would be taken to improve airline security following the Mackelmann DC-9 incident, four years later, in February 1983, TAA again would be the target of a hijack, this time on one of its wide-bodied Airbus A300s. And while flight TN 005 would not be the subject of one of the random security checks then in force before its early-afternoon departure from Perth for Melbourne, given the ‘weapon’ subsequently involved, it’s doubtful security staff would have noticed anything untoward in one particular passenger’s carry-on luggage even if they had checked.


  With 139 passengers and a crew of fifteen under the command of Captain Ken Wakeman, a 34-year veteran with the airline, the early stages of the flight had been perfectly normal until after it had passed Esperance, 643 kilometres east of Perth. That was about the time Wakeman became aware of a weather front developing ahead of him.


  While Wakeman considered what he might do to avoid it, back in the aircraft’s cabin Senior Flight Attendant Deborah Dare was being confronted in the galley by a man carrying what appeared to be an old-fashioned portable tape recorder, who told her he wanted to see the captain. When Dare asked him what he wanted to see the captain about, the man held the device out in front of him and replied: ‘You take me to the captain or I’ll press this button.’ Dare and the man immediately headed for the cockpit. Once there the man told Dare to leave and lock the door behind her.


  In the cockpit itself, Wakeman, until now preoccupied with the weather ahead, suddenly found himself confronted by a passenger suggesting that unless he did what he was told, he would ‘blow the aeroplane up’ and proceeding to show Wakeman how he could do so by pressing his finger on a button on the recorder in his hand.


  Wakeman noticed immediately that although the intruder spoke softly he appeared determined and disturbed.


  ‘We’re going to the Franklin River,’ the man said.


  ‘This aircraft cannot land in Tasmania,’ replied Wakeman.


  Wakeman then attempted to distract the man’s attention by explaining that there was difficult weather ahead, but the man kept insisting on a diversion to Tasmania. When told they would need charts to fly to Tasmania the hijacker said they should divert to Adelaide, but Wakeman managed to talk him into going on to Melbourne on the basis that the charts could be acquired there and it was ‘closer to Tasmania’.


  In the meantime the copilot, First Officer Peter Andrews, had thrown the emergency hijack alert switch so that those on the ground knew they had a crisis on board. As they flew on, Wakeman, Andrews and Flight Engineer Stan Scaplinski carried on a three-way conversation with the man, one largely initiated by the hijacker and mostly centred around political injustices, the influence of ‘power groups’ and ‘racial prejudice’.


  Gradually, the crew felt they were beginning to gain the man’s confidence and he first agreed to release the passengers and shortly after announced he would release the crew as well. At the same time all three crew members noticed he kept his finger poised above a button on his little black box.


  Wakeman was starting to get the impression that the man was confused, particularly after saying he would release the crew then realising he couldn’t fly the aeroplane to Tasmania himself. About 40 minutes out of Melbourne, by now apparently convinced the crew were totally in agreement with his own political views, the man suddenly handed the black box to Scaplinski with the suggestion that they should descend and throw the bomb into the sea. Wakeman told him such a move would be risky as the device might strike the side of the aircraft and cause an explosion.


  During the final minutes of the flight into Melbourne the man remained quietly in his seat, but Wakeman still had serious concerns about the situation and was determined to evacuate the passengers as quickly as possible. He became even more troubled when, during the landing run, the passenger asked how long they had been flying. When Wakeman told him three and a half hours he said: ‘I’m not sure whether there is a time device on the bomb.’


  Extremely worried, Wakeman taxied to the end of the runway and initiated an immediate evacuation of the Airbus via escape slides, leaving only the aircrew on board.


  Once all the passengers had gone it came time for Wakeman and the hijacker also to evacuate the aircraft. When the two men walked to the forward slide the hijacker told Wakeman to go first. Wakeman was having none of it and insisted they both slide down together. And they did, Wakeman to safety on the ground and Clifford Watego into the waiting hands of the police.


  TAA files reveal that Clifford Watego, 28, arts student, of Logan Lea, Queensland, pleaded guilty to a charge of hijacking under the Crimes (Hijacking of Aircraft) Act, but evidence tendered in court alleged that he had attended an Aboriginal writers’ conference where a paper he had presented had been ‘ripped to shreds’ by delegates, an experience which had led to a nervous breakdown. He was subsequently released by the Supreme Court on a $1000 three-year, good-behaviour bond, a decision which left TAA less than impressed and one they claimed paid insufficient regard ‘to the considerable trauma experienced by our flight crew and the risk of injury to our passengers in the resultant aircraft evacuation’.


  In a letter to then minister for aviation, Kim Beazley, TAA Chairman, R.R. Law-Smith, also pointed out that while considerations other than deterrence may be taken into account when sentencing offenders, ‘there did not appear to have been due consideration given to Australia’s international obligations when dealing with offenders of this kind’.


  What might also have been in the minds of those at TAA were the costs involved. Repairs to the A300’s escape slides, accommodation of passengers who missed connections, hire of buses, refreshments, labour and materials, had come to more than $18 000.


  As for Cliff Watego, although the leniency of the sentence was criticised at the time, he would recover from the trauma of his breakdown and subsequent trial to become the first Aboriginal and Pacific Islander student to graduate with a masters degree from the University of Queensland and later worked helping to motivate young Aboriginal Australians and Torres Strait Islanders to go to university.
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  The ‘great plane robbery’


  When Rockhampton airline porter, Neville Cantrell, opened the cargo door of TAA’s D-C9 service Flight 465 late one September morning in 1982, he could never have imagined he was about to foil one of the most daring and imaginative attempted robberies in Australia’s criminal history.


  As the door swung open, Cantrell’s eye caught the movement of a gloved hand as it closed the lid of a large pine crate near the side of the hold—setting off a chain of events which would see police racing to airports across Queensland to make arrests in what was to become known as the Great Plane Coffin Caper. Inside the Rockhampton box was Lance James Woolcock, 35, cramped and cold after a two-hour flight from Brisbane in the DC-9s pressurised hold. Stacked around him in the crate was $200 000 in Reserve Bank notes, which he’d managed to transfer from their original security box in the hold. The notes had been replaced by telephone books.


  Within minutes Woolcock was handcuffed by the aircraft’s captain and Rockhampton police were on their way to the airport, but not before a quick-thinking Rockhampton detective had joined some mental dots and figured there might be more than one prospective thief airborne over Queensland that morning.


  He was right. Alerted by the Rockhampton discovery, detectives in Townsville and Mt Isa were waiting as two other flights with similar $200 000-Reserve-Bank consignments arrived at their respective airports and by early afternoon five men were in police custody, several of them with suspected links to Melbourne’s notorious Painters and Dockers Union.


  Police acknowledged the attempted heist must have been months in the planning and would have required intimate knowledge of the Reserve Bank’s transfer methods, along with details of air-freight procedures. Those months of planning came together on the morning of 21 September when the Reserve Bank consignments, destined for Commonwealth Banks at Mt Isa, Rockhampton, Townsville and Cairns were due to be loaded on TAA flights.


  Booked as freight on the same flights were four crates, pine boxes each measuring over a metre in length and just over half a metre in width. Everything went according to plan except for one of the boxes, which for some unknown reason missed being loaded onto the Cairns flight and was left sitting in TAA’s Brisbane freight terminal.


  Unknown to TAA the four crates each contained a man surrounded by telephone books, and each was consigned to a fictitious person at the destination airport. Even the most minute details had been taken into account by the thieves, with the weight of each man, combined with the telephone books, carefully calculated to equal the weight of the money in each of the Reserve Bank boxes so those responsible for offloading at the destination ports would be unaware of any change.


  The crates with the men inside had air holes in the form of slits to allow them to breathe, the slits themselves partly hidden by delicately placed tape and strapping. Once in flight and at altitude the plan called for each perpetrator to climb out of his crate, open the Reserve Bank one and replace the cash with the telephone books and transfer the money into his own box, leaving enough space for him to return. It might have worked but for Neville Cantrell’s eagle-eye at Rockhampton, which set off a chain of events that caused the whole plan to fall apart.


  Woolcock, assigned to Rockhampton, had in fact achieved the transfer and the money was in his crate when police unloaded it and arrested him, but unfortunately an accomplice in the Rockhampton saga managed to avoid arrest. The crate had been addressed to a J.L. Ryan Pty Ltd, C/O Rockhampton airport, but a police check revealed no such person or organisation. Later they did receive a report from witnesses that a grey-haired man in his fifties, of medium build, wearing shorts, a red flannel shirt, white towelling sun hat and sun glasses had been waiting at the airport but had driven away in a brown XD Falcon station wagon when police arrived. They suspected he might have been a ‘Mr J.L. Ryan’.


  Meanwhile, only a short time later, federal and CIB police at Townsville had better luck as they watched their flight arrive and a quick arrest was made of the man in the box, along with an accomplice who had come to collect the ‘package’. Not that the ‘package’ would have been worth much as unknown to the gang the Reserve Bank funds had been consigned to a separate hold on the DC-9. And while the two were taken into custody a second shipment of $200 000, this one consigned to an Ansett DC-9, was being securely offloaded at the airport.


  But an even bigger drama was yet to take place at Mt Isa, where Detective Sergeant Ken Morris and a colleague awaited the arrival of the TAA Boeing 727 from Brisbane. Briefed on the two boxes, Morris had already planned a special Mt Isa ‘welcome’ and as the aircraft taxied to a standstill, TAA porter Ross Bayles went to the aircraft and allocated the two boxes to their own cargo trolley. While Morris and his colleagues stood by in the shade and watched as the passengers disembarked, Bayles was told to park the trolley out in the burning Mt Isa sun, well away from the aircraft and the terminal.


  ‘We were prepared to leave him there for some time,’ Morris recounted years later, with a wry smile.


  Although Morris and his police contingent were armed, they still had no idea who they were dealing with.


  ‘I had tried to find out from Brisbane, but we couldn’t get anything from them. Whoever it was could have had a machine gun for all we knew.’


  Morris is still reluctant to admit how long they left the boxes in the sun, merely to describe it as a ‘considerable time’, until, finally, they approached the box and, in Morris’ words: ‘After a brief “conversation” with my partner he agreed to come out!’


  And come out he did. ‘Like a wild animal,’ is Morris’ description, confirming his original decision to exercise caution.


  ‘He said something like: “You’ll be horrified when you find out who I am”, and I replied that would probably be something of a challenge for us.’


  Morris was soon to learn that their captive wasn’t exaggerating. In fact, he was Bertram Douglas Kidd, one of the country’s most notorious criminals, with a long list of crimes, including possession of forged currency, safe breaking and robbery on his record. Like his Townsville colleague, Kidd would suffer the misfortune of being stowed in a separate hold to that of the Reserve Bank money. What’s more, Ross Bayles says it would not have made much difference. Kidd had had so much other cargo loaded on top of him in the hold he’d never have been able to escape to get to the money anyway.


  But while the Kidd arrest was a success, a police error allowed a woman accomplice tasked with receiving the Mt Isa box to slip away. Although police subsequently found out her identity, all later attempts to locate her failed.


  While the various arrests were taking place across Queensland there had been something of a humorous twist to the opening of the crate which had missed the Cairns flight and was still in the Brisbane freight terminal. The story goes that one of the porters, now aware of what had taken place at Rockhampton, Townsville and Mt Isa, was walking past the crate and decided to give it a healthy kick as he went by, at the same time exclaiming light-heartedly:


  ‘C’mon, you bugger. You can come out now.’


  To his eternal surprise the lid sprang open and out came another gang member, who was promptly apprehended.


  Within 24 hours the five arrested had appeared in courts in Townsville, Rockhampton, Brisbane and Mt Isa and the intricacies of the plot would become apparent to police. The painstaking attention to detail relating to the weight of the Reserve Bank money, and the realisation that a high degree of inside knowledge was needed sent state and federal police on an intensive inquiry within both TAA and the Reserve Bank, but no arrests were ever made.


  While all would receive sentences, Kidd, believed to be the ringleader, would serve time in Queensland, but it appears his release after four years allowed him to continue a life of crime. In the late 1990s he was involved in a shootout with police after an armed hold-up in Brisbane when a bullet from Kidd’s revolver hit a policeman’s arm.


  Writing in the Melbourne Age in 2007, journalist Paul Heinrichs described Kidd, committed when aged 65 and then still in Goulburn gaol, as one of the oldest prisoners incarcerated in Australia. Heinrichs quoted veteran Victorian crime barrister Brian Burke, who had frequently represented Kidd, as ‘one of the most complete criminals I ever knew.’


  Ken Morris, who retired from the force as a chief superintendent, would probably agree. Some years later he heard that Kidd had tried to organise a ‘contract’ on him.
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  Aerial suicide and murder at Alice


  It might have been more than 30 years ago, but Brian Cairns remembers it like it was yesterday. It was 5 January 1977 and the Connair engineering manager and his fifteen-year-old son, Mark, were walking towards the Connair DC-3 parked outside the airline’s hangar complex at Alice Springs airport.


  Mark was on work experience and they were on their way to replace several radio-navigation components they had taken from the aircraft when Brian Cairns first saw the twin-engine aeroplane approaching from the far side of the runway. In an instant he realised the abnormality of the aircraft’s approach, well out of line from the direction of the airport’s runway. Then he heard the sound of the aircraft’s engines rise to the maximum as the throttles were opened, with the aircraft still heading in his direction.


  Shouting for Mark to run, he dropped the radio parts and they both ran in separate directions as he caught a glimpse of the Beechcraft Baron’s wing tilt, as if it wanted to avoid the high nose of the DC-3. Cairns recalls:


  I thought he was going to hit the nose with the wing. You don’t know how things go through your mind at times like that, but by then I could tell he was fair dinkum. That aircraft was under control and he knew what he was doing.


  A split second later the Baron crashed at more than 320 kilometres an hour into the Connair hangar and administration building in a burst of flaming fuel and shattering aircraft debris, killing the renegade pilot, Colin Forman, and three people inside the hangar instantly. One of them would be 32-year-old Roger Connellan, the son of the airline’s founder, Eddie Connellan, and two engineers, Swiss immigrant Markus Chittoni, 31, and 48-year-old Ron Dymock. Nineteen-year-old Liana Nappi would be critically injured.


  In the minutes that followed, those there would recall both shock and an eerie silence. Nothing seemed to move, then people began to converge on the hangar from all directions.


  Another Connair employee, 60-year-old Leo Butler, ran to the aid of the badly burned Nappi and managed to pull her from the building, but it was too late to help some of the others. Nappi would not survive her burns and would die in an Adelaide hospital five days later.


  Roger Connellan, in an upstairs office, is believed to have stood up just before the aircraft hit and one of Baron’s engines broke away and carried him through the back of the building. Chittoni and Dymock were incinerated standing at their benches as the Baron’s fuel tank exploded.


  Two other engineers, Kym Hansen and Tony Byrnes, managed to stagger out of the hangar. Hansen appears to have been fortunate as a flying brick smashed into his head and he hit the floor facedown, a position he believed would have saved him from the deathly inhalation of fuel-filled air. At first neither had any idea what had happened but would manage to survive despite burns to 50 per cent of their bodies after months in the Burns Unit of Adelaide hospital.


  Probably the luckiest person in the hangar that day was Connair engineer Kelvin Hawthorn, who had been working on the autopilot of a Connair Heron aircraft in another part of the complex. Hawthorn needed a cable wire brush to finish off the autopilot task but couldn’t find his own and headed off towards the workshop’s lathe to create a new one. It was then the Baron hit. Hawthorn estimated later that it took eight seconds to walk from the Heron into the workshop. Had he arrived those eight seconds earlier he would have been killed.


  Eddie Connellan was on his property, Narwietooma Station, when he received a phone call to tell him, without any precise details, that something serious had happened and he immediately flew into Alice Springs to be met by Connair board director and old friend, Reg Harris. Harris later wrote that the first question Eddie asked as he sat in his plane was: ‘Is any of those dead Roger?’


  ‘Oh, I can’t tell you, Eddie. I’ll let the policeman talk to you,’ Harris replied.


  After a police sergeant had told him what had happened and that Roger had been one of those killed, Harris said Connellan remained sitting in the plane for around 25 minutes before telling Harris he was going to the office in town. Harris talked him out of driving and took him in his own car, then back to the Harris home for a coffee.


  We sat him in our lounge and he just stared out at the hills for about an hour or so. He wouldn’t have anything to drink other than coffee and then he eventually went home.


  The incident shocked Alice Springs, particularly when it was confirmed it was a premeditated revenge attack by a former Connair employee. Englishman Colin Forman had worked as a pilot for Connair for a short time in 1979, but the relationship had proved to be an unhappy one. According to Reg Harris and others, Forman was something of a flying fanatic, but also a type of misfit who would occasionally suffer at the expense of jokes by his work colleagues. Harris records that one of his idiosyncrasies was immediately telling those who got in his car with him, ‘Fasten your seat belts and extinguish your cigarette.’ In Alice Springs in the 1970s, where seat belts were rarely worn and most people smoked, such directions were treated with either mirth or disdain so frequent opportunities were taken to take a rise out of him.


  Harris records one instance when Forman approached the mechanics working in his aircraft and asked them how long his aeroplane was going to be.


  ‘Not long,’ was the reply. ‘We’re just waiting on a long stand.’


  ‘Well, can I help you?’ said Forman.


  Yes, they said, telling him to go over to a chap in the next hangar and ask him if he could have a long stand. When he got there he was told to go stand in the corner, doing so until he realised the ‘long stand’ was him standing there.


  Forman first flew as a type of traffic officer on Connair’s Heron aircraft, a role which mainly involved looking after the passengers while watching how the flying was done. After a falling-out with Connair operations management he was sent to Darwin from where he sent several threatening letters to operations in Alice Springs.


  It was in Darwin that part of his past caught up with him when authorities discovered he had forged a Qantas airline ticket to visit his family in England in the early 1970s and, partly due to the fact that Darwin airport was under the control of the RAAF, a conviction for such an offence created a security issue which cost him his job.


  In the months after that he flew for a charter company in Western Australia where he fell foul of his employer after complaints from his passengers about his flying. In the meantime he sent threatening letters to a Connair manager who he claimed had primary responsibility for him losing his job. He then moved to Mt Isa where he flew for a local aero club, but his bitterness towards Connair apparently continued through his subsequent employment misfortunes.


  Police later revealed that Forman had driven his car from Mt Isa to Wyndham and on the morning of 5 January, stole a Beechcraft Baron from Wyndham airport and set out for Alice Springs. Investigators subsequently found a letter in his log book stating his intention was to ‘kill and maim as many employees of Connair Pty Ltd as possible’, and since Alice Springs was four hours’ flying time from Wyndham, his aim was to hit the building at around 10 a.m. while all staff were having morning tea.


  However, he failed to account for the time difference between Wyndham and Central Australia and hit at 11 a.m. Ironically, the addressee he had directed his threatening letters to was not there anyway. He had left Connair a short time before.


  Several times as he flew towards Alice Springs that morning, the airport’s air-traffic controllers reported hearing various garbled transmissions from his aircraft, one unconfirmed report suggesting he said at one stage: ‘It is better to die with honour than to live with dishonour.’


  The tapes of any recordings were not released, although air investigators were at pains to point out that by the time any messages from Forman were heard it would have been too late to warn anyone.


  Alice Springs in January 1977 was a much smaller town than it is today, but even with the distance of years it would be difficult to estimate the impact the tragic event would have had on this outback community.


  Connair had its origins in Survey and Inland Transport in the late 1930s, a company formed by Eddie Connellan to undertake land surveys and later mail runs. One of its primary mail runs would be between Wyndham and Alice Springs, the same route Colin Forman would fly on his suicide mission. It became Connellan Airways in 1943 and gradually expanded its route structure in the postwar years, at the same time becoming a valuable training ground for many young pilots keen on a career in aviation.


  John Myers, a former Connellan captain, remembers an airline with an excellent safety record and an ideal environment in which to learn. Budding pilots were, like the case of Forman, first assigned to office and traffic duties, handling passengers on the ground and in the air, the latter while they watched more experienced pilots fly the vast, featureless stretches of the outback.


  Myers says, because of the lack of navigation aids and little help from the normal aviation aeronautical charts, part of any pilot’s training was to develop his or her own ‘mud map’ for each route, identifying ground features which could be used as defined navigation points. A pilot was not permitted to fly the route until they, and their ‘mud map’, had been checked out by a more senior pilot.


  By the time it was renamed Connair in 1970, the airline and its founder had carved a unique place in the hearts of Australians living in the outback, often providing the only reliable link between remote stations, missions and settlements. The hangar tragedy of January 1977, however, was a shattering blow not only to its founder but to an airline which was struggling to survive against increasing competition from other larger Australian domestic airlines which were moving in on its territory. Eventually sold to East West Airlines in 1983, Connair went into liquidation soon after.


  Of those others impacted by the hangar crash, Kym Hansen and Tony Byrnes fought for months to overcome their injuries, finally both returning to the aviation industry. For Brian Cairns, who with his son, Mark, had seen the Baron roaring towards them that morning, the hangar incident was another awful benchmark in a life marked by tragedy. Five years before he had lost a son, daughter-in-law and grandson when a Connair Queenair taking them from Alice Springs to Ayers Rock crashed within sight of the Alice Springs airport soon after take-off. Four others, including the pilot, also died.


  Early on a March morning in 1983 an intoxicated, disgruntled patron, Douglas John Crabbe, drove his 25-tonne Mack truck at high speed into the bar of a motel at the foot of Ayers Rock, killing five and seriously injuring another sixteen. Brian Cairns, along with around 40 others, was in the bar at the time, but escaped injury. After all these years he’s managed to remain philosophical about it all: ‘It’s been a rough old trip at times, mate, but all you do is look ahead. Just don’t look over your shoulder.’


  Kelvin Hawthorn, too, suffered in his own way. He returned to work the next morning, despite witnessing the loss of life and the damage as Connair was now short of engineers. He recalls silver soldering on a bench outside the complex that next morning when a helicopter flew low over his head. His hands shook so much he had to temporarily abandon the job. Later, in the darkened hangar, he went to take the landing pins out of the undercarriage of the Heron when a feral cat, presumably driven out of its hiding place by the accident, gave a wail and jumped past him out of the wheel well.


  ‘I was so unravelled I chased the cat along the tarmac, caught it and killed it. I guess that was the only trauma counselling I had but it helped a lot.’


  As for Alice Springs, the silent pain remains, perhaps evidenced by the fact that there are few signs in the town that the tragedy ever took place, beyond a memorial in the local Rotary Park, a water fountain at an arts centre and an annual drama award in Liana Nappi’s name. There’s little reference in Alice Springs’ museums. Locals will tell you that’s the way they wanted it.
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  Messrs ‘Brown’ and ‘Smith’ and the business of extortion in the air


  The aviation industry has a unique vulnerability when it comes to extortion, and Australia’s Qantas has had more than its fair share of it. The fact is, any airliner, in the air with passengers, subject to threats related to altitude and barometric pressure, compresses the time frame in which crucial assessments, and the decisions resulting from them, must be made.


  Undoubtedly the best known in Qantas’ case was the famous incident on 26 May 1971 when the extortionist known as ‘Mr Brown’, subsequently revealed as Peter Pasquale Macari, got away with $500 000 after claiming there was a bomb on that day’s flight to Hong Kong.


  Initially it was no different to any other bomb hoax, something most airlines have become accustomed to over the years. In fact, the first call—to a Commonwealth policeman at Sydney airport—didn’t mention any particular flight, but simply indicated there was a bomb in a locker at the international terminal. But when police and airport officials opened the locker there was little doubt this was more than just a hoax call.


  Inside they found a bag containing the ingredients of a very workable bomb—twelve sticks of gelignite wired to an altimeter which could be set to explode as an aircraft descended through any pre-set altitude. Also inside were a batch of letters, one to police to tell them to alert Qantas’ general manager, Captain R.J. Ritchie, that there was a bomb on ‘QY755’ to Hong Kong and instructing police to take the bag and the bomb immediately to him; another saying a similar bomb was already aboard the aircraft and capable of exploding if the aircraft descended below 20 000 feet.


  A separate letter to Ritchie placed a demand for half a million unmarked dollars by 4 p.m. that day and announced a series of phone calls which would be made to him that afternoon containing further instructions. Once all instructions regarding the collection of the bomb had been followed, Mr Brown would divulge the height to which the bomb had been set, along with its hidden location on the airline’s Boeing 707. Another note, which contained a description of the bomb on the 707, revealed one critical difference to its locker counterpart. It said the bomb in the aircraft contained 24 sticks of gelignite.


  Convinced that the threat was real Qantas immediately advised Captain Bill Selwyn, now at 35 000 feet en route to Hong Kong, to maintain that altitude while searches were made both in the air and on the ground.


  With 126 passengers and crew aboard, Selwyn was quick to organise a preliminary search of the aircraft’s cabin to see if he could detect where the bomb might be placed, while other Qantas people on the ground at Mascot climbed over a similar Boeing 707 to discover any other places where a bomb could be hidden. They searched galleys, toilets, safety equipment stowages, behind access panels, even dropping the passengers’ oxygen masks to check their in-ceiling containers, all the while keeping Selwyn in the loop so that his crew could follow up on their suggestions.


  Meanwhile, at Qantas’ Hunter Street head office the money was being gathered from the Reserve Bank and Ritchie was going through a series of telephone conversations with Mr Brown, who finally directed that the money be placed in two suitcases and would be picked up near Qantas House sometime after 5.30 p.m.


  Selwyn, circling over New South Wales in Qantas Flight 755, was counting down his fuel supplies and estimating he would have to be on the ground at least by 7 p.m.


  Finally, at 5.30 p.m. Mr Brown rang again. In five minutes a yellow van would be outside Qantas House, the suitcases should be handed over and after the money was checked, Qantas would be informed of the location of the bomb and instructions on how to deal with it. Ritchie went downstairs with the suitcases and at precisely 5.46 p.m. a van arrived, the suitcases were handed over and the vehicle sped off.


  Police, meanwhile, had been preparing to nab Mr Brown, but a mix-up in communications and timing had robbed them of their chance. Having staked out the area but aware of how easy it was for criminals to monitor their radio calls, police unfortunately had to employ a somewhat cumbersome communications process which involved an alert signal being sent to their car radios, after which they went to a phone box to receive their orders. By the time they had received the details, Ritchie had handed over the money and Mr Brown had safely avoided their net.


  Just under twenty minutes after Ritchie had returned to his office, Mr Brown called again to announce there was no bomb on board QF755, Selwyn was cleared to land back at Sydney and the hunt was on for the culprit.


  As identikit images of the extortionist were compiled from Ritchie’s description of him, news of the hoax flashed around the world, but there was little for police to go on, beyond the fact that the van had been found abandoned near the intersection of Bathurst and George streets in Sydney. But as the weeks went by, Macari, alias ‘Mr Brown’, made several basic mistakes, not the least of which involved going on a spending spree. In Brisbane he purchased a Jaguar sports car for $5000 in cash using $20 notes, then several Mini Coopers and a Chevrolet Camaro, paid a deposit on a premises in Annandale in Sydney and made a downpayment towards a unit in Bondi.


  But by now police had narrowed down the origins of the gelignite to Mt Isa in Queensland, finally tracking down its source, but the critical break came when an informer provided police with a tip-off towards Macari and several friends who had assisted him. Arrested, Macari was charged and began to appear before the courts in September 1971 until, finally, late in January 1972, he was sentenced to fifteen years in gaol.


  Of the original $500 000, more than $100 000 of it was discovered by police in a bricked-up chimney in the Annandale premises, but much of the remainder was never recovered.


  One of the ironies of the ‘Mr Brown’ case was the fact that where the use of public telephone boxes by the police had played into the hands of the extortionist, on this occasion his use of a public phone box less than a kilometre away from the Qantas office would bring a would-be extortionist unstuck in a most bizarre way.


  Like ‘Mr Brown’, this later extortionist would be using an unimaginative nom de plume: ‘Mr Smith’. And in contrast to his predecessor and his international notoriety, he would remain virtually unknown. Now, almost fifteen years later, it’s even difficult to find out his real name.


  Mr Smith had two runs at his Qantas ‘target’, both within several months of each other in 1985, employing a pattern of behaviour with striking similarities to Mr Brown, at least as far as the ‘bomb’ was concerned. This time, however, on the first occasion, during a phone conversation with the airline’s Chief Operating Officer, John Ward, his ‘duplicate’ device was just up the road from Qantas’ main office, in the toilet of the Sportsman’s Bar at the Menzies Hotel.


  Acting on Ward’s instructions police found that, unlike Macari’s weapon, it lacked gelignite but had enough wiring and detonating devices to convince both the police and Qantas that the threat was real.


  Mr Smith’s nominated flight of choice was the airline’s daily QF43 Boeing 747 service to Auckland, New Zealand, his demand was for $300 000 and, after a number of phone conversations between Ward and Smith, and with Qantas’ Corporate Secretary, Les Fisk, in the throes of arranging for the money, the exchange never quite reached that point where pickup details were discussed. Then the phone calls stopped.


  But several months later, Smith was back again, this time following through with a whole series of calls starting late on the morning of 23 April 1985 and ending in what Ward would later describe as a situation ‘almost straight out of a Mack Sennett movie!’. Once again it was a threat against the Auckland flight.


  This time, police were being led by Criminal Investigation Branch Senior Detective Michael O’Brien, one of the state’s most respected officers, and were ready to act. Ward remembers O’Brien, who, prior to his death at an early age in the 1990s, arrived in his office that day casually dressed in tan slacks and a light blue shirt.


  He appeared the quintessential old-style policeman, fit and as tough as nails. I remember assuming that the way he was dressed he couldn’t possibly have a weapon on him, then when he sat down I saw he had one strapped to his lower leg!


  O’Brien walked Ward through each of the calls coming in from Mr Smith through public phones as they tried to keep the man on the line for as long as possible. Between phone calls, O’Brien’s team, acting on the call pattern from the earlier Mr Smith experience, began to deduce that he was moving from station to station through the inner-city rail network. So they set about trying to match the pattern by placing plainclothes police near phone boxes at Central and Wynyard stations and while Ward continued to take the extortionist’s calls, O’Brien was working his radio with his own police between railway stations.


  Again, however, there were unforseen communications problems which came to a head when Mr Smith made what was to be his final call to Ward. At the precise time Ward received Smith’s next call, one of Michael O’Brien’s surveillance police called O’Brien from a phone booth to tell him his police radio was not functioning properly in the underground complex. Years later Ward still chuckles about what happened next.


  I’m talking to Smith and Mick’s in the middle of this conversation where his own man is asking him if they can stand down as their radios are no good when suddenly the cop in the phone box says to Mick something like: ‘Hang on a minute. The bloke in the phone box next to me is wearing plastic gloves.’


  So I’m still in the middle of the conversation with Smith when suddenly I hear a crash through the phone line and then a gurgling sound. I think he must have grabbed him around the throat!


  Company Secretary, Les Fisk, also in the room, well remembers hearing the policeman shouting through the phone line: ‘I’ve got him. I’ve got him.’


  Finding genuine police charges or Qantas files on Mr Smith is difficult although Ward says he later turned out to be a disgruntled kangaroo shooter from northern Australia who was annoyed at a government decision to withdraw a bounty. ‘I think he must have then decided to take it out on the “big roo”,’ Ward says with a smile.


  I seem to recall he later appeared briefly as something of an ‘expert’ on a television programme about another extortion bid, but fortunately he never came our way again.


  However, not all extortion attempts end in the capture of the culprit. Queensland police were flung headlong into an extortion of their own in the 1980s when Trans-Australia Airlines (TAA) in Brisbane received a threatening letter from a group signing themselves as ‘Survival Security Team (Group 5)’.


  The letter claimed to TAA that a display aircraft on the perimeter of Brisbane airport had been ‘successfully attacked and damaged with one of our missiles from a range of approximately 150 metres (this missile contained a token load, for the purpose of demonstration).’ The letter went on to demand that unless $500 000 in US and Australian dollars was enclosed in a double black plastic garbage bag and placed in a rental car with a driver subject to further instructions, then one of the airline’s aircraft would be destroyed. Just to make sure the instructions were being followed, the group planned to place a parked car with 63 litres of petrol in a public place, to be detonated should any attempt be made to ‘deviate’ from these commands.


  Police soon learned that the already damaged aircraft was in fact a Canberra jet bomber, part of a museum display on the fringes of the airport. Inspection found it had certainly been hit by a missile of some sort.


  For days police staked out various sites in an effort to apprehend the extortionists, at the same time releasing details of the letter. Even the then federal minister for administrative services, Kevin Newman, saw fit to break into print with a press release with the result that scores of ‘confessions’ and literally hundreds of hoax calls bombarded the police emergency line.


  Embarrassingly, as it turned out, police would have no luck apprehending their quarry although their efforts were not without some unforseen outcomes. One report instructed police to place the bag of money under a bridge over the Brisbane River. They did so and then waited for the appearance of someone to collect it. Eventually they noticed a lone kayaker stroking his way down the river and as he neared the bridge the waiting police swooped, dragging him ashore. Unfortunately their startled target turned out to be just what he appeared to be—an innocent kayaker.


  After a week or so a further letter arrived, this time to the officer in charge of the police operation, informing him that the ‘TAA emergency’ was at an end and there had never been any intent to cause harm or collect the ransom.


  We placed ourselves at great risk in order to graphically demonstrate the potential danger that we are all subjected to due to ineffective flight-path security. Any city dweller could be a victim of disaster.


  Survival Security Team also apologised to the air museum, ‘but consider that at this instant, there [sic] old war bird has served the Australian people more now than at any time in its career.’


  This letter was scant comfort to the police who came in for a drubbing by sections of the media, charging that Queensland authorities had demonstrated a reluctance to cooperate with federal authorities on the extortion threat. The most cutting appraisal came from an editorial in the Australian:


  In typical fashion, Queensland has gone for the grandstand approach. The extortion melodrama involving a threat to shoot down a TAA jet has been produced, directed by, and starred, a Queensland cast.


  The fact that the production sometimes resembled an aerial Keystone Cops has done little to reassure the public that our skies would be safe if their policing was left to the Queensland constabulary.


  In recent days, the public has been treated to a spectacle of police blundering around Brisbane suburbs trying to hand over a million-dollar ransom which apparently even the extortionist did not seriously expect them to deliver.


  One assumes even the hapless kayaker would tend to agree.
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  Buying a Boeing


  It’s not that different to buying a new car, really. At some point there’s an attractive brochure with photographs of the exterior all shiny and new, with glossy shots of the range of interiors you can choose from, depending on the type of use you’re going to put it to. Other attributes to attract the discerning buyer, such as the differences in horsepower of the engine on offer and the customised interior comfort you can choose, all come at a cost, of course.


  There’s the usual argy-bargy about the price, but if you’re finally happy with that you sign the order form and you are now on the way to having it come off the factory assembly line and taking it for your first test ‘drive’. Except we’re not talking about the average BMW, Ford or Toyota and this time the financial outlay involved is counted in millions. We’re buying a Boeing.


  While the Boeing 747 jumbo jet has now been surpassed as the giant of the skies by aircraft like Airbus Industrie’s A380, it’s worth pondering just what a leap of faith it was for the manufacturer and the airlines when it arrived on the scene more than 40 years ago, and the sometimes surprising procedures an airline adopts to make sure it flies right. Let’s take Qantas as an example.


  It’s not too much of an exaggeration to suggest that a team of Boeing people arrived on the airline’s doorstep one day and announced they had a new project in hand. Along with other US manufacturers, such as Lockheed, they’d been asked to submit a proposal for a large transport aircraft for use by the US military. It needed to be large alright—in fact capable of carrying troops and their heaviest armoured equipment to the war zone. Boeing, however, were hedging their bets. They’d come up with the idea that if they missed out on the military tender they could look at developing a similar giant for civil passenger use.


  Since it was the first non-American airline to purchase the Boeing 707, Qantas had become something of a special customer of Boeing’s, the airline’s unique long-range route structure calling for the manufacturer to improve the range and performance of the 707 to the point where other airlines followed Qantas’ lead into Boeing’s order book.


  But when that Boeing team arrived, Qantas executive Bob Walker had his doubts about such a concept. The 707 in use had around 120 passengers and here were these people, with the cheap-fare regime not yet on the horizon, suggesting an aeroplane twice the size.


  ‘When they said it would be about the size of a Manly ferry and will carry 350 passengers I said, jokingly: “Go away.”’ He even pointed out that if two or three airlines in the region got together they might buy one of them!


  But dramatic changes were about to take place in the airline industry with the advent of excursion fares tapping a whole new market and a surge of charter operators in Europe and other parts of the world offering cheap packages. Ultimately, Boeing missed out on the military tender to an aircraft which subsequently became known as the Lockheed C-5A Galaxy, and the 747 was on its way.


  By now Qantas studies had confirmed the 747’s advantages. They didn’t come cheap at $18 million each, but Qantas figured if they worked it hard and took advantage of its low, break-even seat factor they could make it pay. So, in August 1967 they ordered four.


  Walker remembers his visits to Boeing in Seattle in the early days of the 747’s development, seeing for the first time the mock-ups of what was to come and wondering whether its size would ever let it get off the ground. He admits being in awe of the concept: cabin interiors with two aisles, stairways up to what would start off as cockpit space but morph into an upper-deck lounge, an undercarriage with four sets of wheels. But he soon got used to it and even became caught up in the excitement of it all.


  Pan American World Airways had signed up for 30 aircraft as the launch customer for the first production run, to be known as the 100 series, with Boeing estimating if they sold 200 of the giants they would break even. (The total number of 747s sold would eventually reach around 1500.)


  Qantas’ philosophy in those days was to not buy a brand-new aeroplane but to wait for someone else to ‘run it in’, therefore opting to wait several years for the improved 200 series, a decision which would prove wise. In addition, the 200 series would have increased range and other refinements particularly suited to the airline’s long-haul operations and, as Walker admits:


  We were also able to see the bugs ironed out and Pan Am had their share of them, particularly with the engines, but there was no doubt we were looking at an exceptional aeroplane.


  Not all the action was taking place at Boeing’s purpose-built 9.3-hectare factory at Everett, north of Seattle. The ripple effect of an aircraft of this size was causing major airports around the world to agonise over the adjustments to their infrastructures necessary to handle the approaching giant.


  Runways and taxiways had to be widened to handle engines which otherwise would tear up their grassed verges, and the height of terminals needed to be increased to match the height necessary for loading and unloading passengers. And the airline itself had to make sure its own ground equipment could handle the larger catering galleys which would be required, an area where Qantas had taken advantage of the aircraft’s size to bring further benefit to its bottom line. They designed what was to become known as a ‘lower lobe galley’ situated in the hold below the airline’s passenger deck with a lift mechanism to carry food back and forth. Its removal from the main deck allowed an extra fifteen paying passenger seats to be added, an innovation quickly adopted by other airlines.


  Acquiring a tug with a drawbar strong enough to push 300 tonnes of aeroplane back and forth from the terminal for maintenance also called for some thinking outside the square. Engineering chief, Ron Yates, settled on designing a tractor similar to those used underground in the mining industry, modified to be low enough to drive under the nose of the aircraft.


  Not everything went according to plan, not least when it came to finding the money. With the cost of the first four aircraft—along with spares, hangars, ground support and training equipment—now reaching more than $160 million, government-owned Qantas was urgently awaiting an approval for their World Bank loan. With the deadline approaching, to the dismay of the company, the paperwork arrived back from the World Bank containing the words, ‘. . . we are not ready to finalise the finance.’


  Walker says when the airline’s chairman, Sir Roland Wilson, a former Treasury head and a stickler for process, instead of picking up the phone and calling the bank direct, elected to repeat the onerous application procedures through the tedious departmental channels, mild panic ensued. Thus the days dragged on as the deadline approached. According to Walker, some weeks later Wilson was meeting with one of the bankers, who asked why Qantas wasn’t taking up the loan. When Wilson explained the bank had rejected it they checked the paperwork. The ‘not’ in the sentence should have read ‘now’.


  As the aeroplanes took shape at Everett, Qantas would appoint its own team at Boeing to run alongside the aeroplanes as they were being built, a monitoring-and-oversight system which would remain in place for decades to come.


  The establishment of such a system wasn’t new. In fact, it had been employed with earlier Qantas aircraft like the Lockheed Constellation and the Boeing 707. But while the 707 had been a leap into the speed of the jet age, when airlines like Qantas ordered the Boeing 747 they were actually ordering a ‘paper aeroplane’ as there wasn’t even a prototype in existence at the time.


  Such a first of this type also required a contingent of engineering representatives from the airline, not only for power plants and airframe, but interior specifications for seating, galleys and other features, who would not only oversee their individual areas of responsibility but would undertake training for the licences they would subsequently need to handle the aeroplane once in service.


  Gradually, as the aeroplane developed, these would be reduced mainly to engineering and electronics specialists. Mick Ryan, who would become Qantas’ director of engineering, was one of those who lived with the project in Seattle from the conception of the 747 through to the delivery of the first four aeroplanes. Along with the normal day-to-day liaison between Qantas Sydney and Boeing on the aircraft’s progress, Ryan and the technical representatives handled numerous modifications to the aeroplane which weren’t included in the base price. Ryan says Qantas always aimed to put in place all the modifications at the early stage to minimise changes which would be more costly later while the aircraft was earning money in service. It was also a function of geography. In contrast to airlines like Pan American, who would always be within hours of the Boeing factory, Qantas was on the other side of the globe, too far away and too costly to fly an aeroplane back for anything beyond a most major modification.


  Also involved from the earliest stages, although not permanently based in Seattle, was a technical-development group comprised of pilots whose task would be to watch the development of everything on the flight deck, the layout of the flight deck itself and even where the taxi lights were positioned on the nose wheel. Finally, when the finished aircraft was rolled out of the factory and onto the flight line, their role would increase markedly.


  First Boeing’s own production test pilots would undertake ground checks and take the aircraft into the air for the first time, otherwise known as the ‘B1 flight’. There might then follow several days of ground running of engines and other tests before perhaps deciding to take it into the air a second time, for what would be known as the ‘B2 flight’. Then, at last, it would be Qantas’ turn, and although the 747 at this stage was still owned by Boeing, the customer would get their first chance to play with it.


  The Qantas development-group pilots and flight engineers, with all the other company representatives aboard, would initially carry out a series of checks on the ground to see if the aircraft was as the company ordered, a process which might take several days. Once these were completed the first customer flight would take place, with a Qantas and a Boeing pilot at the controls. This could be of more than two hours’ duration against a pre-determined flight-test routine, starting with checking that all the instrumentation was working perfectly on climb-out to an altitude of around 30 000 feet where the aircraft would be de-pressurised, allowing the Qantas team on board to check that all the oxygen masks dropped on cue and there were no problems with other passenger equipment.


  One of the team’s more bizarre tasks was to walk around the cabin with pins in their hands inspecting the vinyl covering on the aircraft’s walls to check for air bubbles created when the glue underneath reacted to pressurisation. Any air bubbles which had appeared would be fixed by inserting the pin to allow the air to escape from behind the vinyl. The holes remain permanently.


  Then, from a flying viewpoint, the really interesting part got under way, with the aircraft first taken up to maximum speed, then slowed down to the point where it was ready to stall, all designed to ensure that the various speed and stall warnings acted on cue.


  While the pilots might be familiar with the process, as their control columns began to shudder to warn that a stall was imminent, it could be a somewhat disconcerting experience for anyone down the back as Mick Ryan, who occasionally went on these production flights, can attest: ‘You could see the whole aeroplane shake, rattle and roll. Thank God it all held together but I must admit I still enjoyed it to a degree!’


  Ryan says Boeing usually took a fairly dim view of these excursions into the more extreme flying characteristics of the aeroplane, which they would have carried out already on Boeing’s own original flight-test aeroplanes, but were still insisted upon before the aircraft could be accepted as airworthy by Australia’s Department of Civil Aviation.


  Qantas Captain Alan Bones, who flew as part of the development group, describes how engines were also shut down one at a time and then re-lit, a situation which involved throttling back on that particular engine to allow it to cool before shutting it down to avoid it suffering what is known as a ‘thermal shock’, a condition which could cause serious damage if an engine operating at high temperatures is suddenly shut down in an environment where the ambient temperature could be as low as 50°C.


  ‘You managed the system by having one engine cooling, one engine at idle and the other two holding you up,’ explains Bones.


  After a ‘touch-and-go’ at an airfield that Boeing used at nearby Moses Lake, it would have been back to land at Everett to carry out the final item on the agenda—a rejected takeoff. With the 747s take-off system in the ‘rejected take-off’ mode, normally part of the pre-take-off procedure, they would roll down the runway until approaching take-off speed then pull back on the thrust levers. That would trigger the aircraft’s braking systems into coming on to maximum effect, doubtless also testing the seat belts those in the back were wearing. Back at the ramp discussions between Boeing and the Qantas people would analyse what might need to be attended to and decisions would be made on any further flights, although Bones says a second flight would only take place if absolutely necessary as it was a costly process. As some of the Boeing contracts people used to point out with a knowing smile: ‘It’s all going onto the cost of the aeroplane.’


  Gradually, over the years, as the aircraft gained service experience and systems improved, much of the flying procedure was reduced. Boeing welcomed this development, even offering the airline $20 000 in fuel to adopt reduced procedures. Neither the manufacturer nor their Australian customer wanted their product to be unnecessarily stressed.


  Bones says the move from analogue to the more efficient digital systems in the later 747 variants made much of the earlier testing unnecessary anyway. As soon as any supplementary operational or engineering anomalies were attended to, one last, quaintly bizarre flight remained to be undertaken before the aircraft could head for its new home.


  In the early years of Qantas buying its fleet of Boeing 707s, the Australian government would borrow the necessary money, mostly in US dollars, in overseas markets and on-lend the funds to Qantas under separate loan agreements. The payments to Boeing would come from Qantas’ own bank accounts and be reimbursed on or after aircraft delivery by Australian government loan funds.


  All that changed as the era of the Boeing 747s hit its stride in the 1980s when it became financially more prudent to lease an aircraft rather than buy it outright. Thus the future ownership of the aircraft would be passed to other parties who could better utilise taxation depreciation deductions against their own taxable income.


  The arrangement often involved a number of organisations joining together as equity participants, borrowing the bulk of the loan funds and then charging the costs of these arrangements back to Qantas in the form of lease charges. It was a ‘win win’ for Qantas as it could also allow the airline to meet the lease costs in the foreign currencies used, thereby providing natural currency hedging.


  But such involvements by multiple parties needed to get around any taxation complications they might mean for the Boeing company under US taxation provisions. Thus the aircraft would be signed over from Boeing to Qantas and one last special flight would take place carrying representatives from Boeing, Qantas and the lease parties into international airspace 321 kilometres off the coast west of Seattle. There, with the crew confirming latitude and longitude readings, all the formalities would be completed for the aircraft’s sale and lease back to Qantas.


  A slightly different procedure was adopted, however, when US banks became parties to the lease arrangements, albeit with another taxation twist. On these occasions the aircraft would be flown to Las Vegas, Nevada, where no taxes are imposed beyond those on gambling, and the necessary documentation completed.


  The sight of a huge Qantas 747 at Las Vegas airport always ensured significant local interest. Once such special flights were completed the newly minted Boeing 747 set off on a long career flying thousands of passengers on Qantas routes. And, by the way, if you happen to be one of those passengers, don’t bother to look for the pinpricks in the vinyl. They’re too minute too detect.
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  Embarrassing moments


  It’s something of a cliché that flying is inherently dangerous and, as it’s not humankind’s natural element, should therefore be left to the birds. The fact is, it doesn’t take much to turn a quite normal aviation situation into a serious accident or merely, if you’re lucky, what’s classified in the aviation lexicon as ‘an incident’.


  While often such situations can be the result of just bad luck or a slight error of judgement, they can cover a range of territory. To civil aviation authorities tasked with investigating them, however, they are clearly defined, often merely a nose wheel dropped into an unseen hole on the airfield while taxiing or perhaps clipping another aircraft’s wings while parking, although sometimes categorising them as an incident or the more serious ‘accident’ might depend on who’s trying to explain them to whom.


  When Qantas’ flagship Boeing 747 service, QF1 from Sydney to London, overshot the runway at Bangkok’s Don Muang airport in September 1999, the airline’s then chief executive, James Strong, saw fit to describe it to the media as an ‘incident’. One could understand his desire to play down the matter, given the airline’s renowned safety record, but the pictures then being flashed around the world of the Boeing, its undercarriage buried up to the axles in a golf course at the end of the runway, somehow made it hard to accept Strong’s somewhat conservative description.


  Reports later indicated that, in the many months before the aircraft returned to service, the cost to repair the damage ran into millions, leading some commentators to suggest that the easier course would have been to write off the aircraft. That, however, would have meant moving it into a category which is referred to in the industry as a ‘hull loss’, something Qantas certainly wouldn’t have wanted on its safety record.


  Such embarrassing accidents or incidents, given the nature of the genre, go back a long way in aviation. Along with taxiing into potholes, aeroplanes have hit kangaroos and emus and other animal intruders onto airports. As hard as it may be to believe these days, one even hit a train. It happened at Sydney airport on a night of poor visibility in June 1950 on a runway which was intersected at one end by the Sydney-to-Botany railway line used by coal trains to and from Bunnerong Power Station.


  Mascot in the 1950s was a far cry from the Sydney Kingsford Smith airport of today, now among the busiest in the world. Its three runways were much shorter and far less substantial than the current three and the ‘level crossing’ at the end of one of the runways presented few problems in handling two totally different transport modes via coordination between the airport’s control tower and the Mascot rail goods yard.


  The railway signalman would seek permission for a train to cross the runway and, providing all was clear, a set of warning signals would be operated from the control tower, but when there was confusion over which runway was to be used by an Ansett DC-3 en route to Coffs Harbour, an inevitable chain of events was set in motion.


  It all began when the DC-3 taxied to the end of the runway its captain believed he had been directed to, only to find the runway lights were not on. After pointing this out to air-traffic control it became evident the DC-3 now needed to use another runway for take-off so the captain received the go-ahead to taxi towards his new take-off position.


  In the meantime a coal train from Bunnerong was on its way, cleared to cross the runway the DC-3 was now taxiing on. The DC-3 had gone only part of the way when the copilot saw a dark shape appear out of the overcast. He shouted, ‘Hold it,’ but it was too late and the aircraft crashed into the side of the train with a force strong enough to derail several of the coal train’s freight wagons.


  Fire broke out in both of the aircraft’s engines, but they were quickly snuffed out by the aircraft’s fire extinguishers. Beyond the DC-3’s extensive damage, all fifteen passengers and three crew escaped serious injury, although having to note ‘collision with a train’ in a pilot’s log book would certainly have launched an interesting dinner party conversation in subsequent years. Former Ansett employee and historian, Fred Niven, records wags in the airline subsequently coming up with the saying: ‘Don’t miss your train connection. Fly Ansett.’


  Mascot wasn’t the only Australian airport which also catered for train traffic. Wynyard in Tasmania featured a rail line across its runway with all rail and aircraft movements displayed on a console in the airport’s flight-services room and the trains and aircraft controlled by green and red lights. The system operated until as recently as 2005 when decreasing rail traffic no longer warranted it.


  Embarrassment, of course, can be measured in degrees, and in aviation terms at least, one of the most embarrassing moments would befall the people who carried the major responsibility for ensuring Australia’s airways were among the safest in the world.


  There’s no question that 24 January 1967 was one of the blackest days in the annals of Australia’s highly respected Department of Civil Aviation (DCA). On that afternoon two of DCA’s most experienced examiners of airmen—pilots responsible for checking the proficiency of Australia’s airline pilots—failed to lower the wheels while doing training at Victoria’s Avalon airport, west of Melbourne, almost destroying DCA’s Hawker Siddeley HS-125 executive jet in the process.


  The HS-125 was the pride of DCA’s Essendon-based Flying Unit, a fleet of aircraft which ranged from small single- and twin-engine aircraft used by DCA regional officers throughout Australia to larger types in a variety of roles. While the smaller aircraft were basically for such chores as checking airport and ground facilities, or carrying out safety checks on local operating companies, several larger Fokker Friendship aircraft, fitted with sophisticated electronic equipment, were a frequent sight at the nation’s major airports as they calibrated the accuracy of the navigation aids and landing systems used by the airlines.


  DCA’s HS-125 had a slightly more restricted role to other aeroplanes in the DCA fleet. Although it could be used for radar calibration and the testing of instrument-approach equipment at an airport, its primary use was to provide DCA’s examiners with an aircraft which could broadly match the performance of the gas turbine-powered aircraft used by the major airline operators.


  Avalon in the sixties handled a varied assortment of aircraft operations. These were the days before simulators took over the bulk of pilot training, and aircraft like Qantas’ Boeing 707s were a regular sight at the airfield as they, too, performed ‘touch-and-goes’. Avalon was also used as the testing base for the Royal Australian Air Force’s Mirage jet fighters as they rolled off the assembly lines at Melbourne aircraft factories.


  DCA’s HS-125 was being flown on a training exercise by two of the department’s most experienced pilots, Jack Macalister and Peter Lavender, on 24 January 1967 when disaster struck. Macalister and Lavender were approaching for their eleventh touch-and-go for the day when the air-traffic controller advised that a Mirage was taxiing for take-off and instructed the pilots to make a right turn after their touch-and-go to allow the Mirage to climb away to the left after take-off.


  The HS-125 executed the touch-and-go, the Mirage took off and the HS-125 was then told to continue its circuit and report on final for another approach. All went according to plan as the aircraft’s throttles were closed at around 200 feet to allow its airspeed to come back to 115 knots and it crossed the runway threshold at around 30 feet and touched down.


  Macalister and Lavender later told investigators it was only when the aircraft started to skid along the runway that they realised the undercarriage was not extended and they went into emergency mode, closing down the aircraft’s fuel cocks and turning off the master battery switch to lessen the fire danger as the jet screeched along the runway for 731 metres in a shower of sparks, before coming to rest. By the time Macalister and Lavender evacuated the aircraft it was already ablaze as the friction from the runway had torn open a fuel tank and flames covered the rear section of the plane.


  The subsequent investigation by the department’s own Air Safety Branch, quickly refuted both pilots’ insistence that they had lowered the undercarriage as the undercarriage was still in the retracted position when the aircraft was inspected and tests showed it was completely serviceable.


  Although the aircraft was equipped with a warning horn designed to alert the crew if the undercarriage was not down on approach to land, the pilots later recalled that earlier in the circuit around the airport they had muted the horn noise when it sounded. And in another unfortunate turn of events, even though it had been muted, a backup system existed whereby a warning was also designed to sound when the aircraft’s flaps were lowered. Unluckily for Macalister and Lavender, on this particular touch-and-go they’d decided to carry out a flapless landing.


  Although DCA had been a world leader in encouraging openness and the wide circulation of accident causes to enable lessons to be learned by other pilots, when it came time to release the report of this incident, something of an internal battle ensued in an attempt to ‘limit’ the damage to the department’s reputation.


  Finally, however, given that the incident itself had been widely publicised in the press, along with repair costs of around a quarter of a million dollars, the results of the investigation into ‘one of their own’ subsequently featured in the department’s Aviation Safety Digest for all to see. It left little doubt as to the cause of the accident.


  It is quite clear from the investigation that the crew failed to make use of the means available to ensure that the undercarriage was extended and safe for landing.


  It said disciplinary action had been taken against the pilots and the department’s training procedures had also been reviewed.


  The fact that an accident of this type can occur to an aircraft being crewed by two senior, highly experienced, professional pilots is some indication of the degree of care necessary for the conduct of concentrated training exercises in modern complex aircraft. As cockpit sequences are repeated, circuit after circuit, it is unfortunately all too easy to gloss over, and perhaps gradually disregard, the methodical implantation of the prescribed cockpit checking procedures so essential to safe operation.


  Perhaps most of the embarrassment would have been to the two pilots involved, who would continue to sit in airliner cockpits in judgement of other pilots flying Australia’s air routes. One can only imagine the atmosphere in the cockpit when either of the two DCA examiners were checking pilots on their pre-landing procedures.


  The HS-125 incident wasn’t to be the last such mortification for DCA. Four years later the department’s Director of Operations for NSW, Bob Green, landed his Cessna 110 with the wheels still retracted when he arrived for an airport inspection at Port Macquarie. Not one to fail to see the irony of it, Green’s office wall at DCA’s NSW headquarters later featured a framed photograph of the incident.


  But at least Avalon, in open country west of Melbourne, was a relatively isolated location when it came to embarrassment with landing gear. Sydney’s Kingsford Smith airport is a totally different prospect when something the size of a Boeing 747 ends up on its nose in the middle of the main runway.
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  Ansett International arrives—well, in a fashion!


  As far back as many in Australia’s aviation industry could remember, Ansett-ANA—later Ansett Airlines, for many years one half of Australia’s two-airline system—had ambitions to spread it wings into international skies. But while the ambition may have been there, the Australian government’s policy of nominating one airline, Qantas, as its international flag carrier, always stood in the way; although this was never enough to dampen Ansett’s enthusiasm for trying.


  On several occasions over the years the opportunity looked promising: in the 1970s with the move to independence by Papua New Guinea, the airline’s founder, Sir Reginald Ansett, lobbied the Papua New Guinea government to have his airline operate services between Port Moresby and Australia; some years later, with Ansett now under the Sir Peter Abeles and Rupert Murdoch regime, state governments, particularly Queensland, agitated for additional international services which Qantas claimed were uneconomical for it to provide.


  All attempts foundered, however, until Ansett’s chance came with the policy changes which led to the more open skies in the 1980s and 1990s and the airline introduced services to Bali, Indonesia, in 1993. Within a year they had leased two Boeing 747s from Singapore Airlines and Ansett had added Japan and Hong Kong to its international credentials.


  The introduction of the much larger 747 into an airline with a well-honed domestic mindset would represent a steep learning curve for Ansett, a curve which would bring heavy pressures on the operational and organisational requirements of the airline, pressures which would be starkly revealed in what was to take place at Sydney airport on 19 October 1994.


  Ansett International’s Boeing 747 Flight AN 881 had taken off from Sydney just after 10 a.m., bound for Osaka, Japan, with 253 passengers and 21 crew aboard. Within an hour into the flight, with the aircraft cruising at 31 000 feet, the crew noticed one of the 747’s four engines was losing oil.


  When it soon became obvious that the oil was decreasing at an alarming rate, the engine was shut down and a decision made to return to Sydney. Along with the requirement to jettison fuel to reduce the aircraft’s landing weight for Sydney, the return flight was a busy one for the crew, themselves a mix of experience and training.


  While the 58-year-old-captain, who came to Ansett from Cathay Pacific with 21 000 flying hours—more than 7000 of them on Boeing 747s—was a pilot of long experience, the first officer, although also an experienced pilot, had not yet completed his line training on the 747. The third occupant of the cockpit was a newly rated flight engineer on his first revenue flight as a qualified flight engineer.


  That return flight to Sydney was later revealed as a particularly busy time for the flight engineer. In addition to monitoring the fuel-jettison process, balancing the fuel in the aircraft’s tanks and making entries in logs, he was also being used as the coordinator for some of the arrangements being made between Ansett management on the ground for the transfer of passengers and the crew to an alternative aircraft for Japan.


  It was raining in Sydney airport that morning and, with limited visibility, air-traffic control cleared the aircraft for an instrument approach from the north to Sydney’s main runway. Acknowledging the training advantages under these conditions, the captain elected to have his copilot fly the aircraft.


  Everything went as normal on the approach to land until the crew selected appropriate flap settings and lowered the landing gear. That was when the landing gear warning horn began to sound, indicating that the undercarriage had not extended.


  Although it appears the crew had earlier discussed whether some of the aircraft’s hydraulic systems might be affected due to the loss of one engine and they attempted to establish why the horn was sounding, they believed the gear was down and decided to continue with the landing. Several hundred feet above the runway approach the captain, perplexed that one of the gear warning lights was still showing red on his panel, queried the flight engineer as to whether all the required ‘green’ lights were on. He responded that they were. Unknown to them, however, the 747’s nose wheel had only partially extended.


  With rain falling and visibility limited, the air-traffic control surface-movement controller in the tower did not see the 747’s problem until it was too late. By the time he did the 747’s main wheels were on the ground and the nose was already being lowered.


  The first reaction by the two pilots was to initiate a go-around, but by now reverse thrust had been selected and that would not be possible. The following twenty seconds or so must have been agonising for the crew of Ansett Flight 881 as the front section of the Boeing’s fuselage dropped onto the runway surface and the aircraft skidded for more than 800 metres on its nose.


  Fire-and-rescue services were quickly on the scene and applied foam to what appeared to be smoke coming from the nose of the Boeing, but as it turned out it was merely steam created by the friction of the aircraft’s skin on the wet runway. Fortunately there were no injuries and neither was it necessary for an emergency evacuation.


  The subsequent investigation into the accident by the Department of Transport’s Air Safety Investigation Branch highlighted problems with the flight engineer’s interpretation of the landing gear lights on his panel, a failure to recognise that one of the five gear-indicator lights was not illuminated, along with crew resource-management deficiencies on the flight deck. Commercial pressures related to the introduction of the 747s into the Ansett fleet and inadequate line training of personnel were also criticised.


  The good news for Ansett was that damage was confined to abrasive wear and distortion of the fuselage skin, although the ignominy of having the pride of its fleet resting forlornly on its nose at Australia’s primary international airport probably represented its major concern.


  Ansett’s long-awaited achievement of its international wings was destined to last less than a decade. Struggling under the weight of poor management decisions, including uneconomic equipment procurement, the airline would eventually be purchased by Air New Zealand early in 2000, only to go into voluntary administration within two years—an unfortunate end to an Australian icon and the dreams of its founder.
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  When a runway ‘isn’t long enough’


  Light rain also had been falling as Pan American’s Flight 811 approached Sydney’s Mascot airport on the morning of 18 July 1971, and for the 284 passengers and crew the long haul from Los Angeles via Honolulu and Fiji was almost over.


  At the controls was Captain William Thomas, 52, a veteran of more than 26 000 hours in the air but of only one previous landing at Sydney, and that on Sydney’s long north–south runway. On this particular morning he had been cleared to land into the west on the shorter, 2377-metre east–west runway, and although this runway was not equipped with an instrument-landing system, pilots flew down a flight path provided by a visual aid known as a T-VASIS, an Australian invention which comprised a series of lights set off to each side of the runway which, viewed from the cockpit of an approaching aircraft, guided the pilot onto the runway threshold.


  The first sign of a problem came when the air-traffic controller in the tower stared in surprise as the big Boeing appeared to still be at a height of 200 feet at the end of the runway he was planning to land on. The controller continued to watch as the Boeing levelled out and then appeared to float, losing height ever so slowly as it progressed along above the runway, with the controller all the while expecting the engines to roar into life and the aircraft to execute a go-around.


  But there would be no go-around for this plane. Instead, he saw the wheels of the jumbo touch down halfway along near the junction of the two runways, its nose wheel still high as it started into its landing roll. Then it was lost to him behind a shower of spray and smoke as the engines went into reverse thrust and the aircraft’s brakes came on.


  In the seconds that it was out of sight to the controller, PAA Flight 811 had run off the end of the runway and had been brought to a shuddering stop with its nose wheel buried several metres into the mud at the runway’s end. Much further and it would have collided with a cement wall protecting pipes at the end of the runway, with possible disastrous results.


  As it was, there were no injuries, and passengers completed the final few metres of their journey to Sydney’s international terminal by coach. The press, however, had something of a field day, highlighting the ‘near miss’ aspects of the incident along with a statement by Pan American suggesting that the runway itself was ‘too short’.


  Never one to tolerate having his department’s infrastructure or safety facilities come in for unjust criticism, DCA’s director general, Sir Donald Anderson, a former pilot himself, countered with a one-sentence response which managed to stop such an accusation in its tracks: ‘Any runway’s too short if you land halfway down it.’


  The Air Safety Investigation Branch inquiry which followed considered three principal questions central to the incident. First, why did the aircraft touch down so far along the runway; second, why did it fail to come to a halt in the runway length remaining; and, third, why did the pilot not go around at some time before the overrun became inevitable?


  After much analysis of the T-VASIS system runway touchdown distances and the Boeing braking-and-stopping capabilities, the final report concluded that the pilot in command should have made a decision to abort the landing and go around again once a misjudged landing approach was evident.


  But while there might have been some embarrassment in the photographs and television footage which followed the incident, the Boeing 747 itself would come out of it remarkably well. Despite the physical shock of a sudden stop and a nose wheel choked above its axle in soft earth, the Boeing 747 would be cleaned, checked for airworthiness and operate a return service to Los Angeles the next day.


  As the Pan Am and HS-125 episodes show, landing an aircraft is a vulnerable time when it comes to awkward moments and, along with its civilian counterparts, the Royal Australian Air Force has had its share, with its operations in Papua New Guinea featuring in several of them.


  Papua New Guinea is a country where, at least for the uninitiated, flying jungle-covered mountains and valleys, one airstrip looks very much like any other. It may be apocryphal, but the story goes that some years ago the pilot of a RAAF Caribou called up the air-traffic controller at Goroka, in Papua New Guinea’s Eastern Highlands and one of the country’s busiest airfields, to inform him he was in the airfield’s landing circuit. Seeing it was the first he’d heard of the aircraft, the surprised controller looked out towards the horizon but couldn’t find any aircraft within eyesight. So he asked the pilot to reconfirm his position.


  The pilot did so and announced he was now turning in to his final approach to the airfield. By now the air-traffic controller was outside his tower, his eyes probing all points of the compass but to no avail. There turned out to be a good reason the controller couldn’t see him. By the time the two of them had sorted it out, the Caribou had landed at a different airport entirely.


  The RAAF experienced a similar incident in Papua New Guinea in the mid-1960s when the wrong identification of an airstrip, which under different circumstances might have led to a minor mishap, actually resulted in a crash and serious injury.


  During a Defence Force training exercise in June 1965 two RAAF Caribous were detailed to deliver aviation fuel to the airstrip at Moro, near Lake Kutubu in Papua New Guinea’s Southern Highlands. The two aircraft, both loaded with 44-gallon drums of aviation fuel and aero oil, left Wewak, on Papua New Guinea’s north coast, in the morning and a little more than an hour later were over Moro. The leading aircraft descended through a hole in the cloud cover to land but soon after landing its captain reported his aircraft was bogged in Moro’s mud.


  Hearing this news the crew of the second Caribou decided to return to Wewak but in the process offload their cargo at Laiagam, another airstrip which they had been instructed to use as an alternative fuel drop should Moro be unavailable. While the crews were aware from earlier briefings that map coordinates for some PNG airstrips were not accurate, they made the added mistake of identifying the airfield at Porgera for Laiagam, an error which would have serious consequences.


  While Laiagam was a reasonable 823 metres long and 61 metres wide and its surrounding terrain allowed an approach from either end, Porgera’s runway, at a height of over 7000 feet and surrounded by 12 000-foot-high mountains, was only 457 metres long and 45.7 metres wide, had a ten degree upward slope at its southern end and, due to a high ridgeline could only be approached from one direction.


  Below them at Porgera, the local government patrol officer was supervising around 200 natives working at one end of the airstrip and when he first saw the Caribou above he wasn’t particularly concerned. He had been alerted to military exercises in the area and even as the aircraft began to lose height towards the field he assumed it was simply carrying out an aerial reconnaissance. On board the Caribou, however, the flaps and undercarriage were being lowered and they were preparing to land.


  It wasn’t long before the stark reality of what was happening dawned on those below. The natives, although used to light aircraft landing on their airfield, had never seen an aeroplane of this size before and began to bolt for the jungle, leaving the patrol officer to watch as the Caribou roared low over his head, flew for some distance just above the ground, then, the engines roaring tried to climb away.


  Meanwhile, in the cockpit of the Caribou, time and distance were already running out. Realising that the ground below him was sloping, the captain attempted to climb the aircraft away but despite his efforts to lift the nose the rising ground in front gradually beat him. Behind him, the patrol officer saw the Caribou disappear out of sight over a ridge. There were a few seconds of silence as the engines stopped, followed by a dull thud.


  It took him only minutes to reach the aircraft, embedded in thick growth and pandanus trees 366 metres uphill from the strip. By the time he arrived the copilot, his back injured, was lying on the Caribou’s rear loading ramp while the aircraft’s captain, badly hurt, was still in his seat. Using parts of the damaged aircraft as makeshift stretchers, the two crewmen were carried to the patrol post where a missionary doctor and nurse gave first aid. That afternoon a light aircraft transferred them to Mount Hagen where a RAAF aircraft took them on to hospital at Lae.


  In addition to the wrong identification of the airfield, RAAF investigations unearthed an interesting combination of factors which may have contributed to the accident, primary among them the fact that the captain may have been suffering the effects of hypoxia caused by lack of oxygen, thus impairing his judgement.


  Investigators found that although the flight from Wewak that morning had at times reached an altitude of 13 000 feet, neither crewman might have been equipped to handle the results of flying above 10 000 feet, the altitude where hypoxia can begin to take effect. The captain had left his protective helmet and oxygen mask back at his base at Richmond, near Sydney, and had inhaled intermittently from an oxygen hose. He had also failed to properly fit his safety harness before the landing, a decision which doubtless contributed to him suffering serious injuries in the crash. The copilot had his helmet but had not attached it to the oxygen mask, instead holding the mask to his face when he considered he needed oxygen.


  The final report found the accident occurred when the ‘captain attempted to overshoot in conditions beyond the capability of the aircraft’. It also cautioned other aircrew on the insidious effects of insufficient oxygen and its impact on ‘visual changes, poor discrimination, slowing of reaction time’.


  As for the Caribou. It was written off by the RAAF and is still at Porgera, although the engines were recovered. The hull of the aircraft has been put to good use, however—as living quarters for some fortunate locals.
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  Cyclone Tracy and the forgotten story of the uplift


  When it began to form over the Arafura Sea off Timor on 20 December 1974, Cyclone Tracy appeared to be no threat to Darwin, or anywhere in the Northern Territory for that matter; something to be watched perhaps, but typical of the tropical lows which occur in that part of the world at that time of the year. Early weather reports over the following days described it as tracking in a west south-westerly direction, and although communities on Goulburn and Bathurst islands off the Northern Territory coast were alerted, no gale-force winds were expected.


  Late on 23 December, however, radar reports showed the cyclone had turned to the south and by early morning on Christmas Eve Bathurst Island was being hit by winds of over 100 kilometres an hour. Then, at midday on the 24th it turned again, this time to the south-east and on a direct line for Darwin.


  Weather forecasters immediately issued a warning that ‘very destructive winds of 120 kilometres per hour with gusts of up to 150 kilometres per hour were on the way’ and Darwin radio stations began to regularly repeat the warnings and offer advice to listeners on how best to prepare themselves.


  Such warnings were nothing new to Darwin residents, of course, and were part of life for anyone living in the cyclone belt. This time, however, no one could have imagined that Cyclone Tracy would cost the lives of sixty-five people and destroy their city in what would be the biggest natural disaster in Australia’s history.


  What took place in Darwin in the early hours of Christmas Day, as terrified residents experienced the full fury of the cyclone and their homes disintegrated around them, is well known. Wind gusts which reached 217 kilometres per hour before the anemometer at Darwin’s airport was torn away, literally ripped homes apart, and by daylight on Christmas Day Darwin was a scene of utter devastation. Only 400 of the city’s 10 000 buildings remained intact, 35 vessels of varying sizes in Darwin’s harbour had been sunk, driven aground or damaged, and there was no electricity or water. Sixty-five people were dead, sixteen of them missing at sea, and given the destruction it remains a miracle that the death toll in a city of 40 000 people was not higher.


  In contrast to the deafening winds and torrential rain which had battered the city for hours, in the light of Christmas Day, as people tried to make some sense of it all, Darwin was in a cone of silence. With communications torn apart, the rest of Australia had no idea what had happened.


  Although many were injured and all were shocked and dazed, some began to think about what would need to happen next, and quickly. What was about to take place in the days to follow would represent the largest air uplift of humanity ever undertaken in Australia.


  Its initial phase would involve a lack of any official organisation, little to work with on the ground and even, in some cases, significant bending of the rules, as every available aviation resource in Australia was thrown at the problem.


  People in the air and on the ground would fly and work until they literally dropped from exhaustion, at the same time displaying ingenuity and compassion while reducing Darwin’s population by more than half in a matter of days. Fortunately for Darwin that ingenuity would be evident even before Tracy had arrived, with a result that would have far-reaching effects on Christmas morning.


  Once a cyclone warning was distributed, it was standard practice for Connair, the Northern Territory’s airline, to fly any of its Darwin-based aircraft out of the danger zone. Such a procedure had occurred only weeks previously during an earlier cyclone alert.


  Connair had three of its DC-3s and two four-engine de Havilland Herons in Darwin when news arrived that Tracy had changed course, so Connair operations in Alice Springs ordered them out. The Royal Australian Air Force’s military version of the DC-3, the C-47, had already left for Katherine, a second RAAF Dakota had been secured in a hangar and the base’s Iroquois helicopter chained down. The remaining Heron was still in the Connair hangar and had to be left behind when the other four departed for Katherine at 8 o’clock on Christmas Eve.


  One of Connair’s engineering staff, Ian Badman, decided to remain at the airport and keep an eye on the Heron. As the wind strength increased through the night, Badman, known locally as ‘Nammo’ (short for Namatjira, as he was reportedly handy with a paint brush), decided to do what he could to help the Heron withstand the gale-force winds coming through the open west side of the hangar. So he hooked an aircraft tug to the tail of the Heron and for the rest of the night, reportedly assisted by the contents of a slab of beer and a bottle of rum to help withstand all Tracy could throw at him, manoeuvred the tug around the hangar to hold the aircraft against the wind, saving it from certain destruction. Four hangars nearby, several with doors facing west, had their doors blown in and all the aircraft inside destroyed. All other aircraft on the airport were either destroyed or badly damaged.


  Two of Connair’s DC-3 captains were still in Darwin and, along with the rest of the city, were to experience the wrath of Tracy first-hand. Both Dave Fredriksen and John Myers had flown Connair runs all Christmas Eve so were out of hours by the time it came to ferry aircraft south. They would later learn that the pilots who had taken the aircraft to Katherine that evening, all of whom had family and friends in Darwin, had all bundled into another Connair aircraft and tried to return late that same night, but the ferocity of the cyclone had driven them back.


  Myers recalls the numbing screech of the wind as his Fannie Bay house was demolished around him and his family, then walking out the next morning to see for the first time the devastation around him and to learn of neighbours who had died.


  Fredriksen, who lived in a unit in the centre of Darwin, arrived at Myers’ shattered home soon after in his Toyota Celica and they picked their way through rubble-littered streets and main roads to the airport, now seeing for the first time the extent of the carnage Tracy had wrought.


  There they found Nammo and the Heron, both still intact. It was about 8.30 a.m. and not only had the Heron escaped damage, there was a chance that its radio might function. They first thought of towing it out of the hangar to improve the signal quality, but the tug’s motor was now awash and it wouldn’t start. To their delight the radio worked and the call they made to the Air Services station at Katherine would be the first Australia would know of the disaster which had befallen its northernmost city.


  To those standing by in Katherine, Fredriksen’s voice coming over the radio with the words, ‘Charlie Lima Tango. Check Call’, the call sign of the Heron, must have sounded like a call from a ghost aeroplane.


  ‘Where are you? The whole world’s been trying to contact Darwin and no one can talk to them on radio,’ came the reply.


  When he told them that 95 per cent of Darwin had been destroyed they asked what help he needed.


  ‘Everything,’ Fredriksen said, not quite knowing how else to describe it.


  The Connair crews who had taken their aircraft to Katherine were standing by the radio and soon Fredriksen was being bombarded with anxious questions about their families in Darwin. ‘I told them it would take us an hour or so to find them if I could.’


  Myers and Fredriksen found a RAAF air-traffic controller and they left him to handle the radio while they headed back into Darwin to try to locate Connair staff and their families. It took them under an hour to find the families. Fredriksen smiles when he tells how his earlier experience of driving in car rallies helped him weave his way around fallen telegraph poles, timber and iron roofing from houses and other debris on the streets.


  By the time they returned to the airport the Connair DC-3s and Katherine Heron were overhead and looking for somewhere to land, so Myers, Fredriksen and Nammo jumped on a tug and headed for the runway to clear what debris they could. And here, with the aircraft circling above, with no aids to assist them, no idea of wind direction for landing, Nammo Badman would come into his own once again. Taking off his trousers he held them above his head as a makeshift windsock.


  ‘There wasn’t much wind by this stage, but there was enough to blow his trousers. It was a pretty effective effort,’ Myers says.


  On their way back to the hangars they were confronted by a RAAF officer who demanded to know what was going on. When Fredriksen told him the aircraft above were going to land he said: ‘They can’t land. This is an emergency.’


  ‘I just told him to fuck off,’ says Fredriksen. It wouldn’t be the last sharp encounter a civilian pilot would have with the RAAF in the confused early hours of Tracy’s aftermath.


  One by one the Connair aircraft, operating without any air-traffic control, organised themselves into the aerodrome’s circuit and landed. As it turned out, also coming in was the RAAF’s DC-3 from Katherine. It would be on the ground only minutes before taking off on the first post-cyclone mission from Darwin to collect RAAF Darwin’s commanding officer, Dave Hitchins, who had been on leave at Smith Point, 209 kilometres to the north-east.


  Hitchins was shocked by what he saw when he stepped from his Dakota mid-afternoon on Christmas Day. Darwin, a major support base for air-force operations in northern Australia, had been totally laid to waste by Tracy. Hangars had been demolished, there was no communications facility left functioning, the second RAAF Dakota which had remained in Darwin the night before had been blown out of its maintenance hangar and down a roadway, ending up wrecked almost at the front garden of Hitchin’s own house. The Iroquois helicopter had broken its ground chains and was badly damaged.


  Conditions everywhere were chaotic. The base’s hospital was congested, it had no water or power supplies and its one medical officer and two RAAF nurses were struggling to cope with an influx of service and civilian casualties suffering serious lacerations and shock. The one saving grace in it all was that of the total RAAF establishment of 670 RAAF members and their dependants, no one had been killed.


  Hitchins was one of the RAAF’s most experienced officers, a former Second World War bomber pilot who had been in charge of air-transport operations for the RAAF in the Korean War. He was also a former commanding officer of the RAAF’s No 36 Squadron whose C-130 Hercules aircraft would play a critical role in what was to come. He immediately set about trying to bring some order to the chaos.


  In the meantime the rest of Australia remained largely oblivious to what had happened but enough information of deaths and casualties was becoming available to declare Tracy a disaster and prompt the despatch of Major General Alan Stretton, Director General of the National Disaster Organisation.


  Stretton, with aides and an emergency medical team, left Canberra for Darwin in a RAAF BAC-111 VIP jet aircraft at 3.30 p.m. on Christmas Day. They would pick up Dr Rex Patterson, minister for the Northern Territory, in Mt Isa on the way. At the same time a RAAF Medivac Hercules C-130 from No 37 Squadron at Richmond, under the command of Squadron Leader Bill Fewster, was on its way to Darwin with a RAAF medical team.


  Listening on his radio, Fewster learned that the BAC-111 flight had landed at Mt Isa and faced a problem. Fewster had limited knowledge of the weather ahead and already knew he would have to land at Darwin without any aids, thus relying on the Hercules’ radar for the approach, something the BAC-111 did not have.


  Fewster also calculated that the BAC-111’s limited range would mean the VIP jet would have difficulty reaching an alternative airport if it had to hold over Darwin for any length of time due to the weather. With Minister Patterson and Stretton therefore facing the prospect of remaining in Mt Isa overnight, Fewster diverted to Mt Isa to carry the Stretton team on the final leg.


  Fewster’s flight engineer, Keith Kershaw, would later recall those aboard the C-130 feeling the first effects of the cyclone somewhere around Katherine as they began their night letdown into Darwin. With no external aids available they used their own radar to locate the runway and landed down a path of kerosene flares. By the time they came to a stop, however, Darwin’s airlift was already in motion, although in a very limited fashion.


  Throughout the afternoon Connair’s Myers and Fredriksen had been busy gathering Connair families together. Connair had authorised Myers and another Connair pilot, Larry Olajos, to bring out their staff. It had been the Connair practice for the married pilots to host the single pilots to Christmas dinner so one of the first decisions Myers and Fredriksen made was to head for their homes and fill the Celica with food from their now useless fridges.


  Their next ‘raid’ was back at the airport where they siphoned enough fuel from the other aircraft to get the DC-3 to Katherine and then on to Alice Springs. Their fully loaded DC-3 was the forerunner of the largest airlift in Australian history when it took off shortly after 6 p.m. on Christmas Day. While Myers distributed the former contents of his fridge to the mainly Connair staff, his son hugged the only thing he’d salvaged—his teddy bear.


  ‘Larry was the captain. All I had was what I stood up in: T-shirt, shorts and thongs, and I remember the zip on the shorts was broken! ’ Myers recalls.


  Such was the dearth of information about Darwin that when they arrived at Katherine, a mere 300 kilometres south, the aircraft refueller and the Department of Transport air-services officer were asking them what had happened.


  When they finally arrived at Alice Springs late that night Myers remembers a policeman asking what was needed at Darwin. Myers told him: ‘Just about everything you can think of, but you probably need to relieve your staff.’ Myers himself would be back to Darwin the next day to continue what they had started.


  Only minutes before the Connair DC-3 left that night the first airline aircraft, a Trans-Australia Airlines (TAA) F.27 Fokker Friendship had arrived at Darwin. For TAA Captain Ray Vuillermin and his crew, 25 December had begun as a perfectly normal scheduled service from Alice Springs to Darwin via Tennant Creek and Katherine. On arrival at Alice Springs Vuillermin was told ‘something unusual’ had occurred at Darwin. No one knew any specifics, but a ‘severe weather event’ was mentioned as a possibility.


  Vuillermin flew on and at Katherine received the first news of the cyclone. ‘Someone suggested the city was 80 per cent destroyed. That sounded unbelievable,’ says Vuillermin.


  They were told no passengers could be taken on but to carry medical staff and equipment. Vuillermin did take one passenger onward, however, his nine-year-old daughter, Nicole, who had been on her way to spend Christmas in Darwin with her grandmother. With no TAA staff normally stationed at RAAF Tindal, Katherine’s airport, he had no intention of leaving Nikki there.


  Vuillermin remembers the weather was good as they approached Darwin and as he made his descent he realised for the first time that the 80 per cent estimation of damage had in fact been well short of the mark. Staggered to find the whole city in ruins, wrecked aircraft strewn all over the airfield, vessels stranded on dry land, and unable to make radio contact and concerned about landing among the debris on the runway, he circled Darwin while deciding what he should do.


  As they flew overhead he remembers seeing the Travelodge where TAA aircrew normally stayed. He had promised Nikki they would be able to spend some time in the Travelodge pool. The pool had several cars in it.


  Then the radio burst into life and a RAAF airfield safety officer, speaking from a vehicle below, asked Vuillermin what runway length he needed to land. Vuillermin said 914.4 metres of the main runway’s 10 000 would do. They landed safely, followed the RAAF safety officer’s vehicle through the debris on a long taxi to the terminal area and into an atmosphere of general confusion and no apparent organisation. ‘No one quite knew what to do. It was very early days and people were in a state of shock and disbelief.’


  One of the TAA staff offered to drive him into town where he found Nikki’s grandmother who had decided to head south in her own car. He left Nikki with her and headed back to the airport, on the way recalling seeing another TAA Darwin-based pilot washing his children’s nappies in a geyser of water from a broken water main.


  That night Stretton arrived to take over and told Vuillermin and his first officer, Tony Burgess, to get some rest and to await instructions. Vuillermin didn’t want to be too far from the Fokker as there were rumours everywhere that the cyclone might be on the way back, so he headed back to the airport.


  Although there was some storm activity the cyclone didn’t return and the next morning they loaded 32 traumatised women and 27 children, all destined for Brisbane hospitals. All but one of the 27 children was under three years of age, nine of the babies less than two days old. One had been born only four hours before. Qantas opened their catering section and told the F.27’s flight attendants, Debbie Marker and Marie Willis, to take what they wanted, so they helped themselves to whatever drinks, biscuits, sanitary pads and towels they could find and they were on their way.


  For Vuillermin, the two-hour flight, first to Mt Isa, was like flying from a war zone, with RAAF and his TAA flight attendants providing first aid to their passengers. Like Myers’ Katherine experience, when Vuillermin called TAA at Mt Isa requesting catering, his words were initially met with disbelief. But the sandwiches and drinks were there and after a fast turnaround they were on their way to Brisbane and hospital care.


  Earlier, at Darwin, as Ray Vuillermin and his crew were finalising the loading of their Friendship, they heard the sound of jet engines approaching and looked up to see Captain John Brooks’ Qantas Boeing 707 appear out of the south-east. For John Brooks it had been an early start. Called out by Qantas Operations, he was on his way to Sydney airport shortly after 3 a.m. Boxing Day and a pre-flight briefing. Such was the dearth of information available that, if he couldn’t land, the 707 would be loaded with sufficient fuel to return to Sydney.


  Meanwhile other Qantas personnel were gathering at Mascot, including a medical team of nurses headed by two Qantas doctors, six engineers and staff from personnel, line maintenance, general services and the airline’s Traffic Department. Qantas’ director of engineering and maintenance, Ron Yates, had the foresight to direct that the 707 to be used should be one of the six which had single sideband (SSB) radio fitted. The SSB would prove a valuable decision, allowing requests for what was urgently needed in Darwin to be relayed direct to Qantas in Sydney. Also loaded on board were eight tonnes of food, particularly baby food, drinks, ice and several thousand blankets.


  By 4.30 a.m. Brooks and his crew were in the aircraft and ready to go, only to have their request for a clearance to start engines refused by Mascot’s air-traffic control on the grounds they were still inside the curfew hours between 11 p.m. and 6 a.m. Brooks’ pleas that this was an emergency flight with a Qantas medical team and supplies on board fell on deaf ears. Exasperated, Brooks suggested air-traffic control telephone the federal minister for transport for approval, but was told he was asleep. ‘Well, wake him up!’ Brooks said.


  When that didn’t work Brooks asked Qantas operations over the radio whether they could do something, but after a fifteen-minute wait the answer came back that they were unable to remedy the situation. So an unhappy Brooks and crew cooled their heels until, at 5.55 a.m. when the radio crackled into life with their start-up clearance and they were at last on their way.


  Brooks would describe the approach to Darwin that morning as though they were on the dark side of the moon.


  We were at about 30 000 feet when we started our descent on our own decision as there was no air-traffic control and, even though it was daylight it was like we were going into a dark hole.


  They had their first sight of Darwin as they broke through cloud at around 8000 feet. ‘My first impression was it had been flattened by a nuclear device. Surely a cyclone couldn’t have done all that.’


  Brooks took the Boeing out over the sea to lose altitude and flew over the town for a closer look. To the small group of Qantas staff on the ground that morning, the sight of that 707 with the kangaroo on the tail would be an emotional experience that would remain with them for the rest of the lives.


  Qantas manager, Ian Burns-Woods, and his pregnant wife, Gabrielle, had spent their first Christmas in Darwin like most of the rest of the city’s residents—sheltering inside as their home disintegrated around them. Burns-Woods remembers the fearsome shattering of glass as he jammed his feet against the bathroom door to stop it from blowing in on them, although he admits the bottle of cognac they had smuggled into the bathroom with them provided some solace.


  By morning the roof was gone, along with most of the walls, and an eerie silence had descended as he stood there witnessing the results of a decision he’d made following the warnings the night before. With the cyclone approaching, he’d decided to leave the Qantas company Ford Falcon out in the street and put his prized Alfa Romeo GT under the car port just in case. The Ford had survived with hardly a scratch, but the roof of the car port had collapsed on the Alfa.


  Some of the staff gathered outside the Travelodge later in the morning and Burns-Woods heard that someone had called a disaster meeting somewhere in town. Anyone who could provide resources needed to attend, they said. He was about to leave when they heard the sound of an aircraft but could not see anything in the overcast sky. ‘We stood there as the sound grew louder and louder.’


  Suddenly, over the top of the Travelodge loomed the underbelly of a Boeing 707 as it circled around almost on top of them. ‘The thrill of that moment remains with me today,’ Burns-Woods would remember decades later.


  Several of his staff had tears in their eyes as they waved and cheered before jumping into cars to drive to the airport as quickly as possible to meet it. They all found themselves fervently hoping the Boeing would be able to land.


  Burns-Woods confesses in those emotional moments he even remembers forgiving his ‘masters’ at Qantas head office for their occasional ‘pedantry, their sanctimony and even their budget cuts’. ‘When we really needed help they’d arrived.’


  Meanwhile, John Brooks had made a false approach and dropped to around a hundred feet, flying alongside the runway to make an assessment. Thankful that the RAAF appeared to have cleared it reasonably well, he climbed again, did a normal circuit and landed. It wasn’t until after they were on the ground that the 707’s flight engineer, Norm King, would find the runway had been littered with large roofing nails and screws, fortunately none of which had penetrated the 707’s tyres. Once on the ground Brooks didn’t know where to taxi the Boeing to.


  ‘There was no VHF radio, no power, no nothing. The place was deserted.’


  With obviously no ground power unit available to restart his engines, Brooks decided to leave the number-four engine running to provide the Boeing with power on the ground and in the event they had to leave again. (Sometime later they would locate a ground power unit from among the debris and they were able to shut down the engine.)


  With nothing to do but wait, and mystified by the lack of people around, including anyone from the air force, Brooks finally saw a man come out of a hangar so he walked over and opened the door. Inside were scores of air-force people, women and children, some weeping. He approached the nearest RAAF officer, telling him he had a single sideband radio on the 707 for their use if they needed it. ‘He appeared really harassed, looked at me as if I was half mad, then pulled himself up to his full height and said: “We don’t need any help from you.”’


  Momentarily stunned, Brooks went back out the door and onto the tarmac. As he walked back towards his aircraft another officer approached, at first walked past him and then called out for Brooks to stop.


  ‘Are you the pilot of that 707?’


  ‘Yes, I am,’ replied Brooks.


  ‘Well, I’m commandeering it.’


  Brooks suggested he might have to call Qantas to do so, but the officer told him he didn’t need to do that.


  ‘Well, who do you think you’re going to get to fly it?’ Brooks retorted, by now his patience being tested.


  With that there were several moments of silence, after which the officer turned on his heels and marched off. Brooks returned to his Boeing.


  Eventually he found someone who appeared to be in charge, who asked him how many he could take back to Sydney. ‘I just told him to fill her up.’


  There are parts of the story on this day which remain hard to rationalise, beyond the obvious state of shock Tracy had left behind. Brooks says:


  There wasn’t much sign of the air force. All the others like the airline engineers and people were ripping the debris apart to try to get equipment they might need and they managed to uncover a set of steps. The air force were nowhere to be seen and I didn’t see anyone until I stepped into that hangar.


  All these people and kids crying, all in this hangar with the doors closed. It shook me a little.


  As a former Canadian air force officer, Brooks said he could understand the shock and trauma, but he remains perplexed by what he judged to be a limited air-force involvement in these early stages.


  With the opportunity to use the return of the 707 to relieve some pressure on Darwin, Burns-Woods, accompanied by two Qantas doctors, Harvey Dakin and Tommy Thompson, from the Boeing, set off back to town to announce its availability to the disaster meeting being chaired by Stretton.


  By the time he entered the room the meeting had been in progress for more than an hour and they were in the middle of a discussion on re-erecting the town’s power lines. Realising time was of the essence as far as the 707 was concerned, Burns-Woods put his hand up from the back of the room.


  ‘Sir, I don’t mean to interrupt, but there is a 707 waiting at the airport which can take some of the seriously ill people south immediately.’


  ‘Who are you?’ retorted the general, appearing slightly irritated at the interruption.


  Burns-Woods identified himself, then was taken aback when the general said: ‘When I’m ready to hear from Qantas I will let you know.’


  Burns-Woods says he waited for about five minutes to regain his confidence then again raised his hand.


  I don’t mean to be rude, but the aircraft is currently idling on one engine because we have no serviceable ground-start equipment and as it cannot be refuelled it will need to leave very soon.


  Stretton’s reply, suggesting that what was of interest to Qantas was not his concern and he needed to get on with the meeting, somehow convinced Burns-Woods that he was not explaining the situation well enough, so he interrupted again, explaining bluntly that unless some action was taken immediately the aircraft would have to leave Darwin with no one on it.


  With that, Stretton adjourned the meeting and the Northern Territory’s Director of Medical Services, Dr Charles Gurd, began to nominate patients for evacuation. The two Qantas doctors would remain in Darwin to assist.


  Meanwhile, at the airport, the 707’s crew unloaded supplies while they waited for their chosen passengers to arrive. Flight engineer Norm King remembers the two most popular items on board were 50 cans of WD40 for use in starting rain-soaked equipment and 500 Benson and Hedges cigarettes.


  ‘I’d never seen so many men lighting so many cigarettes all at once,’ he recalls.


  When their passengers arrived they included patients chosen by the medical team, along with women and around 100 children. Brooks took the Boeing into the air for Sydney that afternoon with 266 people on board, more than twice the 120 normally carried on a 707.


  Some were sitting on peoples’ laps and on the floor. I confess I didn’t want to know what was back there as I thought the civil aviation people might come down on me for what I did.


  Groups of press, anxious for the first news from Darwin, met the aircraft at Sydney and watched as the still-dazed passengers alighted. One of the first off was a woman with her Siamese cat under her arm. Stretcher cases were taken direct to the Prince of Wales hospital and the other refugees by bus to the North Head Quarantine station.


  The major Darwin uplift had now begun and as RAAF bases and airline operating teams urgently marshalled their resources, the Australian aviation industry would prove its worth. In contrast to John Brooks’ impression of the RAAF’s early involvement, there would be no denying what that service would achieve both in the air and on the ground in the days that followed.


  With Hitchins dictating his requirements, particularly the necessity to move RAAF people out so capacity could be used for the main uplift task, the Hercules transports from No 36 and 37 Squadrons at Richmond were gearing up for a maximum effort, recalling their crews from leave. Others were volunteering their services anyway.


  One C-130 navigator on his way to Launceston airport from leave at Penguin in Tasmania, was pulled over by a police patrol for speeding. When he explained his situation the police provided him with an escort the rest of the way.


  At 4 a.m. Boxing Day, long before Brooks’ 707 had arrived, Squadron Leader Fewster’s C-130, the aircraft which had brought Stretton into Darwin, was already on its way to Sydney with eighteen stretcher cases, others less seriously injured and relatives of the patients, all in the care of a RAAF medical team. After a quick turnaround at Richmond the same aircraft would be heading back to Darwin loaded with 25 refrigerators, 52 generators, water purifiers, food and hundreds of pairs of gloves. Others would bring in an Iroquois to replace the helicopter damaged during Tracy, medical supplies, blankets, milk and other foodstuffs and rolls of plastic.


  While in the air that day they would pass a second Hercules which had left Darwin with more stretcher cases, including a woman with a suspected fracture of the vertebra. Some indication of the condition of medical facilities at Darwin’s hospital could be gauged from the fact that when chosen for evacuation the woman was still lying on the door she was on when she arrived at the hospital. Both she and the door were loaded on the Hercules, along with 85 civilian refugees.


  Sometime during Boxing Day, with little fresh water, emergency power providing weak lighting and floors covered with muddy water, it was decided that all patients requiring more than two or three days’ treatment needed to be evacuated from Darwin and the decision was made to close down Darwin hospital.


  By the afternoon of Boxing Day Darwin airport was beginning to witness a pattern of air movements which would increase in intensity over the coming days as the Qantas 707 and Ray Vuillermin’s F.27 departed and a surge of other civilian aircraft arrived to take their place.


  Priorities were being established for the evacuation, with the sick and injured and pregnant women at the top of the list, to be followed by women and children, the elderly, married couples and single people. Later estimates would reveal that more than 2000 left by vehicle in the first two days, most south towards Alice Springs or east to Mt Isa. While Stretton and his people were aware of the possibility of mental anguish by splitting families in such a way, the devastation and lack of facilities, along with the risk of disease, left little other option.


  The first Boeing 727s from Ansett and TAA came and departed with refugees to Brisbane, Melbourne and Adelaide, while a sister F.27 to Vuillermin’s, under the command of Captain David Baker, flew out to Mackay with a planeload of pregnant patients from Darwin hospital. Many of the women on board had no way of knowing whether their husbands were still alive. Along with the 40 pregnant women, Baker was carrying two cabin crew, a doctor, two nursing sisters and two of the hospital’s cats. With two of the women in labour, Baker headed for Mt Isa to pass them on and refuel, but Mt Isa’s hospital was already full of injured who had reached there by car from Darwin. It was a vastly relieved Baker who finally reached Mackay. ‘The noises up the back were becoming terrifying to say the least,’ he remembers.


  As Baker’s Fokker Friendship headed east, a MacRobertson Miller Airlines (MMA) Fokker Fellowship jet was heading southwest for what would be the start of a series of MMA shuttles carrying Perth-bound refugees. MMA Captain Reg Adkins recounts when one called at Newman for fuel: ‘mothers with babies got off the aeroplane and washed their babies’ bums on the lawn in front of the terminal’, while Newman women brought out tea, coffee, sandwiches and additional nappies.


  With no Darwin navigation aids operating, like many of the crews involved, MMA pilots had to adjust their approach into Darwin, at first heading from Kununurra to Katherine, then back to Darwin using the Katherine navigation aids, until finally identifying the Darwin coastline on their aircraft’s radar.


  Over the three days, 27, 28 and 29 December, the uplift would reach its peak and Darwin airport would appear like a war zone, with airline jets and military aircraft landing, unloading supplies, loading passengers and heading for all points of the compass with refugees and their barest possessions.


  By now RAAF bases and civil airports around Australia had established emergency facilities to meet personnel and civilians at their destinations, clearing stations were providing medical assistance, clothing was being issued and accommodation requirements were being handled, with relatives or friends where possible, or in privately offered lodgings. The main destinations for the refugees would be Mt Isa, Brisbane, Sydney, Melbourne, Adelaide and Perth, where they would be processed and often shuttled to other destinations within the airline network.


  More locally, smaller operators, such as Connair, with limited crews to man their aircraft, were able to extend their flight-time limitations with the help of other local general aviation pilots from other individual charter operators, flying clubs and even missionary pilots whose aircraft had been destroyed in the cyclone. Many volunteered to fill in as unpaid first officers on the airline’s DC-3s and Herons.


  At first there was little in the way of organisation at Darwin. Residents simply heard the sound of aero engines and figured that if you made your way to the airport you could get out. For most there was nothing left to stay for anyway, with houses uninhabitable and power, water and other essentials gone.


  On 27 December the first of the uplift records would be broken when Ansett Captain, Don Pitts, and his crew took off for Adelaide with 321 people on board his Boeing 727, almost double the normal loading. Pitts’ flight is still believed to be a record uplift for a Boeing 727. His record would be almost matched later by a TAA Boeing carrying more than 300.


  Two Qantas Boeing 707s would also return on 27 December, one bringing with it as a passenger another Qantas captain to assess whether Darwin would be able to handle the airline’s Boeing 747s.


  Gradually an assortment of aircraft began to descend on Darwin. Interspersed with the Boeings and RAAF Hercules, a Royal Air Force Nimrod arrived to carry 38 British military and civilian personnel to Singapore and a Bush Pilot Airways (BPA) DC-3 came in from Cairns to evacuate staff, only to face a similar problem Qantas’ Captain John Brooks had when his 707 arrived the previous day: someone threatened to commandeer their aeroplane.


  Arriving in Darwin in the early afternoon after an eight-hour flight, BPA Captain Bill Kelman and his crew, not planning to leave again until the following day, had helped some locals erect tarpaulins to shelter those awaiting evacuation. They were enjoying their second beer when a RAAF vehicle approached and an officer asked if they would fly some people to Alice Springs. When they explained they were out of hours and had been drinking, they were told it was an emergency and if they couldn’t do it the DC-3 would be commandeered and they’d get RAAF pilots to fly it. Not wanting to lose his aircraft, Kelman and his crew set off for Alice Springs, returning to Darwin the following day to finally load up and head back to Cairns. By the time he reached Cairns on the night of 28 December, his thirty-fifth birthday, Kelman’s log book showed a total of more than 25 hours.


  As desperate people waited in the heat and the rain for their turn at the airport, airline staff, gradually being supplemented by other colleagues and supplies arriving on inbound aircraft, handled the throng as best they could. There were no official aircraft ‘manifests’ as such. Names were taken at the steps before people boarded and, as often occurs in such circumstances, ingenuity rose to the fore.


  Not only had Darwin been a major port for Qantas, but it was also the distribution point for all the airline’s supply of barramundi. Sourced and purchased locally, the barramundi was sent to the airline’s Sydney catering facility where it was cooked and served on its worldwide network.


  With no power and facing the prospect of the large supply of fish being destroyed, Qantas airport manager, Peter Snelling, and his staff quickly provided a solution. Turning two large, damaged filing cabinets on their backs and stretching a sheet of arc mesh between them, they lit a fire and they set about cooking all the barramundi fillets to be distributed to those waiting to board. As the numbers increased beyond the availability of hot food, cold meal packs of sandwiches, pastries and cake were handed out from supplies being brought in by air. The Salvation Army was also on hand to disseminate food.


  Whenever possible, pets were also fed. People turned up at the airport with cats and dogs, cockatoos and parrots, many prompted by reports that an edict had been issued that all stray animals were to be shot to counter the threat of disease. The rumours proved true. Such an order had been issued. For many their pets were all they had left. Some pets, though, weren’t fated to return to their original owners. TAA Captain, David Baker, who flew those pregnant women and Darwin hospital’s cats to Mackay in his Fokker Friendship, recalled: ‘I somehow ended up with the cats, who both lived to a great age and cost a fortune in vet bills. I never did find the owner.’


  Other animals had even luckier escapes. Qantas employee Eric Palisa, airlifted out suffering a dislocated shoulder and lacerations, thought he’d seen the last of his beloved blue cattle pup. Several days later a Qantas tradesman who had come in from Sydney to assist, heard a whimper from under the debris of Palisa’s home and the pup appeared. The tradesman adopted it until it could be sent on to join Palisa in Melbourne.


  Connair captain John Myers remembers another dog story, albeit with a twist. Before flying his DC-3 to Alice Springs he’d managed to gather his own fox terrier and several other dogs and smuggled them aboard to avoid them being shot. There were more than 50 people on the 28-seat DC-3 when Myers and his first officer, Rob Huntington, became airborne with an aeroplane that was obviously very heavy.


  The hydraulic undercarriage on the DC-3 is operated via levers beside the crew and when the captain calls ‘Gear up’ after take-off, the non-flying pilot will move the handles to retract the gear. Myers recalls:


  If there’s a malfunction there’s a little spring clip down there which could be used to release and free up the action. I think it was called the ‘dog clip’. So for some reason if the gear didn’t work you would call: ‘Trip the dog.’


  As we got airborne I called for Rob to bring the gear up. Rob put his hand down but nothing happened. I said it again, along with telling him to ‘Trip the dog’.


  Back from Huntington came: ‘I can’t because of the bloody dog.’


  I looked down and there was a snarling dog about to take Rob’s hand off. I patted the dog while he worked the lever!


  On 28 December, more Boeing 707s and 727s arrived and another record would be broken when a Qantas Boeing 747 would make two return trips to Darwin from Sydney. Not only would 25 tonnes of supplies, including portable toilets, be carried in, but one of the flights would depart for Sydney with 673 passengers aboard, another world record.


  In the meantime, what was being achieved by RAAF Hercules crews was little short of remarkable, some of it not without significant risk and, in at least several cases, close to disaster. Tasked with transporting six large generators from Richmond to Darwin to help restore the city’s power supply, Flight Lieutenant Allan Edwards calculated his Hercules, with the generators and a full load of fuel, would be at a maximum take-off weight of 70 306.8 kilograms, but still within the tolerances of Richmond’s 2133-metre runway.


  When the cargo was loaded onto the C-130 Edwards found that the army generators took up most of the aircraft’s massive hold, stretching from behind the forward bulkhead almost to the hinges of the aircraft’s rear ramp, leaving only a narrow walkway down the left-hand side of the aircraft’s interior. The problem was there was no paperwork available to confirm the weight of the generators, a fact which not only concerned Edwards but the squadron’s movements officer as well. All that had accompanied them was some ‘verbal’ advice that the generators weighed 2267.9 kilograms each, and, as there was no way they could be weighed at Richmond and they were urgently needed in Darwin that day, Edwards and the movement officer had to take the army’s word for it.


  Once on the runway the early take-off roll was normal, but as he started to lift off the C-130 Edwards realised something was terribly wrong. The nose wouldn’t rise. Past the point of no return, Edwards’ only option was to continue the take-off and with the end of the runway coming up he again pulled back on the control column and the aircraft managed to ever-so-slowly clamber into the air as grass at the runway’s end flashed under its nose.


  The C-130 barely out-climbed an approaching hill, and Edwards watched as the steeple of a local church passed off his port wingtip. Things would have been much more serious had the Hercules’ take-off path been several hundred metres further left. Since there was no point in going back to Richmond they flew on to Mt Isa to refuel before going on to Darwin.


  After they gradually gained height into the flight, Edwards and his crew did some back-of-the-envelope calculations to try to ascertain how overweight the Hercules had been on take-off, but it would not be until later, when the paperwork for the generators arrived, that the full story would be revealed. The generators weighed not 2267.9 kilograms each but 3855.5 kilograms, putting their take-off weight 9525 kilograms above their original calculations and 453.6 kilograms over what is regarded as the C-130’s Emergency Wartime Loading.


  Edwards would later recount how a VIP passenger riding in the cockpit with him expressed his gratitude to the crew for providing him with such a delightful low-level look at Richmond as they climbed away. That obviously wasn’t quite the way Edwards and his crew saw it.


  Those on board Flight Lieutenant John Pickett’s Hercules would have an even closer brush with disaster. Pickett’s drama began early when his Hercules’ radar failed on the way into Darwin on 28 December and, knowing radar was necessary to make the approach to Darwin, he circled over Katherine until another inbound Hercules caught him and the pair flew on in formation for a letdown. Once on the ground the radar transceiver-transmitter was changed and tests showed it was working once again.


  It was towards midnight by the time the Hercules was loaded with evacuees and ready to depart, and Pickett’s load of 179 passengers—87 above the normal C-130 capacity— would be another world record. Pickett remembers:


  We had people sitting in their seats with their seat belts on and then people sitting on their laps with tie-down straps run over them to provide some security. It was a bit rough and ready!


  About two hours out from Darwin they were threading their way through a series of storm cells when the radar failed again and they found themselves in the middle of one of the cells. Although Pickett would later describe it as ‘a pretty wild ride’, the next few minutes were to be a horrifying experience for those on board.


  Pickett recollects they were at about 12 000 feet when he reduced the C-130’s four engines to idling speed to help him handle the storm. Then, virtually blinded by a series of lightning strikes, and with Pickett’s ability to control the Hercules becoming increasingly difficult, the C-130, in Pickett’s words, ‘suddenly went down like a brick for about 4000 feet then went up like a lift’. Pickett remembers the airspeed indicator showing 300 knots during the ascent as they shot out of the storm at 20 000 feet with the aircraft almost inverted.


  In the middle of the frightening ascent Pickett recalls saying to his crew: ‘Sorry, fellas. I can’t handle this.’


  The only reason I realised we were upside down was because all the artificial horizons had toppled, the compass system was ‘rats’ and I could see the moon through the Herc’s chin windows when we popped out!


  Not surprisingly perhaps, in the middle of it all, a woman passenger suffered a heart attack and the RAAF loadmaster administered oxygen. It transpired that she had discharged herself from hospital several days previously.


  Incredibly no one was injured, but with the heart attack victim and terror and chaos down the back, Pickett turned towards Darwin, now also concerned at the airframe stresses the aircraft had been placed under.


  Again without radar and at night he was forced to fly wide around Bathurst Island and intercept the Kununurra–Darwin track to choose his approach to Darwin. Once on the ground: ‘We hosed the aeroplane out and got some sleep.’


  Another Hercules captain, Bill Mattes, was on the ground when Pickett’s crew came off their aircraft.


  ‘They were as white as sheets,’ Mattes says.


  It says volumes for the sturdy Hercules that a check of its fatigue meter in the wing root revealed that the aircraft had not been overstressed. Pickett and his crew flew out on another evacuee mission to Adelaide and on to Richmond the next day.


  Pickett’s world record for passengers carried on a Hercules would be short-lived. Three months later, although only an estimate and never officially documented, a RAAF Hercules in Vietnam would reportedly carry around 240 passengers.


  Operations peaked again the following day, 29 December. By now the inbound flights were providing the urgently needed supplies not only to keep the evacuation going but to assist in restoring Darwin to some semblance of normality. Two flights each by Qantas Boeing 747s and 707s, along with domestic 727s, Bristol Freighters, RAAF, Royal New Zealand and RAF Hercules, along with US Air Force CL-141 Starlifters, were bringing in everything, from emergency police and medical personnel and supplies, foodstuffs, tradesmen, tonnes of blankets, generators, water purifiers, air beds, gloves and just about anything called for from Darwin.


  For Qantas particularly, the single sideband radio brought in on Brooks’ first 707 had proved invaluable, allowing a direct liaison with Qantas head office to determine what was most urgently needed on future flights. As requested by medical staff, sterile, throw-away milk bottles for use by infants arrived on the next flight.


  Burns-Woods says it didn’t matter what you asked for, it arrived. He suggested to Qantas Sydney that a motorcycle would be more useful than a car to help with movement around the airport and with communications generally. The next day one of the 707s brought in two motorcycles, along with 200 pairs of sunglasses the airline had managed to gather from Sydney stores.


  While the congo lines of evacuees inched forward and Major General Stretton took the first essential steps to bring order to the chaos of Darwin, it was perhaps inevitable that differences would arise between those charged with the major responsibility of reducing Darwin’s population as quickly as possible. In fact, it would be the early portion of the airlift which would later receive some criticism from the RAAF’s Group Captain, Hitchins. He and Stretton had been clearly in conflict over how the uplift should be organised.


  In a later oral history, Hitchins would point out that the aim of the three services—RAAF, navy and army—had been to move quickly to get their own people out, along with any civilians they were asked to take. His main aim, he explained, was to have this task completed so that the resources at his disposal, such as several squadrons of Hercules transport, could be fully employed to help evacuate Darwin’s population en masse.


  The problem was that after I was told by the civilian authorities that I had no authority to do this they seemed to take exception to my poking my nose into that and I just said, right, I’ll leave them to it.


  Hitchins saw the early part of the operation as a matter of the airline companies ‘sending aircraft to Darwin for a purpose they could only guess at’.


  Aeroplanes would arrive, they’d be filled up with people, half of whom were to go to Brisbane and half to go to Perth and aeroplanes would be all over the place.


  While he claimed there were no problems with the organisation related to military aircraft, he pointed out that local committees waiting at capital-city airports to receive Darwin evacuees:


  had no idea who was coming there, who they were, where they lived, did they have any relatives living locally, what the precise requirement would be . . . I was unable to say, ‘Right, there’s an aeroplane going to Brisbane. I want a whole lot of Queenslanders to get in it.’


  Leaving no doubts about his impressions of this early period he went on:


  . . . anyone who wants to criticise the operational aspects of the civil air evacuation and says it was chaotic would be absolutely right. It was.


  He said it was not until 10 a.m. on 28 December that he finally received a direction in writing from Stretton to take control of the destinations of outbound aircraft.


  It is probably fair to say that Group Captain Hitchins had a point and other sources have since suggested that he and Stretton certainly didn’t see eye to eye on other aspects, but there is little doubt that both he and Stretton were under incredible pressure in the immediate aftermath of Cyclone Tracy.


  In his case, Stretton’s response to Burns-Woods’ pleas about the urgent need to transport people on board his 707 may have been a sign of the initial strain he was under in attempting to grasp the extent of the situation. There would be other examples where he left some of those directly involved somewhat perplexed to say the least.


  Burns-Woods clearly remembers waiting outside while the Qantas board director, Robert Law-Smith, and the airline’s general manager, Bert Ritchie, met with Stretton at the height of the uplift to see how the airline could help further. When he finally emerged, Ritchie, a former Second World War pilot and a man renowned for his genial, easygoing personality, turned to Burns-Woods to say: ‘Ian, if there’s another war, I hope he’s on the other side!’


  Qantas’ regional director, John Ward, who was at the meeting that day, says Stretton came across as ‘pompous and did most of the talking.’


  But the thing that got up Bert Ritchie’s nose was the scene-setting theatrics upon our entering Stretton’s office, with him pointing to a red phone, intimating it was his direct line to the PM and we would have to leave immediately if it rang. But we all waited in nervous anticipation and the phone remained silent.


  Burns-Woods himself was to have another brush with Stretton, this time over one of his directives. As New Year’s Eve approached Stretton issued an order that there would be no celebrations allowed, doubtless to avoid any such activities getting out of hand. For those who had survived the trauma of the cyclone and worked almost nonstop for days, there was never any intention of agreeing to such a direction and the Qantas party, along with the local yacht club and other groups, went ahead.


  Such fractious occurrences are probably understandable given the problems facing those attempting to bring some order out of the chaos of Darwin immediately post-Tracy, but there is little doubt individual experiences like that of Qantas Captain John Brooks left lasting impressions. For his part, Connair’s John Myers was particularly critical of the lack of response in the short term from army personnel based at Larrakeyah Barracks. A former army reservist, Myers headed for the barracks on Christmas morning in an effort to get some help, only to find the gates locked. When he called to an army man to suggest those outside could do with some help he was told the army had problems of its own.


  For his part, Alan Stretton would later be highly critical of the Darwin-based army personnel. In his book, The Furious Days, on Tracy’s aftermath, published in 1976, Stretton claims several days after the cyclone the army had done little outside the boundary of its own barracks.


  They had shown little initiative of their own and it had been necessary for me to give direct orders about the provision of radio sets, the use of their vehicles . . . and assistance to the police in guarding vital points.


  Stretton recounts how two days after the cyclone he received a visit from an army major who requested authority for his vehicles to draw petrol.


  I could not believe that the army had a full platoon of some sixteen 2½ ton vehicles which for the past two days had been engaged in camp duties when they were urgently needed in the town to help with the distribution of food and relief supplies to the population of Darwin.


  Stretton immediately requisitioned fourteen of the vehicles, leaving two for the army’s use. Later, on a visit to the barracks he found a number of idle vehicles and other equipment, along with thousands of edible rations in damaged containers.


  Despite the initial shortage of food after Cyclone Tracy, enquiries revealed that no effort had been made to distribute these rations to the homeless and hungry outside the boundaries of the barracks.


  On that morning I came close to being ashamed of the Service I loved so much.


  Qantas’s Burns-Woods, for his part, is much more sanguine in his judgement of the initial reactions of some in the immediate aftermath of Tracy. He says despite the constant warnings, the actual severity of the cyclone and its subsequent devastation would have had a traumatic effect on everyone located in its path.


  Most of us were overcome with a feeling of relief followed by helplessness, inadequacy and even hopelessness. These feelings lasted longer with some than with others. While the initial reaction of the RAAF might have been tardy, ultimately it was very effective, as was the army which performed magnificently in the restoration of essential services and clean-up.’


  As the uplift continued, many of the RAAF Hercules crews flew impossible hours, then spent further hours loading and unloading before returning to Richmond where they rested briefly then prepared to crew the next available Hercules back to Darwin, often overcoming unscheduled, and unusual, occurrences along the way.


  The fact that crews had been directed not to remain unnecessarily on the ground at Darwin meant crew duty limitations went out the window, with some crews working up to 48 hours at a stretch. Flight Lieutenant Allen Edwards and his crew were so fatigued by the long hours on duty that, towards the end of the uplift, on 31 December they opted to fly the short, final leg from Mascot to Richmond with the landing gear down and 50 degrees of flap, concerned they would forget to let the wheels down and choose the correct flap settings for the landing.


  Even when Flight Lieutenant Bill Mattes’ Hercules lost an engine on approach to Darwin, which might require him to remain for an engine change, he was told by Hitchins to get the aircraft off the airfield. Mattes called his squadron headquarters to try to explain his predicament, but they suggested he abide by the direction. Mattes declared a Pan alert over his radio on take-off to warn others if something went wrong. Sure enough as they climbed away on three engines and headed for the Tindal air base near Katherine, a second engine began to overheat.


  ‘There was probably a case for shutting it down, but we decided to keep it going anyway,’ he recalls.


  After the engine change and as he prepared to return to Darwin, Tindal asked if he could call again on the way back as there were about 30 evacuees there who needed to be taken further south. So, while loading at Darwin he asked if enough room could be left for the Tindal 30, but Darwin put 120 passengers on the normally 90-passenger Hercules anyway. Back at Tindal the number there had grown with the addition of children from an orphanage and a hippie colony so they finally left for Adelaide with a total of 186 on board an aircraft normally fully loaded at 92, including crew. Mattes remembers counting 17 people on the flight deck at one stage, sitting on the floor holding on to tie down straps, lying down by the chin windows or standing behind the crew. It was a world record for a C-130, although soon to be surpassed by another RAAF Hercules in Vietnam.


  Other crews also reported odd experiences. No 37 Squadron’s flight engineer, Bill Moore’s C-130 suffered a gas turbine compressor failure, which meant a ground support air supply was required to start up if all the engines were shut down. Despite assurances that such support was available at Rockhampton, they arrived there in the middle of the night to find none and, contrary to normal procedure, would now be forced to keep one engine running while they refuelled.


  When they asked the local airport fire authority to stand by while they refuelled just in case they were needed, Moore says the firefighters were reluctant to do so and took their truck back to the station, leaving the RAAF to their own resources.


  But such events were exceptions and, in retrospect, despite some understandable reservations on the part of people like Group Captain Hitchins, it is difficult to imagine things being much different under the circumstances which existed in the days immediately following Tracy’s onslaught.


  An emotional Major General Stretton handed back his command to civilian authorities at 1 p.m. on 31 December, although the airlift would continue to gradually wind down until Australia’s domestic airlines resumed their regular scheduled services on 3 January. By then more than 23 000 people had been moved out of Darwin by air, more than 9000 by military aircraft and almost 5000 of them by Qantas alone. It remains unequalled as Australia’s greatest airborne humanitarian achievement.


  As for two of the main players—Hitchins and Stretton—there is little doubt that Alan Stretton left a lasting impression on those he was charged to help after Tracy hit and it is against that background that any criticisms of him must be measured. Certainly by evoking memories of such figures as Douglas MacArthur when referring to himself as ‘Supreme Commander’ he would have raised eyebrows, as he did when he pointed out his ‘red phone to the prime minister’ when Qantas’ Bert Ritchie called to visit, but he needs to be judged by the results of his efforts. Along with keeping morale high among a shattered population, he had to walk a delicate line between various Canberra-based ministers, some of whom made his task even more difficult by descending on Darwin on the slimmest of pretexts.


  After his death at Batemans Bay in October 2012 he was buried with full military honours at the Royal Military College, Duntroon. He was 90. Although named Australian of the Year in 1975 for his efforts after Cyclone Tracy, several sections of the media would be critical of the fact that his passing did not even rate a mention in Parliament, with speculation that this may have been a result of his trenchant criticism of Australia’s involvement in the war in Iraq.


  The RAAF’s David Hitchins AM AFC retired with the rank of air commodore in early 1978. He died in January 2011.


  


  19


  Aeroplanes and animals—often not a good mix


  Most long-term airline cargo people will tell you they often felt they operated as something of a poor relation to the main passenger-carrying role of their airline. While many airlines, including Qantas, operated their own dedicated freighter aircraft through the propeller-driven Lockheed Constellation and into the Boeing 707 jet era, for years freight as air cargo was often tossed into the hold beneath the passengers as something of an afterthought, provided there was still some room for it alongside the suitcases.


  Gradually, however, particularly with the large cargo capacity which came with wide-bodied aircraft like the 747, more and more airlines began to recognise the value of the area below the passenger cabin as icing on the cake, so to speak. These days there appears to be a place for just about everything in air freight, but that’s not to say it hasn’t had its moments, particularly where animals are concerned. For instance, it’s hard to imagine Alan Terrell’s experience with the cat in the cockpit happening today.


  Before joining Qantas to eventually become the airline’s director of operations, Terrell was working for Australian National Airways as a first officer on DC-3s in Queensland, on this particular day flying out of Julia Creek bound for Brisbane with a captain called Ron Campbell, who was known to have a relatively short fuse.


  They had opened the throttles for take-off and the DC-3 was surging down the runway when at about the same time as the tail wheel lifted into the air, a cat which had been in the cargo compartment immediately behind the cockpit, broke free, jumped onto Campbell’s shoulder, and after painfully digging its claws into Campbell’s skin, leaped onto the shield under the cockpit window.


  Now halfway down the runway and with the DC-3 about to take to the air, Campbell issued a series of expletives and opened his side window, whereupon, albeit with a little help from Campbell, the cat used what remained of its nine lives and exited. With the propeller of a Pratt & Whitney engine at full revs within a few feet of the window it doesn’t take much imagination to deduce the feline’s fate. Terrell says:


  Ron’s problem then became what to tell the lady who owned the cat, a problem which, as rank has its privileges, soon became mine! He also made it clear I wasn’t to dob him in.


  When we got back to Townsville that night I rang the lady owner who lived on a local station and told her the cat had escaped while we were loading. We had chased it but it had beaten us. I also pointed out that, as cats were wont to do, it would very likely find its way home and we could try again.


  I saw her occasionally on subsequent flights after that and was always told the cat had never returned, to which I duly offered my sympathy.


  Terrell’s experience was not particularly unusual, often leading to the conclusion that aeroplanes and animals do not mix and there are scores of stories told by pilots, cabin crew and cargo handlers which lead to the conclusion that, for some animals at least, flying can be a dangerous pastime, particularly, it seems, for dogs.


  Long-time Qantas marketing and cargo manager Norman Leek still dines out on the story about the well-bred dogs which were destined for Singapore a year or so after the Second World War, at least in part to help replace the large number of local animals there which had not survived the war. During the transit stop at Darwin a well-intentioned Qantas cargo handler decided the dogs needed some relief from their cramped cage, but when he opened the cage door he was horrified to see them scatter to all four corners of the airport and beyond.


  The story goes that the cargo man and his colleagues quickly came to the conclusion that instead of facing the consequences of a total loss, they would find substitutes, so they set off rounding up all the stray dogs they could find in Darwin. Leek suggests this answers the question as to why a large number of the dogs which could be seen around Singapore in later years were of the mongrel variety.


  Darwin also appears to have been a transit problem for cats. There’s another story of a prize cat en route to its new London owner which also slipped past the cargo man when he went to give it some milk during the Darwin stopover. A ‘substitute’ was quickly found, but it didn’t take the new owner long to tell the difference, at substantial subsequent cost to the airline.


  Not that you needed to be at a remote airline destination to experience animal cargo problems. However, it probably falls to 40-year Qantas cargo veteran Bill Easton to recount the cat story to end all cat stories. It concerns a cat which arrived at Sydney cargo for despatch to its owner in New Zealand. But when they went to prepare the paperwork to match the consignment, they found the cat was dead. Once again thinking ‘outside the square’ an innovative cargo handler found an appropriate replacement feline and off went the package to New Zealand. One can imagine the reaction of the Qantas cargo man at Auckland when the owner arrived to collect the animal and announced:


  ‘That’s not my cat.’


  ‘How do you know it’s not your cat?’ asked the cargo man, hoping to retrieve something from the situation.


  ‘Because my cat was dead. I was bringing it home for burial!’


  The rest of the conversation is not recorded.


  Old hands at Qantas’ Sydney cargo terminal will always remember a German shepherd named Bogart who broke free from his box, raced through the car park, across the Princes Highway, on through Suttons Motors and disappeared. When an extensive search by the cargo team failed to find any trace of Bogart someone had the bright idea to place an advertisement in the local newspaper. To their surprise the cargo office received a phone call a few days later from a local resident who’d had Bogart turn up on his doorstep.


  It appears, though, that some dogs didn’t need to escape to have an unsettling experience with Qantas cargo. Leek says one of the luckiest was the dog which went missing while an aircraft was being unloaded at the airline’s old cargo terminal on the eastern fringe of the Qantas Jet Base. Somehow the dog had disappeared in the short distance between the aircraft and the terminal itself and no amount of searching could locate him.


  Then someone remembered that part of the cargo unloaded that morning had been meat destined for the terminal’s cold room and sure enough a check revealed the dog had been placed on the same trolley as the meat while the handlers unloaded the remainder of the cargo. So when the meat went into the cool room, the dog went with it. When someone finally put two and two together it took half an hour wrapped in blankets for the grateful animal to recover.


  Not that it was the only dog ever to grace that same cool room. One enterprising cargo officer, asked to store several dogs during their transit to another flight, decided that since they were of the husky breed, the best place for them would be in the cool room. Fortunately they were recovered in time.


  Still, given that over its lifetime Australia’s international airline has carried everything from whales and baby elephants, to live eels and cockatoos, it’s probably not a bad record, although those with the most experience will remain convinced that among the most difficult missions to handle were those known as the ‘monkey charters’.


  The carriage of monkeys dates back to the 1950s when loads of Rhesus monkeys were flown in from the Indian subcontinent and Asia to be used in the development of the polio vaccine. Anyone involved in the carriage of the monkeys will tell you that of all the animals they have had anything to do with carrying over the years, the monkeys were among the most challenging. Carried in cages of three or four at a time there could be hundreds lining the inside of a Constellation freighter and they took every opportunity to make things uncomfortable for the crews and their handlers.


  Apart from the incessant noise, they had such a reputation for throwing anything in their cages at any unfortunate human forced to pass through them that even the pilots were issued with special blue-coloured overalls before each flight. Even then, a trip to the toilet at the rear of the aeroplane meant you had to run the gauntlet of monkey excreta, unused food and anything else they could lay their hands on as you passed. Once the crews arrived in Sydney the overalls were taken away and burned.
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  Humour in the air and the thoughts of Chairman Hugh


  Anyone with any knowledge of it will tell you flying is a serious business, an endeavour which, if taken lightly even for the briefest of moments, can end in disaster. Hijinks in the air can quickly lead to death on the ground, a fear which in itself is probably partly responsible for the rich tradition of humour which exists in Australian aviation. Bizarrely, it seems, the very fact of staring death in the face can enhance the subsequent telling of the story.


  I once listened as a dear friend of mine, Roy ‘Nugget’ Hibben, recounted a frightening experience he had while flying a Mustang fighter with the RAAF’s 77 Squadron in Korea in the early 1950s. ‘Nug’, as his nickname suggests, was of fairly short stature and was returning to the squadron’s base at Kimpo, near Seoul, from a mission when he elected to give the lads on the ground a thrill by beating up the runway at low level. And just to add an extra level of excitement for the gallery below he decided to do it inverted.


  So, with the throttle open and at a hundred feet, he lined up the Mustang on the runway’s centreline and flipped the aircraft on its back, which immediately presented him with a serious problem. He had forgotten to tighten his safety harness and instantly found himself hanging upside down, his short legs now unable to reach the rudder pedals.


  To hear him tell the story of the next few seconds, as he sat there, upside down and suspended in the cockpit with the concrete runway rushing past a few feet below his head, and furiously pushing forward on the joystick to gain height, was to hear someone recounting not the sheer terror of those few seconds, but the hilarity of it all, doubtless transformed by both the passing of the years and the fact that he’d got away with it.


  There have been thousands of such stories in Australian aviation, of danger, bad luck, unforeseen circumstances and humour coalescing to make the serious business of flying such a fascinating occupation. Even the sheer terror of having to endure hour after hour of sitting in a cramped Lancaster bomber over Europe in the Second World War was often reduced to a self-deprecating anecdote which attempted to diminish the horror of it all.


  I remember how difficult it had been to entice an old Department of Civil Aviation colleague, Ian ‘Curly’ Richardson, to transport me into the world of Royal Air Force Bomber Command in 1943. It was easy to learn he’d won a Distinguished Flying Medal and a Distinguished Flying Cross after completing two tours as a navigator, when the chances of surviving even one tour was marginal, to say the least. When he finally gave in, the only story he would tell was of that night towards the end of his first tour when his Lancaster was on its way to bomb Frankfurt.


  As they approached the target in the bombing run, with his task now handed over to the bomb aimer who would guide the pilot in the final few minutes to the dropping point, Richardson decided on the spur of the moment to leave his navigator’s table and take a look outside. With the Lancaster buffeted by exploding flak he moved forward, drawing back the curtain which separated the cockpit from the rest of the aircraft and stared ahead—directly into a sheer wall of bright-orange flak bursts, each one aimed at bringing them crashing to the earth in flames. All he remembers is shouting to his pilot: ‘Shit, skipper, we don’t have to fly through that, do we?’


  ‘I closed the curtain and never went up there again,’ he said with a smile.


  Wartime experiences aside, many of those who have seen aviation develop from the piston to the jet era have also witnessed a significant change in the degree of humour. Such advances in technology now demand that the aircrews of today’s Airbus and Boeing aircraft be systems managers as much as pilots. At the same time flying itself has become such an everyday occurrence that the romance and humour of the past years has largely been left behind.


  The stories are still around, though, whenever more than two industry veterans gather in the same room for a reunion or merely a drink or two, thus providing a unique insight into a colourful past. Not all the humour relates to animals, of course, and the tales of past years, when simply maintaining regular air services led to many a laughter-filled anecdote, could probably fill a book in their own right.


  The late Bill Lovell was Qantas’ manager in Jakarta in the dangerous years after the war, when the Indonesians were fighting for independence from Dutch rule. During one particularly heightened emergency all Qantas flights into Jakarta had been cancelled except for one for which the turn-back signal came too late, therefore meaning Lovell would somehow have to reach the airport through the numerous road blocks which had been established.


  Lovell quickly deduced that bribery would be the answer so he raided the office duty-free store and loaded the Qantas vehicle with as many bottles of scotch and cartons of cigarettes as he could find and set off for the airport. His aim was to meet the incoming Qantas flight and turn the aircraft around as quickly as possible to send it out of the danger zone.


  It was a very self-satisfied Lovell who finally arrived at the airport after having bribed his way through every military road block en route, but as he watched the Qantas flight disappear over the horizon he suddenly realised he had a new problem. He’d used up all his contraband on the way out. He spent several days in primitive lodgings at Jakarta airport while the crisis played itself out.


  But when it came to the telling of tales, few could match the legendary Captain Hugh Milton ‘Smokey’ Birch. Indeed there have been some in the industry who, blessed with a rare combination of experience and personality, have left an indelible mark on those who came in contact with them. Captain Birch, DFC, was one such person.


  One of his former colleagues in Qantas once described Hugh Birch as ‘the airline executive from central casting’. Greying hair, debonair, his good looks added to by the neatly trimmed handlebar moustache and the ready smile, Birch carried the romance of flying through an assortment of executive roles, including sales and marketing and public relations, in Qantas long after he handed in his active ‘wings’ as an operating pilot.


  It would be wrong to assume that Birch traded on his ‘captain-of-the-skies’ image, as some of his colleagues tended to do. To those who knew him, Hughie was the real package, and although he rarely spoke of his years in the RAAF during the war, the fact that he was entitled to wear the Distinguished Flying Cross, the Dunkirk Medal, the Cross of King Albert of Belgium and the French Croix du Combattant, along with the Atlantic, Africa and Pacific Stars, demonstrated the breadth of his wartime activities.


  Birch joined the RAAF prior to the Second World War, learned to fly at Point Cook and went to war earlier than most Australians, merely because he was one of five pilots sent to England in July 1939 to ferry home a batch of Short Sunderland flying boats the Australian government had purchased for the RAAF.


  Birch and his colleagues had completed their conversion onto the Sunderland when war broke out that September and within months the Australian government had decided to form No 10 Squadron, flying the Sunderlands on maritime patrols. No 10 was therefore the first Australian Squadron to see service in the Second World War and Birch, as it turned out, would be in the thick of it.


  The big Sunderlands had an extensive range capability, ideal for long over-water patrols and anti-submarine activity in the Atlantic, the North Sea and the Mediterranean, and they carried enough guns to have the Germans refer to them as ‘Flying Porcupines’. Indeed, their heavy armament discouraged many Axis pilots from attacking them.


  That wasn’t to be Birch’s luck, however, and he got more than he bargained for when, near Gibraltar one morning, he spotted a German Dornier flying boat low down on the water. What followed is believed to be the first air-to-air conflict in the war between two flying boats. Birch’s front gunner got off a few rounds, but the Dornier replied in kind and suddenly there was a flurry of tracer coming the Sunderland’s way.


  ‘The next minute there were several explosions and everything became very draughty,’ Birch would say.


  In fact, a 20-mm cannon shell had exploded next to the front gunner’s turret and torn 4.5 metres out of the Sunderland’s hull.


  ‘Fortunately the gunner escaped with some shrapnel wounds and recovered later in hospital, eventually marrying the nurse who looked after him,’ Birch recalled later.


  Birch’s Sunderland again became the target a few months later when it was ‘jumped’ by two German Ju-88s, but this time the tables were turned when the Sunderland’s side gunner shot down one and the tail gunner accounted for the second. Shooting down two enemy aircraft in one day was a rare event in a Sunderland flying boat.


  In between surviving another attack by a German night fighter off Malta, Birch flew a variety of VIPs into and out of war zones: the occasional US Navy admiral, along with General William ‘Wild Bill’ Donovan, the head of America’s war-time intelligence arm, the Office of Strategic Services. On one occasion he flew Anthony Eden to Cairo as Churchill’s man in the Middle East. The day after they landed Eden invited Birch to lunch with the British Ambassador while they discussed the situation with the war, something of a social coup for a young Australian pilot officer.


  Birch ended the war as a group captain and joined with Australian aviation pioneer Captain P.G. Taylor in a plan to use converted Second World War Catalina flying boats to open a holiday market to Lord Howe island, but the venture didn’t have time to get off the water before the Dutch navy offered such a good price for four of the five Cats that they were soon heading over the horizon. When island traders W.R. Carpenter offered to buy the remaining one, Birch went with it to what would be the start of a long association with flying in Papua New Guinea.


  Birch would later describe his entry into commercial aviation as the ‘chief pilot’ of probably the world’s smallest airline, laughingly qualifying the boast by the fact that if an airline came any smaller ‘then you didn’t have one!’ Looking back, this would be the start of a career which would open up the more remote regions of Papua New Guinea to the rest of the country and, eventually, pioneer many of the flying-boat routes throughout the South Pacific. It would also create fertile ground for the colourful raconteur Birch was to become.


  Island Airways, based at Madang on New Guinea’s northern shore, had a staff of five and its sole Catalina had benches instead of seats, a factor which did not prevent Birch from, at least on one occasion, uplifting 72 passengers. Later, Birch would describe the occasion in typical fashion:


  It was a fairly short sector. I think the take-off run was three or four miles, but it gave me a good working knowledge of quite a large stretch of the Coral Sea!


  Birch would also describe his salary as ‘not exactly awe-inspiring for a chief pilot’, a situation he partly overcame by taking out a pedlar’s licence which enabled him to sell such exotic merchandise as mirrors, beads, tobacco, betel nut and old copies of the Sydney Morning Herald to the local population. No one should get the impression the Sydney Morning Heralds were for reading. Rather, any form of newspaper was a priceless commodity, as cigarette paper for the stick tobacco favoured by the locals.


  At one stage he even became a sales agent for several ‘witch doctors’ on the upper reaches of the Sepik River, who had launched one of the earliest stone axe and native artefact factories in the region. Birch would later claim all this buying and selling would stand him in good stead in later years with Qantas.


  ‘Now it’s commonly referred to as marketing!’


  Birch’s long career in Qantas began one day when one of the airline’s founders, Arthur Baird, arrived in Madang and asked him if he wanted a job. Birch claims he considered the offer for roughly ten seconds before saying yes, at the same time realising that parting from the New Guinea scene would be difficult.


  This burst of nostalgia didn’t last long when he realised his first Qantas assignment would be operating the airline’s flying boats in Papua New Guinea, but in the years that followed Birch would be the first into many outposts never before to have seen a regular flying boat service.


  Later, flying out of Sydney’s Rose Bay, he would operate as chief pilot for Qantas services to a pattern of Pacific islands and in 1950 he undertook a pioneering survey flight of more than 13 000 kilometres to test the viability of possible services to Tonga, the Cook Islands, Samoa and as far east as Tahiti. That flight laid the foundation for future commercial aviation between Australia and its Pacific neighbours.


  Along the way he would consolidate the legend of the captain who might take the flying side seriously, but, outside of the cockpit, would never miss an opportunity to not only see the humorous side of the business, but be part of it as well. Landing on tropical lagoons and being paddled ashore to exotic locations by wahines in outrigger canoes consolidated the image of the dashing aviator who never let off-duty hours get in the way of a good time.


  He would tell of the time a senior Qantas executive, a very devout Methodist, accompanied Birch’s crew on a Papeete service, turning in to bed early after the long flight. Having difficulty sleeping he woke up late in the night, asked the hotel staff where he might find Birch and his crew and was directed towards a place known as Quinn’s Bar. When he found them, garlands of flowers around their necks and a wahine on each knee, he immediately ordered them out, dressing Birch down on the footpath outside:


  Good Lord, Birch, now I know what’s meant by a den of iniquity. The only thing I can say about that hell hole is the woman singing on stage had a beautiful voice. I love that song she was singing.


  Birch didn’t feel it appropriate to tell him that fortunately he hadn’t recognised that the ‘vocalist’ was Birch’s second officer in a coconut-shell bra and straw wig singing an Édith Piaf favourite!


  Then there was what became known throughout Qantas as ‘the billiard ball incident’. In those days Qantas placed a high priority on punctuality and, aside from the vagaries of weather, mechanical failures and a variety of other reasons, a delay on any service required a detailed explanation to head office. That’s why the telex which arrived in Sydney one morning explaining a delay in Nouméa would enter Qantas folklore.


  Birch and Mick Mather, his copilot and navigator on their Sandringham flying boat, were well known around the Pacific for their party tricks, and never missed an opportunity to encourage a few bets here and there. Mather, as it turned out, was renowned for being able to place a billiard ball in his mouth, so over a few drinks at a Nouméa party, boasts were made and challenges thrown out.


  What they hadn’t realised, however, was that the billiard balls in Nouméa were slightly larger than those in Australia and, once it was in, Mather couldn’t get it out. Birch would enjoy telling the story for years to come, particularly the search to find a doctor to dislocate Mather’s jaw in order to dislodge the billiard ball, along with Birch’s own mental image of the look on the face of the operations manager in Sydney as he read the reason for the delay.


  With the era of flying boats succumbing to land planes, Birch commanded his last Sandringham flight in January 1952, by which time he had thousands of hours and more than 30 aircraft types listed in his log book. It was perhaps fortunate for both Qantas and Birch that the latter’s return from flying provided ample opportunity for the airline to use his extensive talents in roles which largely avoided being chained to a desk at the airline’s Sydney head office. Indeed, one of Birch’s close colleagues, John Rowe, remembers Birch’s first reaction when told that his management rank entitled him to an office of only a certain size and one in which the walls stopped short of ceiling height. Turning to Rowe he commented: ‘This is a crazy bloody company.’


  While never the type to stand on ceremony, Birch had little respect for what he considered petty bureaucratic strictures, but it wasn’t long before he was able to shrug off the shackles of head office and was posted to San Francisco as manager of North America. It was an inspired choice and a new era dawned for both Birch and the airline as he took to the role with undisguised relish.


  His humour, style and not least his colourful background made him an instant hit with the American travel community and helped Qantas establish its own particular niche within the vast American airline market. Within a year or two the local civic and travel community had appointed Birch an honorary Sheriff of San Francisco County, a post which he sealed with the establishment of the ‘Sheriff’s Posse’, a special alcove he decorated with artefacts and memorabilia he had collected from all over the United States.


  It was to become the entertainment hub for VIPs and travel sales managers from all over the US west coast. A keen race follower, who was rarely known to miss a Melbourne Cup, Birch had the room equipped with batwing doors, guarded by a life-size model of a jockey in full race regalia.


  When it came time for him to return to Australia, Birch insisted the Sheriff’s Posse idea come back with him and several of the former Qantas San Francisco staff still recall watching through San Francisco’s airport terminal window as Birch’s possessions were taken by cargo trolley out towards his departing Boeing 707—with the jockey’s head and shoulders poking out above the packing cases.


  After a stint as manager of Victoria and Tasmania, then the airline’s manager for Public Affairs, Birch was Regional Director South Pacific when he retired in 1977, fittingly perhaps those final years providing him with the opportunity to renew acquaintances and business contacts he had gathered throughout the islands in his early years with the airline.


  In retirement he remained in touch with the travel industry, at various stages representing the Kingdom of Tonga, along with promoting Alaska in the Australian travel market. On occasions he would reminisce about the old days. ‘There is no doubt that commercial aviation has come a long way, but I think a lot of the fun has gone out of it now.’


  His life philosophy, he said, was simple:


  It is that we are on this earth to serve our fellow man and if we don’t continue to serve within our limits then we are destined for unhappiness.


  Almost every individual I know who retired into complete inactivity and still is healthy and able to serve but does not, has one of two things happen. He either dies or becomes a cranky old man. The former I’d like to avoid as long as possible, the latter I’d like to avoid entirely!


  Hugh Birch easily managed to avoid the latter for his 79 years. The former caught up with him in January 1996.
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